Public Document Pack

Agenda Reports & Other Papers
Presented to the
Meeting of the
Education, Libraries and Localism Cabinet Panel
on
Thursday, 18 October 2018

1.

Agenda

1 - 168

Agenda

AGENDA FOR A MEETING OF THE EDUCATION, LIBRARIES AND LOCALISM
CABINET PANEL IN COMMITTEE ROOM B ON THURSDAY, 18 OCTOBER 2018
AT 10:00AM
___________________________________________________________________
MEMBERS OF THE EDUCATION, LIBRARIES AND LOCALISM CABINET PANEL
(13) (Quorum 3)
J Billing, A P Brewster, C Clapper, T L F Douris (Chairman), M S Hearn, N A
Hollinghurst, T R Hutchings (Vice Chairman), J R Jones, A K Khan, A Plancey, A F
Rowlands, M A Watkin, J F Wyllie
Meetings of the Panel are open to the public (this includes the press) and attendance
is welcomed. However, there may be occasions when the public are excluded from
the meeting for particular items of business. Any such items are taken at the end of
the public part of the meeting and are listed under “Part II (‘closed’) agenda”.
Committee Room B is fitted with an audio system to assist those with hearing
impairment. Anyone who wishes to use this should contact main (front) reception.
Members are reminded that all equalities implications and equalities
impact assessments undertaken in relation to any matter on this agenda must
be rigorously considered prior to any decision being reached on that matter.
Members are reminded that:
(1)

if they consider that they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any
matter to be considered at the meeting they must declare that interest and
must not participate in or vote on that matter unless a dispensation has
been granted by the Standards Committee;

(2)

if they consider that they have a Declarable Interest (as defined in
paragraph 5.3 of the Code of Conduct for Members) in any matter to be
considered at the meeting they must declare the existence and nature of
that interest. If a member has a Declarable Interest they should consider
whether they should participate in consideration and vote on the matter.

Agenda Pack Page 1
1

PART I (PUBLIC) AGENDA
1.

MINUTES
To agree the minutes (Part I) of the last meeting of the Education,
Libraries and Localism Cabinet Panel held on 21 September 2018.

2.

PUBLIC PETITIONS
The opportunity for any member of the public, being resident in
Hertfordshire, to present a petition relating to a matter with which the
Council is concerned, which is relevant to the remit of this Cabinet Panel
and which contains signatories who are either resident in or who work in
Hertfordshire.
Members of the public who are considering raising an issue of concern via
a petition are advised to contact their local member of the Council. The
Council's criterion and arrangements for the receipt of petitions are set out
in Annex 22 - Petitions Scheme of the Constitution.
If you have any queries about the petitions procedure for this meeting
please contact Stephanie Tarrant, Democratic Services Officer, by
telephone on (01992) 555481 or email
stephanie.tarrant@hertfordshire.gov.uk.
At the time of the publication of this agenda no notices of petitions have
been received.

3.

ADDITIONAL SCHOOL PLACES (EXPANSION OF WATFORD
GRAMMAR SCHOOL FOR GIRLS)
Report of the Director of Children’s Services

4.

DELIVERING THE INSPIRING LIBRARIES STRATEGY – NEXT STEPS
Report of the Director Resources

5.

CREATING A PUBLIC SERVICE MUTUAL FOR THE DELIVERY OF
LIBRARY SERVICES
Report of the Director of Resources

6.

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL’S ADMISSION
ARRANGEMENTS FOR 2020/21
Report of the Director of Children’s Services

7.

HERTFORDSHIRE SKILLS STRATEGY TO 2020
Report of the Director of Resources

8.

HERTFORDSHIRE ARMED FORCES COVENANT – UPDATE REPORT
Report of the Director of Resources

Agenda Pack Page 2
2

9.

OTHER PART I BUSINESS
Such other Part I Business which, if the Chairman agrees, is of sufficient
urgency to warrant consideration.

PART II (‘CLOSED’) AGENDA
EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
Part II business has been notified. The Chairman will move:“That under Section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and
public be excluded from the meeting for the following item/s of business on the
grounds that it/they involve/s the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in
paragraph/s paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the said Act and the public
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information.”
1.

ADDITIONAL SCHOOL PLACES (EXPANSION OF WATFORD GRAMMAR
SCHOOL FOR GIRLS)
Report of the Director of Children’s Services

2.

CREATING A PUBLIC SERVICE MUTUAL FOR THE DELIVERY OF
LIBRARY SERVICES
Report of the Director of Resources

If you require further information about this agenda please contact
Stephanie Tarrant, Democratic Services, on telephone no (01992) 555481
number or email stephanie.tarrant@hertfordshire.gov.uk.
Agenda documents are also available on the internet at
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx
KATHRYN PETTITT
CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER

Agenda Pack Page 3
3

This page is intentionally left blank

Minutes

To: All Members of the Education,
Libraries and Localism
Cabinet Panel, Chief
Executive, Chief Officers, All
officers named for ‘actions’

From:
Legal, Democratic & Statutory Services
Ask for: Stephanie Tarrant
Ext:
25481

EDUCATION, LIBRARIES AND LOCALISM CABINET PANEL
21 SEPTEMBER 2018
ATTENDANCE
MEMBERS OF THE PANEL
J Billing, A P Brewster, F Button (substituted for J F Wyllie), C Clapper, T L F Douris
(Chairman), M S Hearn, T R Hutchings (Vice Chairman), S K Jarvis (substituted for A F
Rowlands), J R Jones, A K Khan, A Plancey, N A Quinton (substituted for N A
Hollinghurst), T J Williams (substituted for M A Watkin)
Upon consideration of the agenda for the Education, Libraries and Localism Cabinet
Panel meeting 21 September 2018 as circulated, copy annexed, conclusions were
reached and are recorded below.
Note: No declarations of interest were made at this meeting.
PART I (‘OPEN’) BUSINESS
ACTION
1.

MINUTES

1.1

The minutes (Part I) of the previous meeting held on 5 June 2018
were agreed.

2.

PUBLIC PETITION

2.1

There were no public petitions.

3.

CLOSURE OF THE PRIMARY SUPPORT BASE AT
BOWMANSGREEN PRIMARY SCHOOL, ST ALBANS
[Officer Contact: Richard Woodard, Area Manager – Professional
Lead for Access and Inclusion, Integrated Services for Learning
(Tel: 01442 453224) /Phil Brunt, Planning Officer, School Planning
(Tel: 01992 588437)]

3.1

The Cabinet Panel considered a report which detailed the outcome
of the public consultation on the proposal to close the Primary

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 5

1

Support Base (PSB) at Bowmansgreen Primary School in St
Albans and to commission a new range of services for the area,
including support to mainstream schools and short stay provision,
from the Links Academy from 1 September 2019.
3.2

Members heard that the Governing Body had acknowledged that
Bowmansgreen Primary School was no longer able to meet the
requirements of hosting a PSB and that the Head Teachers in the
Delivering Special Provision Locally (DSPL) area had worked
together to consider the best way forward. There were 18
responses to the consultation, with 77.8% of responders supporting
the proposal. Members noted the issues identified at section 6 of
the report.

3.3

In response to a Member question regarding how PSB’s operated,
Members heard that where children in mainstream schools were
identified as being at risk of exclusion, they could attend the PSB
for support and concentrated work before being reintegrated into
their main school. Where children had already been excluded from
their main school, they were required to be in a new placement by
the 6th day after exclusion and PSB hosting schools had
traditionally enrolled children to fulfil the statutory obligation until
another school place was found.

3.4

Officers advised that the staff at the Link’s Academy were already
providing outreach work to schools and teachers in mainstream
primary schools. The new service would be able to support
between 8-12 children at any one time depending on the needs of
the children. Staff would also continue to provide outreach work to
mainstream schools. The new service would also continue to serve
the whole DSPL in the same way as the PSB.

3.5

In response to a Member question regarding long stay provision for
children with special needs, it was advised that the Links Academy
was not intending to retain children for a long stay and that the
purpose was to provide a short term solution until children were
reintegrated to their mainstream school. If children’s needs were
not deemed to be met in a mainstream school then the service
would look for a more appropriate provision.

3.6

Members sought assurance that this new model was going to work
and officers assured that Members that as the service will be
commissioned by the Local Authority it would be closely monitored.
In addition it was noted that Links Academy was confident in its
ability to deliver the required service.

3.7

Members discussed the funding implications of changing the
service and officers advised that PSB’s were funded from the
higher level needs block of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)
and that the funding will be switched to the provider commissioned
2

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 6

to deliver the service.
Conclusion
3.8

Panel recommended to Cabinet that it accepts the proposal and
authorises the Director for Children's Services to publish a
statutory notice to close the Primary Support Base (PSB) at
Bowmansgreen Primary School in St Albans from 1 September
2019.

4.

CLOSURE OF THE PRIMARY SUPPORT BASE AT REDDINGS
PRIMARY SCHOOL, HEMEL HEMPSTEAD
[Officer Contact: Richard Woodard, Area Manager – Professional
Lead for Access and Inclusion, Integrated Services for Learning
(Tel: 01442 453224) /Phil Brunt, Planning Officer, School Planning
(Tel: 01992 588437)]

4.1

The Cabinet Panel reviewed a report which detailed the outcome of
the public consultation on the proposal to close the Primary
Support Base (PSB) at Reddings Primary School in Hemel
Hempstead from 1 September 2019 and to commission a new
range of services for the area, including support to mainstream
schools and short stay provision, from the Dacorum Education
Support Centre (DESC), Hemel Hempstead.

4.2

Members noted that the discussions held at item 1 of this agenda
were also applicable for this item.

4.3

It was noted that this proposal had been put forward by local Head
Teachers with 95% of respondents in favour of the proposal. There
was a 100% favourable response from all Governors and members
of staff.

4.4

Members noted that as both services covered a wide local area, all
Local Members should have been listed and consulted as part of
the process, rather than those immediately closest. This would be
taken into account for any future reports.

4.5

In response to a Member question, it was advised that there was
one PSB in every DSPL area and that these were the first bases to
be moved into ESC’s. Members heard that primary schools were
increasingly reluctant to take on the responsibility of PSB’s and that
more PSB’s may transfer in the future.

4.6

Members noted that the way in which education was delivered was
constantly evolving and that whilst the primary school PSB model
works well in some areas, on reflection some schools are unable to
support the delivery of a PSB.
3

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 7

Conclusion
4.7

Panel recommended to Cabinet that it approves the proposal and
authorises the Director of Children’s Service to publish a statutory
notice to close of the Primary Support Base at the Reddings
Primary School in Hemel Hempstead from 1 September 2019.

5.

LOCALITY BUDGET SCHEME 2017/18 – OVERALL
BREAKDOWN OF SPEND
[Officer contact: John Birch, Corporate Policy (Tel: 01992 555602)]

5.1

The Panel reviewed a report which provided the Members with a
breakdown of overall spend against the 2017/18 Locality Budget
Scheme (LBS), and information collected about the use and
effectiveness of the scheme.

5.2

Members noted that the Locality Budget Scheme was launched in
2009, with last year being the first with 78 Members. There had
been a slow start to spending but almost the entire budget was
spent at year end.

5.3

The range of donations and beneficiaries was noted, along with the
evaluation from feedback. Members queried if it was possible for
future evaluation feedback to be made available to the Member
that made the donation. It was agreed that the evaluation could be
shared going forward.

5.4

Members commented on how easy it was to support applications
for funding, with the approval system being very efficient. Members
noted that if a beneficiary could not use funding as requested and
returned it to the County Council within the same financial year it is
possible for this to be reallocated. However, it was not possible to
reallocate returned grant money that had been allocated in a
previous financial year.
Conclusion

5.5

The Education, Libraries and Localism Cabinet Panel noted the
content of the report.

6.

CHILDREN’S SERVICES ANNUAL COMPLAINTS &
COMPLIMENTS REPORT 2017/18
[Officer contact: Kamaljit Bhangal, Complaints Manager
Telephone: 01992 556169]

6.1

Members reviewed a copy of the Annual Report on Complaints and
Compliments for Children Services for 2017-2018. It was noted that
the report had already been reviewed by the Children’s, Young
People and Families Cabinet Panel on 7 September 2018, however
page 10/11 of the report covered education complaints. The
4

CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 8

Admissions and Transport and other complaints fall within the
Education, Libraries and Localism portfolio. The Integrated
Services for Learning was covered by the Children, Young People
and Families portfolio.
6.2

It was advised that all education complaints were dealt with via the
corporate complaints procedure and for 2017/18 there had not
been any stage 2/3 responses required, following a prompt
response at stage 1. Ombudsman complaints had also reduced
from 35 to 28, 12 of which were education related and were often
received following secondary school place allocation, following a
large number of appeals.

6.3

Members were pleased to note the increase in the number of
compliments received. Members queried if compliments should
also be directed to the Customer Service Team and it was noted
that this would be preferable in order for the compliments to be
logged and included in the annual report. A Member referred to a
compliment that they had sent on 4 September 2018 to Kamar
Okerayi, In Year Officer, for going the extra mile to ensure a year 4
pupil returning to the area was able to start back at school the
same day as their peers. Officers advised that members of staff
were encouraged to send compliments through to the team on
receipt in order for them to be logged.
Conclusion

6.4

The Panel noted and commented upon the content of the report, as
detailed above.

7.

OTHER URGENT PART I BUSINESS

7.1

There was no other urgent Part I Business.

KATHRYN PETTITT
CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER

CHAIRMAN

5
CHAIRMAN’S
INITIALS
…………….

Agenda Pack Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item No:

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
EDUCATION, LIBRARIES AND LOCALISM CABINET PANEL
THURSDAY, 18 OCTOBER 2018 AT 10:00AM

3

ADDITIONAL SCHOOL PLACES (EXPANSION OF WATFORD GRAMMAR
SCHOOL FOR GIRLS)
Report of the Director of Children’s Services
Report Author:

Pauline Davis, Head of School Planning
(Tel: 01992 555865)
Dan Hardy, Senior Planning Officer (West)
(Tel: 01992 588923)

Executive Member: Terry Douris, Education, Libraries & Localism
Local Member:

Stephen Giles-Medhurst (Central Watford and Oxhey)

1.

Purpose of report

1.1

To advise Panel of a proposal for the enlargement of the premises of Watford
Grammar School for Girls, Watford and to seek approval for capital funds to
support it.

2.

Summary

2.1

A permanent secondary expansion proposal for Watford by 1 f.e. is proposed
for approval, without which there would be a comparable reduction of places
in the area.

2.1

Capital funds, including the application of S106 funds towards the cost of the
project, are sought.

3.

Recommendations

3.1

That the Education, Libraries and Localism Cabinet Panel recommends to
Cabinet that it agrees to:
(I)

authorise the Director of Children’s Services to enter into a funding
agreement with Watford Grammar School for Girls, Watford to expand
permanently from September 2020;

(II)

meeting the capital costs of the proposal as set out in Part II of this
report;

Agenda Pack Page 11

1

(III)

the application of S106 funds towards the project as set out in
Appendix 1.

4.

Background

4.1

In 2016 Watford Grammar School for Girls (WGSG), made a successful
Condition Improvement Fund (CIF) bid to central government to enable it to
expand its sixth-form.

4.2

As a result of the additional accommodation built following the successful bid,
the school was also able to increase its Year 7 intake by 30 places for two
years to help support rising demand in South-West Hertfordshire. However,
the school does not have sufficient accommodation to retain the higher intake
permanently and would therefore look to return to its substantive admission
number for September 2020 onwards without additional funds being available.

4.3

Officers have been working with the school to consider whether the higher
intake can be sustained and a scheme has been developed that would allow
the school to expand permanently. This proposal is recommended to Panel
outside of the normal expansion programme cycle as, were the proposal to
not be agreed, WGSG would need to begin the consultation process to lower
its admission number in November 2018.

4.4

There is a deficit of places forecast in Watford for 2020/21 and beyond, as
shown in the table below. Permanent expansion of WGSG would form part of
the county council’s strategy to meet rising demand across the South-West.
21.0
School Code
4007
4111
5401
5403
5404
5417
6905

Watford
School Name
The Reach Free School
Westfield Academy
Watford Grammar School for Boys
Watford Grammar School for Girls
Parmiter's School
Saint Michael's Catholic High School
Francis Combe Academy

Forecast
PAN
Actuals
2018-19 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28
120
116
108
113
240
149
182
167
224
191
190
197
210
183
183
182
208
209
212
208
180
185
187
182
210
214
221
206

Total Year 7 Pupil Demand
Total Year 7 Places Available
Surplus or Shortage of Year 7 Places (No.)
Surplus or Shortage of Year 7 Places (%)
Surplus or Shortage of Year 7 Places (FE)

4.5

1247
1,392

1283

1255

1305

1406

1366

1412

1461

1460

1437

1452

1487

1489

1,392
87
6.3%
2.9

1,392
-14
-1.0%
-0.5

1,362
-4
-0.3%
-0.1

1,362
-50
-3.7%
-1.7

1,362
-99
-7.3%
-3.3

1,362
-98
-7.2%
-3.3

1,362
-75
-5.5%
-2.5

1,362
-90
-6.6%
-3.0

1,362
-125
-9.2%
-4.2

1,362
-127
-9.3%
-4.2

It is noted that if WGSG expands permanently, it would help balance the
number of single-sex places available in the Watford area, following Cabinet’s
decision on 11 July 20161 to support the permanent expansion of Watford
Grammar School for Boys from September 2018.

1

https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=146&MeetingId=405&D
F=11%2f07%2f2016&Ver=2

Agenda Pack Page 12

2

5.

Financial Implications
Revenue and capital funding

5.1

There are no revenue implications for the County Council as a result of this
proposal. The school’s budget share derived from the Dedicated Schools
Grant will increase in proportion to the number of additional places.

5.2

Part II of this report sets out the full capital costs of the scheme. It is proposed
that some of those costs are met through the application of S106 funds, as
listed in Appendix 1.

6.

Equalities

6.1

When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they
are fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously considered the Equality
implications of the decision that they are making.

6.2

Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any potential
impact of that decision on the County Council’s statutory obligations under the
Public Sector Equality Duty. As a minimum this requires decision makers to
read and carefully consider the content of any Equalities Impact Assessment
(EqIA) produced by officers.

6.3

The Equality Act 2010 requires the County Council when exercising its
functions to have due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination,
harassment, victimisation and other conduct prohibited under the Act; (b)
advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it and (c) foster good
relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it. The protected characteristics under the Equality
Act 2010 are age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil
partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion and belief, sex and
sexual orientation.

6.4

An Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) has been carried out on the
proposed school expansion contained within this report and is attached as
Appendix 2. Consideration has been given to the likely impact of the proposal,
and the current assessment concludes that it is not anticipated that people
with protected characteristics will be affected disproportionately. The EqIA will
be continued to be reviewed and updated as necessary.

6.5

Academy schools are bound by the Admissions Code and related Regulations
and this does not allow for any discrimination in this respect.

Agenda Pack Page 13

3

6.6

The proposal will enable additional school places to be made available as
close as possible to the demand for them. In that way it will improve access to
school places to all sectors of the community in which it is located, and avoid
children having to travel longer distances to access education.

6.7

The expansion of existing schools provides for enhanced education
opportunities and an enriched curriculum offer which has a positive impact on
the whole school community.

6.8

School expansion schemes provide positive impacts, offering the opportunity
for improved facilities for disabled access in new buildings.

Background Information
11 July 2016 Cabinet
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=146&M
eetingId=405&DF=11%2f07%2f2016&Ver=2

Agenda Pack Page 14

4

Appendix 1
Secondary S106 Expenditure Requested
District

Recommended School

Address

Watford
Borough
Council

WGSG

2 Green Lane
1 and 1a Percy Road
103a Sussex Road
11-17 Garston Drive
117 Princes Ave
122 Briar Road
124 Leggatts Way
19 Southsea Avenue
2 Fern Way
26 Coates Way
275-277 St. Albans Road
32 Thorpe Crescent
35-37 Marlborough Road
36 Clarendon Road
47 Ross Crescent
478-480 Whippendell Road
50 North Western Avenue
57 Louvain Way
60 Chester Road
6-10 Whippendell Road
69 - 71 High Road
71 Balmoral Road
84 Queens Road
86 Queens Road
91-93 Vicarage Road
Betrita, North Orbital Road
Betrita, North Orbital Road
Callowland Place
Elmcot, Ennerdale Drive, North
Orbital Road
Former bus garage
Gammons Farm Close
Garage block and adjacent land
behind 23-27 Copsewood Road
Graphic House, 73-75 Gammons
Lane
Land adjacent to 100 Cecil Street
Land Adjacent to 17 Redheath Close
Land Adjacent To Woodside Leisure
Park
Land behind 119 - 125 Gammons
Lane

Agenda Pack Page 15

Amount (£)
£5,484.52
£3,858.11
£5,795.18
£22,115.00
£47.00
£1,191.54
£980.73
£3,324.81
£1,090.97
£4,701.02
£7,777.28
£638.33
£292.74
£8,832.55
£603.23
£4,341.00
£22,279.38
£2,561.00
£1,936.47
£117.10
£26,538.00
£2,561.00
£861.38
£861.38
£573.39
£14,217.78
£26,925.99
£11,002.32
£36,516.34
£3,104.71
£26,970.00
£15,717.22
£1,217.00
£7,609.99
£1,035.73
£24,520.32
£2,561.00
5

Land behind 119 & 121 Gammons
Lane
Land Between 113-125 Cecil Street
Land off Dodd Road
Land Rear of 115 St Albans Rd
Land Rear Of 96 Sheepcot Lane
Land south of North Western Avenue
Mecca Bingo, 19 King Street
Meriden Nursery School
Rear of 117 St Albans Road
Rear Pinetree House, Butterwick &
The Turnstones
Yeatman House
Grand Total

Agenda Pack Page 16

£7,683.00
£10,244.00
£1,812.40
£326.12
£980.73
£8,643.84
£11,367.15
£9,930.00
£2,480.14
£5,152.00
£20,359.00
£379,739.89

6

Appendix 2
Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)
STEP 1: Responsibility and involvement
Title of proposal/
project/strategy/
procurement/policy

Names of those
involved in
completing the EqIA:
Date completed:

The provision of
funding to provide
additional school
places at Watford
Grammar School
for Girls, a single
sex academy for
girls aged 11-18.
Tom Stacey

17 August 2018

Head of Service
or Business
Manager

Pauline Davis

Lead officer
contact details:

Dan Hardy

Reviewed:
Review date:

October 2018

STEP 2: Objectives of proposal and scope of assessment – what do you want
to achieve?
Proposal objectives:
what you want to
achieve
intended outcomes
purpose and need

To identify the impact of the provision of funding to
Watford Grammar School for Girls (a secondary
academy), Lady's Close, Watford, Hertfordshire,
WD18 0AE, for it to provide accommodation to facilitate
the offer of additional school places for September 2020
The school will be responsible for delivering the
expansion.
The proposal is an enlargement scheme to meet the need
for additional school places as of September 2020. This
need is based on current pupil forecasts which identify an
ongoing shortage of places across the area.
This assessment considers the Equality Impact
Assessment (EqIA) undertaken to seek to identify whether
any equality issues can be identified as a consequence of
a contribution of funds and how they may be addressed.

Agenda Pack Page 17

7

Stakeholders:
Who will be affected:
the public, partners,
staff, service users,
local Member etc.

Parents/carers/pupils, staff and governors at the school
concerned
Residents local to the school concerned
Students and Parents in the surrounding area
Secondary schools in the area
Local Members
The school will consult relevant parties.

STEP 3: Available data and monitoring information
Relevant equality
What the data tells us about equalities
information
For example: Community
profiles / service user
demographics, data and
monitoring information (local
and national), similar or
previous EqIAs, complaints,
audits or inspections, local
knowledge and
consultations.
January 2018 school census
data on gender split, English January 2018 school census data
as an additional language
(EAL), ethnicity, free school
WGSG
meal (FSM) eligibility,
No of Students
1261
number of children with SEN Number Minority Ethnic
Statements (S), Education & Students (not White British and
961
Health Care Plans (E) or
excluding Refused and Not
SEN Support (K).
Obtained)
Countywide data includes
% Minority Ethnic Students (not
pupils at ESCs, PRUs and
White British and excluding
76.21%
special schools.
Refused and Not Obtained)
Number EAL (English as an
alternative Language) (First
language Not English or
676
believed not to be English
excluding Refused and Not
Obtained)
% EAL (English as an
alternative Language) (First
53.61%
language Not English or
believed not to be English)
Number with Statement (or
2
EHCP (S or E))
% with Statement (or EHCP (S
0.16%
or E))
Number SEN Provision (K)
44

Agenda Pack Page 18

County
Total
82928
23348

28.15%

10180

12.28%
2149
2.59%
9839
8

% SEN Provision (K)
Number Eligible for FSM (at
date of Census)
% FSM (Free School Meals) (at
date of Census)
Number of Male Students
% of Male Students
Number of Female Students
% of Female Students

3.49%

11.86%

24

5432

1.90%

6.55%

0
0.00%
1261
100%

41775
50.38%
41153
49.62%

Watford Grammar School for Girls is a single sex
academy for girls aged 11-18 within the Watford single
sex priority area.
The percentage of students at Watford Grammar
School for Girls is less than the countywide average in
all of the following categories: Statement (S or E), SEN
Support (K), Total SEN Provision and FSM. The
percentage of students at the school is greater than the
countywide average in the following categories:
Minority Ethnic Students and EAL.
The percentage of male and female students cannot
be compared to the countywide average because
Watford Grammar School for Girls is a single-sex
school.

STEP 4: Impact Assessment – Service Users, communities and partners
(where relevant)
Guidance on groups of service users to consider within each protected group
can be found here
Protected
characteristic
Age

Potential for differential
impact (positive or
negative)
It is not anticipated that the
proposal will affect people
disproportionately because of
their age.

What reasonable mitigations
can you propose?
It is noted that the school will
be responsible for delivering
the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible
for taking equalities into
account. However the County
Council will also continue to
monitor the position and if any
issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are
identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan

Agenda Pack Page 19

9

Protected
characteristic

Potential for differential
impact (positive or
negative)

Disability
Including
Learning
Disability

It is not anticipated at this
stage that the proposal will
affect people
disproportionately because of
the issues of disability but the
position will be monitored if
the Proposal proceeds

Race

It is not anticipated at this
stage that the proposal will
affect people
disproportionately because of
the issues of race but the
position will be monitored if
the proposals proceeds

Gender
reassignment

It is not anticipated at this
stage that the proposal will
affect people
disproportionately because of
the issues of Gender
reassignment but the position
will be monitored if the
Proposal proceeds

Pregnancy and
maternity

It is not anticipated that the
proposal will affect people
disproportionately because of
issues around Pregnancy
and Maternity but the
position will be monitored if
the Proposal proceeds

Agenda Pack Page 20

What reasonable mitigations
can you propose?
will be amended accordingly.
It is noted that the school will
be responsible for delivering
the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible
for taking equalities into
account. However the County
Council will also continue to
monitor the position and if any
issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are
identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan
will be amended accordingly.
It is noted that the school will
be responsible for delivering
the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible
for taking equalities into
account. However the County
Council will also continue to
monitor the position and if any
issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are
identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan
will be amended accordingly.
It is noted that the school will
be responsible for delivering
the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible
for taking equalities into
account. However the County
Council will also continue to
monitor the position and if any
issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are
identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan
will be amended accordingly.
It is noted that the school will
be responsible for delivering
the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible
for taking equalities into
account. However the County
Council will also continue to
10

Protected
characteristic

Religion or belief

Sex

Sexual orientation

Potential for differential
impact (positive or
negative)

What reasonable mitigations
can you propose?

monitor the position and if any
issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are
identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan
will be amended accordingly.
It is not anticipated that the
It is noted that the school will
proposal will affect people
be responsible for delivering
disproportionately because of the expansion project and
their religion/belief
therefore will be responsible
for taking equalities into
account. However the County
Council will also continue to
monitor the position and if any
issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are
identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan
will be amended accordingly.
The proposal will have a
The proposal will not change
positive impact on the
the number of school places
number of places available
available to boys in the area.
for girls in the area. The
It should be noted that Cabinet
number of places available to previously agreed at its
boys will remain the same.
meeting of 11 July 2016 to
support the permanent
expansion of Watford
This proposal would provide
Grammar School for Boys from
better balance between the
number of single-sex places
September 2018.
available to boys and girls in
the Watford area.
It is noted that the school will
be responsible for delivering
the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible
for taking equalities into
account. However the County
Council will also continue to
monitor the position and if any
issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are
identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan
will be amended accordingly.
It is not anticipated that the
It is noted that the school will
proposal will affect people
be responsible for delivering
disproportionately because of the expansion project and
issues around Sexual
therefore will be responsible

Agenda Pack Page 21

11

Protected
characteristic

Potential for differential
impact (positive or
negative)
orientation but the position
will be monitored if the
Proposal proceeds

What reasonable mitigations
can you propose?

for taking equalities into
account. However the County
Council will also continue to
monitor the position and if any
issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are
identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan
will be amended accordingly.
Marriage & civil
It is not anticipated that the
It is noted that the school will
partnership
proposal will affect people
be responsible for delivering
disproportionately because of the expansion project and
issues around Marriage and
therefore will be responsible
Civil Partnership but the
for taking equalities into
position will be monitored if
account. However the County
the Proposal proceeds
Council will also continue to
monitor the position and if any
issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are
identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan
will be amended accordingly.
Carers (by
It is not anticipated that the
It is noted that the school will
association with
proposal will affect people
be responsible for delivering
any of the above)
disproportionately because of the expansion project and
caring responsibilities but the therefore will be responsible
position will be monitored if
for taking equalities into
the Proposal proceeds
account. However the County
Council will also continue to
monitor the position and if any
issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are
identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan
will be amended accordingly.
Opportunity to advance equality of opportunity and/or foster good relations
(Please refer to the guidance for more information on the public sector duties)
It is felt by Officers that should Cabinet approve funds to enable the delivery of the
school enlargement it is anticipated that it will allow more girls to attend a single-sex
school in their locality and extend the range of successful preferences available to
parents/carers.

Agenda Pack Page 22

12

Impact Assessment – Staff (where relevant)
Protected
Potential for differential impact
characteristic (positive or negative)
Age
It is not anticipated that the
proposal will affect people
disproportionately because of their
age.

What reasonable mitigation
can you propose?
It is noted that the school will
be responsible for delivering
the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible
for taking equalities into
account. However the County
Council will also continue to
monitor the position and if any
issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are
identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan
will be amended accordingly.
Disability
It is not anticipated at this stage
It is noted that the school will
Including
that the proposal will affect people be responsible for delivering
Learning
disproportionately because of the
the expansion project and
Disability
issues of disability but the position therefore will be responsible
will be monitored if the Proposal
for taking equalities into
proceeds
account. However the County
Council will also continue to
monitor the position and if any
issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are
identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan
will be amended accordingly.
Race
It is not anticipated at this stage
It is noted that the school will
that the proposal will affect people be responsible for delivering
disproportionately because of the
the expansion project and
issues of race but the position will therefore will be responsible
be monitored if the proposals
for taking equalities into
proceeds
account. However the County
Council will also continue to
monitor the position and if any
issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are
identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan
will be amended accordingly.
Gender
It is not anticipated at this stage
It is noted that the school will
reassignment that the proposal will affect people be responsible for delivering
disproportionately because of the
the expansion project and
issues of Gender reassignment
therefore will be responsible
but the position will be monitored if for taking equalities into
the Proposal proceeds
account. However the County
Council will also continue to

Agenda Pack Page 23

13

Protected
Potential for differential impact
characteristic (positive or negative)

Pregnancy
It is not anticipated that the
and maternity proposal will affect people
disproportionately because of
issues around Pregnancy and
Maternity but the position will be
monitored if the Proposal
proceeds

Religion or
belief

It is not anticipated that the
proposal will affect people
disproportionately because of their
religion/belief.

Sex

It is not anticipated that this
proposal will affect people
disproportionately because of their
sex.

Sexual
orientation

It is not anticipated that the
proposal will affect people
disproportionately because of

Agenda Pack Page 24

What reasonable mitigation
can you propose?
monitor the position and if any
issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are
identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan
will be amended accordingly.
It is noted that the school will
be responsible for delivering
the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible
for taking equalities into
account. However the County
Council will also continue to
monitor the position and if any
issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are
identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan
will be amended accordingly.
It is noted that the school will
be responsible for delivering
the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible
for taking equalities into
account. However the County
Council will also continue to
monitor the position and if any
issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are
identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan
will be amended accordingly.
It is noted that the school will
be responsible for delivering
the expansion project and
therefore will be responsible
for taking equalities into
account. However the County
Council will also continue to
monitor the position and if any
issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are
identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan
will be amended accordingly.
It is noted that the school will
be responsible for delivering
the expansion project and
14

Protected
Potential for differential impact
characteristic (positive or negative)
issues around Sexual orientation
but the position will be monitored if
the Proposal proceeds

What reasonable mitigation
can you propose?
therefore will be responsible
for taking equalities into
account. However the County
Council will also continue to
monitor the position and if any
issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are
identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan
will be amended accordingly.
Marriage &
It is not anticipated that the
It is noted that the school will
civil
proposal will affect people
be responsible for delivering
partnership
disproportionately because of
the expansion project and
issues around Marriage and Civil
therefore will be responsible
Partnership but the position will be for taking equalities into
monitored if the Proposal
account. However the County
proceeds
Council will also continue to
monitor the position and if any
issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are
identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan
will be amended accordingly.
Carers (by
It is not anticipated that the
It is noted that the school will
association
proposal will affect people
be responsible for delivering
with any of
disproportionately because of
the expansion project and
the above)
caring responsibilities but the
therefore will be responsible
position will be monitored if the
for taking equalities into
Proposal proceeds
account. However the County
Council will also continue to
monitor the position and if any
issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are
identified by the County
Council then the Action Plan
will be amended accordingly.
Opportunity to advance equality of opportunity and/or foster good relations
(Please refer to the guidance for more information on the public sector duties)
It is noted that the school will be responsible for delivering the project and therefore
will be responsible for taking equalities into account.

Agenda Pack Page 25

15

STEP 5: Gaps identified
Gaps identified
Do you need to collect
more data/information
or carry out
consultation? (A ‘How
to engage’
consultation guide is
on Compass). How
will you make sure
your consultation is
accessible to those
affected?

It appears to Officers that there is no need to collect further
data/information in light of the information that is available
and has been considered. However, any further information
identified will be considered as part of the continued EqIA.

STEP 6: Other impacts
Consider if your proposal has the potential (positive and negative) to impact on areas
such as health and wellbeing, crime and disorder and community relations. There is
more information in the guidance.
It is not considered that the proposal will have any other impact.
STEP 7: Conclusion of your analysis
Select one conclusion of your analysis
No equality impacts identified
 No change required to proposal.
Minimal equality impacts
identified
 Impacts have been identified, but
have been objectively justified
(provided you do not unlawfully
discriminate).
 Ensure decision makers consider
the cumulative effect of how a
number of decisions impact on
equality.

Give details

The proposal has minimum equality
impacts, with a positive impact for girls.
The proposal is objectively justified and
does not unlawfully discriminate.
Officers feel that if the proposal is taken
forward the obligations under the
Equality Act will be the responsibility of
the Academy as it is delivering the
expansion project and therefore will be
responsible for taking equalities into
account. However the County Council,
as the provider of funds for the project,
will also continue to monitor the position
and if any issues in respect of the
protected characteristic are identified by
the County Council then it will liaise with
the Academy directly to raise these.

Agenda Pack Page 26

16

Select one conclusion of your analysis Give details
Potential equality impacts
identified
 Take ‘mitigating action’ to remove
barriers or better advance
equality.
 Complete the action plan in the
next section.
Major equality impacts identified
 Stop and remove the policy.
 The adverse effects are not
justified, cannot be mitigated or
show unlawful discrimination.
 Ensure decision makers
understand the equality impact.
STEP 8: Action Plan
Issue or opportunity
identified relating to:
 Mitigation measures
 Further research
 Consultation proposal
 Monitor and review
Monitor and review

Officer
Responsible
and target
date

Action proposed

It he proposal is taken forward and
funding provided then the county
council will monitor the
implementation of the Academy’s
Plans and raise any concerns that it
has regarding Equality issues with
the Academy directly

Building
Management
Team

Monitor the decision the county
council takes.

Dan Hardy
October 2018

This EqIA has been reviewed and signed off by:
Head of Service or Business Manager: Pauline Davis

Date: August 2018

Equality Action Group Chair:

Date:

HCC’s Diversity Board requires the Equality team to compile a central list of EqIAs
so a random sample can be quality assured. Each Equality Action Group is
encouraged to keep a forward plan of key service decisions that may require an
EqIA, but please can you ensure the Equality team is made aware of any EqIAs
completed so we can add them to our list. (email: equalities@hertfordshire.gov.uk).
Thank you.

Agenda Pack Page 27

17

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda
Item No.

4

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
EDUCATION, LIBRARIES AND LOCALISM CABINET PANEL
THURSDAY, 18 OCTOBER 2018 AT 10:00AM
DELIVERING THE INSPIRING LIBRARIES STRATEGY – NEXT STEPS
Report of the Director Resources

Author:

Taryn Pearson-Rose – Assistant Director: Customer Service and
Libraries.
(Tel: 01992 556012)

Executive Member:

Terry Douris (Education, Libraries and Localism)

1.

Purpose of report

1.1

To present the case for Hertfordshire Libraries to be provided by an independent
organisation and set out the proposed procurement route to achieve this.

2.

Summary

2.1

The Inspiring Libraries strategy is an innovative and ambitious programme,
designed to ensure that Hertfordshire continues to be a leading library authority,
providing high quality library services to meet the changing demands of the next
decade.

2.2

The County Council has invested over £4m in library buildings and technology over
the last four years, whilst making significant reductions to the service’s revenue
budget.

2.3

Ongoing pressures on the County Council’s budget mean that the library service is
now required to make a further reduction of £500,000 in its annual revenue budget
by 2019/20, over and above the £2.5 million in revenue savings already identified
from the original ‘Inspiring Libraries’ proposals. This financial pressure on libraries is
likely to continue in future years.

2.4

The requirement to make further savings means that, without a change in the way
the service is delivered, the County Council would need to contemplate service
reductions - library closures, reduced opening hours, and further reductions in
staffing and the materials fund. This would certainly lead to a decline in usage and
make it difficult to deliver the ‘Inspiring Libraries’ ambitions.

2.5

Whilst outsourced library services has not always been perceived as entirely
successful, there are examples across the Country where independent
organisations have effectively delivered Library Services within reduced budgets
whilst not compromising on the quality of the service. Some of these organisations
have spun out of the in-house provision into Public Service Mutuals, Trusts and an
Industrial and Provident Society.

Agenda Pack Page 29

Page 1 of 7

2.6

To award a contract for the delivery of library services to an independent
organisation, it will be necessary to undertake a procurement exercise. Community
based services, including library services, fall within Schedule 3 of the Public
Contracts Regulations 2015, and where these exceed the threshold of £615,000,
they must be advertised in the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU).

2.7

It is proposed that the procurement should follow a ‘restricted process’, with initial
expressions of interest being sought through a Pre-Qualification Questionnaire early
in 2019.

3.

Recommendation

3.1

That Education, Libraries and Localism Cabinet Panel recommends to Cabinet that
it:
a) authorises the Director of Resources in consultation with the Executive Member
for Education Libraries and Localism to commence a public procurement
process in the Official Journal of the European Union and to take all appropriate
steps in relation to that procurement and
b) on conclusion of the Pre-Qualification questionnaire assessment, the decision on
which organisations are invited to submit a full tender is delegated to the Director
of Resources in consultation with the Executive Member for Education, Libraries
and Localism.

4.

Background – Inspiring Libraries Strategy

4.1

‘Inspiring Libraries’: a new strategy for Hertfordshire Library Service 2014-2024’ was
adopted by Cabinet in July 2014, following an extensive public consultation, to set
the vision and direction for the service over the next ten years, and provide a
framework for future decisions about service priorities.

4.2

The strategy focussed on three main themes:
 The library as a vibrant community asset
 The digital library
 The library as an enhanced gateway to reading, information and wellbeing.

4.3

These themes were designed to ensure that the library service remained relevant to
changing community needs and customer demands, and sustainable within a
reducing local government budget. It set the following goals for the service in 2024:
 to have a network of libraries that are valued local assets at the very heart of the
communities they serve.
 to attract more visitors (physical, virtual and outreach).
 to be open to residents for longer hours.
 to cost the taxpayer less.

4.4

Over the last three years, the implementation of the strategy has led to significant
changes in the library service. Savings have been made in the revenue budget, but
continuing investment in library buildings and technology has ensured that the
service is equipped to meet future demands.

4.5

In November 2017, Cabinet agreed the following ambitions and priorities for the
next phase of the ‘Inspiring Libraries’ Strategy from 2018-21:

Agenda Pack Page 30

Page 2 of 7

 Improving library buildings – continuing the programme of improving
Hertfordshire library buildings to ensure that they are bright, attractive,
welcoming, flexible, tech-enabled spaces in convenient locations.
 Extending access to library services - seeking opportunities to extend selfservice access to libraries by rolling out swipe-card access and supported selfservice initiatives.
 Developing technology - continuing to invest in the development of technology
to improve service delivery, to support digital inclusion, and to empower citizens.
 Maintaining service delivery - continuing to deliver high quality services to
contribute to the seven key social outcomes identified in Libraries Deliver:
Ambition for Public Libraries in England 2016-2021, published by the Department
for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) in December 2016. This will be
achieved through a workforce of skilled and trained library staff, supported,
where appropriate by volunteers from the local community.
4.6

At the same time, ongoing pressures on the County Council budget mean that the
library service is now required to make a further reduction of £500,000 in the annual
revenue budget commencing in 2019/20, over and above the £2.5 million in revenue
savings already identified from the original ‘Inspiring Libraries’ proposals.

4.7

The requirement to save a further £500,000 means that, without a change in the
way the service is delivered, the County Council would be forced to contemplate
service reductions - library closures, reduced opening hours, and further reductions
in staffing and the materials fund. This would certainly lead to a decline in usage
and make it difficult to deliver the ‘Inspiring Libraries’ ambitions.

4.8

Looking further ahead, the financial pressure on the County Council budget seems
certain to continue, and the focus is likely to be concentrated on higher risk areas,
such as social care and development, which could leave limited capacity to invest in
the development of well-regarded, but lower risk services, such as public libraries.

5.

An alternative provider

5.1

When proposals for ‘Delivering the Inspiring Libraries Strategy’ were agreed in
September 2014, the paper included the provision that “the service will also
consider the best operating models to deliver the strategy within a reduced budget.”

5.2

The national ‘Libraries Deliver’ document challenges local authorities “to explore
alternative forms of delivery and financing for library services before making any
reductions in library services”.

5.3

In March 2017, the DCMS published an Alternative Delivery Models Toolkit,
designed to support councilors, commissioners, library service managers, and other
stakeholders to consider the desirability, viability and feasibility of a range of
alternative delivery models for their library services.

5.4

Over the last few years the government has been promoting the creation of Public
Sector Mutuals to deliver Library Services. The Government has also stated its
belief that “Public Service Mutuals have an important role to play in public service
reform and in creating a more inclusive economy. It sees potential for these
organisations “to drive more innovative, responsive, efficient and better quality
public services, enhancing social outcomes in our communities”.

Agenda Pack Page 31

Page 3 of 7

5.5

There are several local authorities, similar to Hertfordshire, which have successfully
created independent, not for profit organisations with charitable status to deliver
library services under contract to the Council.

5.6

There are also other organisations in the market that have bid and won contracts to
deliver Library Services and have a track record of delivering Library Services over a
number of years. Until recently there was only one private sector provider of library
services (Carillion) in the country; however they ceased delivery of these contracts
earlier in the year.

5.7

In April 2017, the Cabinet endorsed an Outline Business Case for the creation of a
Hertfordshire Libraries Public Service Mutual, subject to the agreement of a full
business case. If Cabinet endorses the Full Business Case a Hertfordshire
Libraries, Public Service Mutual will be set up for the express purposes of bidding
for the Hertfordshire Library Service Contract. This will be led by the current
Libraries Leadership Team on behalf of the Public Sector Mutual.

5.8

Whilst the County Council’s primary driver is to see whether an independent
external provider could deliver Hertfordshire Library Service on a reduced budget,
achieving savings without compromising the quality of services is paramount. The
County Council can deliver the Library Service in-house on a reduced budget, what
it believes it is now unable to achieve is additional savings without reducing quality
and levels of service.

5.9

The County Council will be seeking the following from any future provider of its
Library Services:
 Delivery of the County Council’s Inspiring Libraries Strategy.
 Savings of circa £500,000 in the short term, with part year savings in
2019/20.
 The resilience and the capability to respond to future county council
budget challenges and service budget pressures;
 An operating model that focuses on the quality of provision and
outcomes, minimising any reductions in service.
 To fully discharge the county council’s statutory duties in relation to
library services;
 To ensure the service continue to be rooted in Hertfordshire
communities - thereby continuing close partnership with volunteers
and partners;
 To ensure that the service can promote a positive organisational
culture, which will retain the positive buy in of staff.
 A culture of continuous improvement, innovation and aspiration to
be/continue to be ‘best in class’.
 A provider that will invest in Hertfordshire Library Service.

6.

Procurement

6.1

To award a contract for the delivery of library services to an independent
organisation, it will be necessary to undertake a procurement exercise. Community
based services, including library services, fall within Schedule 3 of the Public
Contracts Regulations 2015, and where these exceed the threshold of £615,000,
they must be advertised in the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU).

Agenda Pack Page 32

Page 4 of 7

6.2

It is proposed that the procurement should follow a ‘restricted process’. The contract
specification will be advertised, and potential providers will be invited to express
interest in tendering for the contract through a Pre-Qualification Questionnaire.

6.3

These expressions of interest will be assessed by an evaluation panel, and
shortlisted applicants will be invited to submit a full tender’.

6.4

The proposed timetable for procurement is as follows:
Oct 2018 – Jan 2019
Jan – April 2019
April – Jun 2019
Jun-Oct 2019

Develop specification and
procurement documentation
Commence restricted procurement
process – Pre-qualification
selection questionnaire
Procure delivery solution – invite
tenders, evaluate and award
Transition phase, including TUPE
process

Gateway review 1 –
procurement documents
Gateway review 2 – analysis
of responses (go/no go)
Gateway review 3 – analysis
of evaluation (go/no go)
Contract start

6.5

This is the current proposed timeline for procurement; however there is a risk that
this timeline may be extended as further work progresses to refine the tasks needed
to ensure a transparent and successful procurement.

6.6

A project team will be set up to manage the procurement process and client-side
transition on award of contract, with Taryn Pearson-Rose Assistant Director for
Customer Engagement and Libraries as project sponsor. The business lead for the
team will be Alex James, Head of Corporate Policy and representatives from key
areas of the business will be part of the team. This project team will be responsible
for:


Make strategic decisions relating to all aspects of the procurement;



Oversee delivery of the Procurement Schedule of Works;



Update Resources Management Board, Executive Members and Cabinet on
progress as appropriate;



Transition and implementation on award of contract in liaison with the
successful contractor’s implementation team.

7.

Financial implications

7.1

The aim of the procurement process is to see if an external independent
organisation can deliver significant savings, without reducing levels and quality of
service. A saving of £500,000 is required in the annual revenue budget for
Libraries.

7.2

The necessity for a procurement process means that the new contract for library
services will not start until October 2019 at the earliest, which means that only a part
years’ saving will be made in 2019/20.

Agenda Pack Page 33

Page 5 of 7

7.3

Running this procurement exercise and the subsequent transition process to a new
provider, will be a cost to the County Council. These costs are estimated to be circa
£280,000, primarily in the form of property and legal costs:
 Property £200,000
 Legal £40,000
 Project Management support £20,000.

7.4

To support the implementation of the Inspiring Libraries Strategy in 2014, the
County Council agreed Invest to Transform funding of £6M over 10 years to support
improvements in library buildings and technology. It is intended to use a proportion
of this for funding for the costs associated with delivering this procurement process.

8.

Equalities implications

8.1

When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they are
fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously considered, the equality implications
of the decision that they are making.

8.2

Rigorous consideration will ensure proper appreciation of any potential impact of
that decision on the County Council's statutory obligations under the Public-Sector
Equality Duty. As a minimum this requires decision makers to read and carefully
consider the content of any Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by
officers.

8.3

The Equality Act 2010 requires the County Council, when exercising its functions, to
have due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment,
victimisation and other conduct prohibited under the Act; (b) advance equality of
opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it and (c) foster good relations between persons who
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. The
protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age; disability; gender
reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race;
religion and belief; sex and sexual orientation.

8.4

An overarching Equality Impact Assessment for the next phase of the ‘Inspiring
Libraries’ Strategy was produced in November 2017 to accompany the Cabinet
paper ‘Inspiring Libraries – The Next Phase’

8.5

The procurement exercise will ensure that there is due regard to equalities
implications, through the specification for library services and the assessment of
tender responses.

9.

Background papers
 Inspiring Libraries: A new strategy for Hertfordshire Library Service 2014-2024
(2014)
https://beta.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/libraries/librariesstrategy-2014-2024.pdf
 Inspiring Libraries - The next phase - Cabinet November 2017 https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=14

Agenda Pack Page 34

Page 6 of 7

6&MeetingId=419&DF=13%2f11%2f2017&Ver=2


‘Delivering the Inspiring Libraries Strategy’ (2014)
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=23
2&MeetingId=535&DF=19%2f09%2f2014&Ver=2

 An alternative delivery model for Hertfordshire Libraries (Nov 2017)
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=14
6&MeetingId=419&DF=13%2f11%2f2017&Ver=2
 Libraries Deliver: Ambition for Public Libraries in England 2016-2021 (2016)
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/libraries-deliver-ambition-for-publiclibraries-in-england-2016-to-2021/libraries-deliver-ambition-for-public-libraries-inengland-2016-to-2021


Alternative Delivery Models Toolkit (2017)
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/libraries-alternative-delivery-modelstoolkit

Agenda Pack Page 35

Page 7 of 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item
No.

5

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
EDUCATION, LIBRARIES AND LOCALISM CABINET PANEL
THURSDAY, 18 OCTOBER 2018 AT 10:00AM

CREATING A PUBLIC SERVICE MUTUAL FOR THE DELIVERY OF LIBRARY
SERVICES
Report of the Director Resources
Author:

Andrew Bignell (Head of Libraries and Heritage Services)
(Tel: 01707 281559)

Executive Member:

Terry Douris (Education, Libraries and Localism)

1.

Purpose of report
To present the case for establishing a Public Service Mutual for the future delivery
of library services in Hertfordshire.

2.

Summary

2.1

The Inspiring Libraries strategy is an innovative and ambitious programme,
designed to ensure that Hertfordshire continues to be a leading library authority,
providing high quality library services to meet the changing demands of the next
decade.

2.2

In November 2017, Cabinet agreed the ambitions and priorities for the next phase of
the Inspiring Libraries Strategy from 2018-21, and agreed to further explore the
business case for establishing an alternative delivery model for Hertfordshire
Libraries as the best way of delivering these ambitions within a reducing budget.

2.3

In April 2018, Cabinet endorsed an Outline Business Case, which identified that the
County Council should adopt a Public Service Mutual (PSM) as the preferred model
for the future delivery of library services, subject to the agreement of a detailed
Business Case.

2.4

This Business Case has been prepared and is set out in Part II of this item.

2.5

The Business Case concludes that:
 a PSM model could achieve significant savings in revenue budget;
 it would be capable of delivering the ambitions of the Inspiring Libraries Strategy;
 it is the ‘spun out' model offering the greatest scope to continue to deliver an
affordable, sustainable and responsive library service to Hertfordshire residents
now and in the future.

2.6

The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 require the Council to undertake a
procurement exercise in order to award a contract for the delivery of library services,
as outlined in the paper ‘Delivering the Inspiring Libraries Strategy – Next Steps’
(Agenda item 4).

Agenda Pack Page 37

Page 1 of 10

3.

Recommendation

3.1

That the Education, Libraries and Localism Cabinet Panel recommends to Cabinet
that it:
a) approves the establishment of a Public Service Mutual, a company limited by
guarantee and registered charity, as set out in Part I so that it can tender for
the contract to deliver Hertfordshire Library Service and approves the
Business Case as set out in Part II report;
b) delegates to the Director of Resources, in consultation with the Executive
Member for Education, Libraries and Localism the authority to agree such
documents and arrangements and to take such other actions as are
appropriate to establish the company;
c) authorises the Director of Resources, to commence the establishment of the
governance structure for the Public Service Mutual, including the appointment
of a Chair of Trustees.

4.

Background

4.1

‘Inspiring Libraries: a new strategy for Hertfordshire Library Service 2014-2024’ was
adopted by Cabinet in July 2014, following an extensive public consultation, to set
the vision and direction for the service over the next ten years, and provide a
framework for future decisions about service priorities.

4.2

The strategy was designed to ensure that the library service remained relevant to
changing community needs and customer demands, and sustainable within a
reducing local government budget. It focussed on three main themes:
 The library as a vibrant community asset
 The digital library
 The library as an enhanced gateway to reading, information and wellbeing

4.3

Since 2014, the implementation of the strategy has led to significant changes in the
library service. Savings have been made in the revenue budget, but continuing
investment has led to significant improvements in in library buildings and
technology, and ensured that the service is equipped to meet future demands.

4.4

Library usage figures since 2013 demonstrate the continuing popularity of library
services. In line with national trends, there has been a decline in physical visits to
libraries as more people have accessed online services. The total number of library
visits has increased by 12% since 2014.

Agenda Pack Page 38

Page 2 of 10

Figures in thousands
2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18
Projected

Physical
visits

3,832

3,842

3,665

3,574

3,498

Online visits

1,279

1,549

2,045

2,055

2,253

Total Visits

5,111

5,391

5,710

5,629

5,758

Online Library visits include visits to the Libraries website, the library catalogue and
online functions, the e-Library and the Online Reference Library.
4.5

A Public Library User Survey (PLUS) carried out in 2017 found that the overall
customer satisfaction score for Hertfordshire libraries was 93%.

4.6

Hertfordshire Libraries have a strong record of service delivery, and are signed up to
all six of the Universal Public Library Offers promoted by Libraries Connected
(formerly the Society of Chief Librarians) - Reading, Information, Digital, Health,
Learning and Culture.

4.7

Libraries Deliver: Ambition for Public Libraries in England 2016-2021, published by
the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) in December 2016,
and endorsed by the Local Government Association, sets out a vision for public
library services in England. It describes how modern public library services
contribute to 7 ‘Ambition’ Outcomes that are critical to individuals and communities.

4.8

Hertfordshire Libraries have a strong record of delivering social value, and
contributing to the 7 ‘Ambition’ outcomes:

4.8.1

Reading and Literacy – More than 20,000 children participate in the annual
Summer Reading Challenge. 98% of Hertfordshire babies receive a Bookstart pack
through the library service. There are more than 120,000 attendances at early years
reading activities in libraries. Hertfordshire Libraries support more than 450 reading
groups across the county.

4.8.2

Digital Access and Literacy - All Hertfordshire Libraries offer self-service public
access to computers and printing, including Wi-Fi printing. Libraries offer tablet
taster sessions for people who lack skills and confidence in using ICT. 82 volunteer
IT champions are available to assist members of the public in accessing digital
services.

4.8.3

Learning - CreatorSpace and coding clubs enable people to develop new skills in a
supportive environment. Libraries offer guided class visits for reception and year 6
classes to introduce children to the service. Libraries provide access to online
courses and learning resources, including academic journal articles through ‘Access
to Research’. Larger libraries provide valuable study space for students.

4.8.4

Health and Wellbeing - Reading Well: Books on Prescription collections offer
medically approved titles to help people suffering from long term conditions and
mental health problems to manage their own health. Reminiscence collections

Agenda Pack Page 39

Page 3 of 10

support dementia sufferers and their carers. Libraries provide venues for health
events, advice sessions and promotions, such as Slipper Swaps for older people.
4.8.5

Prosperity – The Business Information service at Welwyn Garden City Library
offers access to company information, market research and British Standards. Large
libraries offer access to online business advice for SMEs. Scam awareness
sessions in libraries help vulnerable people to protect themselves from online fraud.

4.8.6

Cultural and Creative Enrichment – Hertfordshire’s annual LitFest offers a
programme of more than 40 author talks and library events for adults and children.
Libraries provide venues for cultural activities from theatre performances to ‘knit and
natter’ groups. The Performing Arts Service loans music scores and play scripts to
choirs, orchestras, music and drama groups across the county.

4.8.7

Stronger, More Resilient Communities – Local Library Managers act as ‘the face
o5.f the library’ in the local community, engaging with partners and stakeholders to
help to embed libraries as local community hubs. The recent relocation of
Hoddesdon Post Office into the library building illustrates the potential value of colocating local services. Libraries offer space for community groups and activities,
such as PCSO desks, and councilor surgeries. Services such as the Home Library
Service, carer’s cards, and ‘Borrowing without taking’ for homeless people help to
combat social exclusion and isolation.

5.

Public Service Mutual Model

5.1

When proposals for ‘Delivering the Inspiring Libraries Strategy’ were agreed in
September 2014, the paper included the provision that “the service will also
consider the best operating models to deliver the strategy within a reduced budget.”

5.2

In March 2017, the DCMS published an Alternative Delivery Models Toolkit,
designed to support councillors, commissioners, library service managers, and other
stakeholders to consider the desirability, viability and feasibility of a range of
alternative delivery models for their library services.

5.3

The Government has also stated its belief that “Public Service Mutuals have an
important role to play in public service reform and in creating a more inclusive
economy. It sees potential for these organisations “to drive more innovative,
responsive, efficient and better quality public services, enhancing social outcomes in
our communities”.

5.4

This approach is endorsed in the DCMS Civil Society Strategy: Building a future that
works for everyone (2018), which states:
‘‘the Government wants to build a partnership with charities and social enterprises,
with volunteers, community groups and faith groups, with Public Service Mutuals,
socially responsible businesses and investors, and with the institutions which bring
sports, arts, heritage, and culture to our communities’’.

5.5

There are several local authorities, similar to Hertfordshire, which have successfully
created independent, not for profit organisations with charitable status to deliver
library services under contract to the Council; for example:
Libraries Unlimited South West: launched in April 2016 as a company limited by
guarantee – social enterprise with charitable status – to run Devon Libraries.

Agenda Pack Page 40

Page 4 of 10

Libraries Unlimited has recently taken on the contract to deliver library services in
Torbay.
Suffolk Libraries: an Industrial and Provident Society, established in 2012, made
up of friends groups and member organisations supporting each of the county’s 44
Libraries has just had its contract extended for a further five-year period.
Inspire Nottinghamshire: launched in April 2016 as an independent Community
Benefit Society with charitable status to deliver cultural services on behalf of the
county council, including libraries, archives, arts, music services and community
learning.
York Explore: an Industrial and Provident Society, one third owned by staff and two
thirds owned by community members, spun out from York City Council in May 2014.
5.6

The County Council has a good track record in the successful development and
implementation of alternative delivery vehicles tailored to meet the needs of
particular services. These include:
 Hertfordshire Catering Limited – an educational catering company limited by
shares wholly owned by the County Council.
 Herts for Learning (HfL) - the largest not for profit schools’ company in the UK
with a 19% shareholding by the County Council.

5.7

In November 2017, Cabinet agreed the ambitions and priorities for the next phase of
the Inspiring Libraries Strategy from 2018-21. At the same time, it agreed to further
explore the business case for establishing an alternative delivery model for
Hertfordshire Libraries as the best way of delivering these ambitions within a
reducing budget.

5.8

In January and February 2018, a public consultation exercise was undertaken to
seek feedback on the County Council’s ambitions and priorities for the next phase of
Inspiring Libraries, and the principle of establishing an alternative delivery model for
library services. This attracted 2060 responses.

5.9

The results of this consultation confirmed the value that residents place on library
services and indicated a strong endorsement of the ambitions of the ‘Inspiring
Libraries’ strategy. Regarding the adoption of an alternative delivery model for
libraries services, there was a spread of opinion. More people (41.7%) disagreed
with the proposal than agreed with it (30.6%), but the large number who expressed
no preference (27.7%) meant that there was no majority either in favour or against
the proposal. The principal concern for most respondents was maintaining the
quality of the library service, and the model that is best able to achieve this in both
the short and the long term is the model that is most likely to win public support.

5.10

In April 2018, Cabinet endorsed an Outline Business Case, which identified that the
County Council should adopt a Public Service Mutual (PSM) as the preferred model
for the future delivery of library services, subject to the agreement of a detailed
Business Case in the autumn of 2018.

5.11

Over the last six months, a multi-disciplinary project group has worked to prepare
the detailed business case for a PSM. This group has been supported by the
County Council’s Improvement Team, and has included representation from the

Agenda Pack Page 41

Page 5 of 10

Library Service, Finance, HR, Legal Services and Property and Technology.
5.12

Following a successful application to the Department of Digital, Culture, Media and
Sport (DCMS) Mutuals Support Programme, this work has also been supported by
independent consultants Mutual Ventures (MV) and their specialist legal partners
Bates Wells Braithwaite (BWB). MV and BWB have been able to provide
independent financial and legal advice and external challenge. They have worked
with the Libraries Senior Leadership Team to develop a draft business plan for a
new Hertfordshire Libraries Mutual. If Cabinet decides to establish a PSM then MV
and BWB will continue to support the Council in the development of a PSM and its
tender for the delivery of Hertfordshire Library Services.

5.13

The Detailed Business Case concludes that:
 a PSM model could achieve significant savings without reductions in services.
 it would be capable of delivering the ambitions of the Inspiring Libraries Strategy.
 of the ‘spun out’ models, it offers the greatest scope to continue to deliver an
affordable, sustainable and responsive library service to Hertfordshire residents
now and in the future.

5.14

The Detailed Business Case for a Hertfordshire Libraries Public Service Mutual is
attached as Part II

5.15

The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 require the Council to undertake a
procurement exercise to award a contract for the delivery of library services, as
outlined in the paper ‘Delivering the Inspiring Libraries Strategy – Next Steps’
(Agenda item 4).

6.

Vision, Ethos and Values

6.1

The vision and ethos of a Hertfordshire Libraries PSM will be refined during the
tendering stage, and should it be successful, during the implementation phase too.
The vision and ethos will, however, reflect those of the Inspiring Libraries Strategy,
and the PSM will continue to deliver services in line with its key themes.

6.2

Vision
 To create inspiring library services that enable Hertfordshire citizens to enrich
their lives.

6.3

Ethos
 Hertfordshire Libraries will enable individuals to access knowledge, information
and cultural resources for themselves, and provide support for those who may
need more help.


Hertfordshire Libraries will provide safe spaces (both physical and virtual) where
anyone can go, without judgement, to read, to borrow, to learn, to access
information and online resources.



Hertfordshire Libraries will enrich communities by fostering local culture and
heritage, and providing opportunities for citizens to participate actively in
community life.

Agenda Pack Page 42

Page 6 of 10

6.4

Values
The Hertfordshire Libraries PSM will model and promote the following values:
 Customer and community focus – we will provide excellent library services to
reflect the needs and demands of our customers and of Hertfordshire
communities.


Integrity – we will reflect the public library values – open to all, welcoming, safe,
neutral, helpful, non-judgmental.



Creativity and innovation – we will embrace change and encourage innovative
and creative solutions to problems.



Quality – we will take pride in the quality and professionalism of our services we
provide.



Entrepreneurial spirit – we will embrace commercial opportunities to ensure the
sustainability of the organisation.



Empowering – we will empower and develop our staff, and offer opportunities to
local people to use library services and resources to develop and strengthen
their communities.



Collaborative – we will embrace opportunities to work in collaboration with a
range of partner organisations to deliver better services

7.

Charitable Purpose

7.1

Achieving charitable status is crucial to the business model of the PSM. The
organisation will be able to contribute to five of the 13 charitable purposes set out in
The Charities Act 2011.
 The advancement of education
 The advancement of the arts, culture, heritage and science
 The advancement of health
 The advancement of citizenship and community development
 The relief of those in need, by reason of youth, age, ill-health, disability, financial
hardship or other disadvantage

7.2

BWB have drafted the following charitable objects for the PSM, which they will use
in our application to the Charities Commission:
The objects of the charity shall be to:
a) Advance education, culture, arts, heritage, history and health for the public
benefit particularly (without limitation) by providing and maintaining library,
archive, digital, learning, cultural and related services for the people of
Hertfordshire and the surrounding area: and
b) Provide for the public benefit facilities for recreation or other leisure time
occupation of individuals who have need of such facilities by reason of their
youth, age, infirmity or disablement, financial hardship or social and economic
circumstances or for the public at large, in the interests of social welfare and with
the object of improving the condition of life of such people.

Agenda Pack Page 43

Page 7 of 10

8.

Organisational Form and Governance

8.1

Legal Form
Mutual Ventures undertook a full Options Appraisal on the types of legal form
considered for a Hertfordshire Libraries PSM. This option appraisal confirmed that
the most appropriate legal form for the PSM is a company limited by guarantee and
registered charity.

8.2

Governance Structure
The proposed governance structure of the PSM is shown in the diagram below

Full details of the Board of Trustees is included in the detailed business case.
8.3

The Board of Trustees will be responsible for the strategic direction of the PSM. Day
to day management will be reported to the Senior Leadership Team.

9.

Financial Implications

9.1

The Detailed Business Case demonstrates that, taking account of savings in nondomestic rates, projected income growth, and the additional costs of operating
independently from the County Council, a Hertfordshire Libraries PSM could achieve
a significant net saving in the revenue budget. This is set out in detail in the Part II to
this item.

9.2

Set up costs for the PSM are also detailed in the Business Case. It is estimated that
it will cost up to £60,000 to establish the PSM to a position that it is able to tender

Agenda Pack Page 44

Page 8 of 10

for the Library Service contract. These costs are separate and in addition to the
procurement costs set out in the paper ‘Delivering the Inspiring Libraries Strategy –
Next Steps’ (Agenda item 4). The full Business Case sets out the anticipated costs
of transition and implementation should the PSM be successful and win the Library
Service contract. It is proposed that these costs should be financed from the Invest
to Transform funding that has already been agreed to support the Inspiring Libraries
Strategy.
9.3

The full Business Case outlines that, should the PSM win the Council Library
Service contract, it will work with the Council's’ Libraries Commissioning Team to
access the Council’s capital funding processes, including S106/CIL funding
designated for library services, in order to finance major property and technology
improvement projects. Bids will be made through the integrated planning process
and will be considered on the basis of affordability and business case within the
Council’s overall capital programme.

10.

The PSM Project Team

10.1

A project group will be set up for establishing and bidding on behalf of the PSM.
This will be led by the Library Leadership Team, supported by the appropriate
Corporate Services and external commercial and legal consultants Mutual Ventures
and BWB the cost associated with the development of this team are outlined in the
full Business case in Part II.

10.2

The PSM Project Team’s project objectives will include:
 Setting up and establishing a new Public Service Mutual;
 Preparing to tender to submit the best possible bid for Hertfordshire Library
Service;
 If awarded the contract, to manage the transition and implementation phase,
liaising as appropriate with client-side commissioning team;
 Monitor and sign-off project deliverables based on project objectives and
plan;
 Manage communication to library staff and partners, liaising with the
Councils’ Corporate Communications team as appropriate;
 Monitor and address business interdependencies with other projects /
activities.

11.

Equalities Implications

11.1

When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they are
fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously considered, the equality implications
of the decision that they are making.

11.2

Rigorous consideration will ensure proper appreciation of any potential impact of
that decision on the County Council's statutory obligations under the Public Sector
Equality Duty. As a minimum this requires decision makers to read and carefully
consider the content of any Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by
officers.

11.3

The Equality Act 2010 requires the County Council, when exercising its functions, to
have due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment,
victimisation and other conduct prohibited under the Act; (b) advance equality of

Agenda Pack Page 45

Page 9 of 10

opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it and (c) foster good relations between persons who
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. The
protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age; disability; gender
reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race;
religion and belief; sex and sexual orientation.
11.4

An overarching Equality Impact Assessment for the next phase of the ‘Inspiring
Libraries’ Strategy was produced in November 2017 to accompany the Cabinet
paper ‘Inspiring Libraries – The Next Phase’.

11.5

A high-level Equality Impact Assessment for the delivery of library services through
a PSM is attached as Appendix A of this report. This will be kept under review
throughout the next stage and implementation process.

12.

Background Information
 Inspiring Libraries: A new strategy for Hertfordshire Library Service 2014-2024
(2014)
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/libraries/librariesstrategy-2014-2024.pdf


‘‘Delivering the Inspiring Libraries Strategy’ (2014)
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=23
2&MeetingId=535&DF=19%2f09%2f2014&Ver=2



Inspiring Libraries - The next phase - Cabinet November 2017 https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=14
6&MeetingId=419&DF=13%2f11%2f2017&Ver=2

 An alternative delivery model for Hertfordshire Libraries (Nov 2017)
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=14
6&MeetingId=419&DF=13%2f11%2f2017&Ver=2
 Libraries Deliver: Ambition for Public Libraries in England 2016-2021 (2016)
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/libraries-deliver-ambition-for-publiclibraries-in-england-2016-to-2021/libraries-deliver-ambition-for-public-libraries-inengland-2016-to-2021


Alternative Delivery Models Toolkit (2017)
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/libraries-alternative-delivery-modelstoolkit



https://www.librariesconnected.org.uk/page/universal-offers



Inspiring Libraries – Delivering the next phase (Apr 2018)
https://democracy.hertfordshire.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=14
6&MeetingId=424&DF=23%2f04%2f2018&Ver=2

Agenda Pack Page 46

Page 10 of 10

APPENDIX A

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)
Please share your initial EqIA with the equalities team, equalities@hertfordshire.gov.uk and the final/updated version at the end of the project.
Key EqIAs should be reviewed by the relevant Head of Service. Examples of EqIAs can be seen in the EqIA Library.

1.

Who is completing the EqIA and why is it being done?

Title of service / proposal / project / strategy /
procurement you are assessing

Delivering Library Services through Public Service Mutual

Head of Service or Business Manager

Andrew Bignell
Rachel Bilton
Tobias Barker
Brenda Harris
George Soderberg
Andrew Bignell

Team/Department

Libraries & Heritage Services

Names of those involved in completing the EqIA

Agenda Pack Page 47

Lead officer contact details

Focus of EqIA – what are you assessing?

The County Council is exploring an alternative delivery model for Hertfordshire
Libraries as the best means of delivering the ambitions of the Inspiring Libraries
Strategy, achieving required budget savings and minimising reductions to the
service in future.
A multi-disciplinary working group has been set up to further explore the
business case for establishing an alternative delivery model, and independent
professional support and advice sought through the DCMS Mutuals Support
Programme.
A consultation was held online and in libraries between 8 January to 18
February 2018 in order to seek feedback on the principle of creating an
alternative delivery model from customers, partners, stakeholders, library staff
and volunteers. The results of the consultation will help to inform a
recommendation to Cabinet in Autumn 2018.
1

The purpose of this equality impact assessment is to consider what the impact
would be if Hertfordshire Libraries adopted an alternative delivery model and
delivered library services through a Public Service Mutual.

Agenda Pack Page 48

Stakeholders

This equality impact also identifies the new operating model, Public Service
Mutual as a potential mitigation against disadvantageous and unequal access.
This could arise through a reduction of service, in order to meet required budget
savings, if Hertfordshire Libraries did not adopt an alternative delivery model
and continued to deliver services as they are currently.
Internal:
 Staff and volunteers in Libraries and Heritage Services
 Hertfordshire County Councillors
External:
 Library customers and potential customers, including people from hard to
reach groups and people who commonly experience barriers to
participation (e.g. some people with protected characteristics)
External Organisations:
 County Council departments and other partners. (e.g. Schools, Children’s
Centres, local colleges, Citizen Advice, local groups who use library
facilities such as reading groups, local history societies etc).
 Community Library Steering Groups

2

2.

List of data sources used for this EqIA

Title and brief description

Date

Hertfordshire County Council Community Profile data




Agenda Pack Page 49

The Office of National Statistics projects that Hertfordshire’s
population will become larger and more diverse over the next
decade. This growth is not evenly distributed across the age
range. By 2021 42.6 % of the population will either be under 20 or
over 65.
The 2011 census shows that the Hertfordshire population has
become increasingly ethnically diverse over the last ten years and
2011 Census
this trend is likely to continue. 19.2% of Hertfordshire residents
identified themselves in the 2011 census in ethnic groups other
than White British, compared to 11.23% in 2001. Over a quarter
of school aged children in Hertfordshire, 26%, are from BME
backgrounds.

Service user data
 Library membership statistics - equality monitoring data is
recorded at the time of joining the library and this is recorded on
the customer membership file. Data includes ethnicity; people
under 16; people over 65; people on low incomes who receive
benefits; people with disabilities; carers; people with dyslexia,
basic skills needs, or who need help to read English.

Ongoing



Feedback from customers including complaints and compliments
are recorded on the Hertfordshire Libraries Customer Feedback
Form (2017). Complaints that refer to an equalities issue are also
recorded as part of this process. The feedback received is used
to inform and shape the development of library services.

Ongoing



PLUS is a CIPFA benchmarking survey for participating library

October 2017
3

Gaps in data

authorities. In Hertfordshire the survey is completed over a three
year cycle, with 15/16 libraries participating each year. The
feedback from customers about their local library, including any
feedback on equalities issues, is valuable and is also used to
inform the development of library services both locally and
countywide.
Digital Inclusion Data
Local knowledge consultations/engagement

Agenda Pack Page 50

“The Future of Hertfordshire Libraries” – public consultation
held October – December 2013
http://www.hertsdirect.org/yourcouncil/civic_calendar/custserperfandlibcp/17990306/

October to
December 2013



The results of “The Future of Hertfordshire Libraries” public
consultation informed the development of the new library
strategy, “Inspiring Libraries: a new strategy for Hertfordshire
Library Service 2014-24.



Following an equality impact assessment actions were taken as
part of the consultation planning process to enable people with
protected characteristics to contribute to the consultation. People
with protected characteristics have therefore helped to inform the
development of the strategy.

Joint strategic need assessments:
“Children’s Life Chances” JSNA 2016
 20% of children in Hertfordshire live in single parent
households. Single parent households are statistically more
likely to experience poverty than households with two adults.


2016

Although many Hertfordshire statistics relating to children’s life
chances are improving over time (particularly for child poverty
and educational attainment), family homelessness and hospital
4

admissions among young people for both substance misuse
and self-harm show worsening trends.


“Children’s Life Chances” JSNA recommends that the County
Council should improve linkages between services and
strategies in order to address life chances issues.

Agenda Pack Page 51

“Ageing Well” JSNA 2014
 The “Aging Well” JSNA highlights the fact that social isolation 2014
amongst older people can lead to depression and ill-health.
Volunteering opportunities for older people improves health
and wellbeing and diverts people away from health and social
care services and towards community-based services and selfsufficiency. The provision of advice and information can
support older people in relation to falls prevention, dementia,
warmth and mental wellbeing.
Equality and Diversity” JSNA 2015
 “Equality and Diversity” JSNA says that service providers need
to be aware of the prominent health inequalities experienced
by Hertfordshire’s diverse communities, and consider their
impact when planning, commissioning and delivering services.
This should involve considering new ways to engage with
these communities; to understand their needs and to identify
and eliminate the barriers they face to accessing services.

5

2015

3. Analysis and assessment: review of information, impact analysis and mitigating actions
Protected
characteristic
group

Agenda Pack Page 52

Age

What do you know?
What do people tell you?

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

Library staff and volunteers. 2060
members of the public responded to
the consultation. All feedback has been
fully considered within the options
appraisal.
Positive impact
 The Office of National
Statistics predicts that by  Hertfordshire Libraries provide
library services that are accessible
2021 the number of over
to all. A Public Service Mutual
65s will have increased
model will provide a means of
by 22.4% and the number
continuing current service
of over 80s will have
provision.
increased by 28.2%. The
number of young people
 A Public Service Mutual has the
is forecast to increase,
potential to mitigate against
disadvantageous and unequal
with 0-19s up by 11.3%
and 0-5s up by 11.7%.
access that could arise through a
reduction of service, in order to
 The older population will
meet required budget savings if the
increase significantly
service remains in-house.
during the lifetime of the
library strategy. Currently  In addition, a consultation was held
to obtain feedback on the principle
one out of every five
households in
of creating an alternative delivery
Hertfordshire contains
model for Hertfordshire Libraries.
only residents that are
Feedback was sought from
aged 65+. 59% of these
customers, partners, stakeholders,
library staff and volunteers. 2060
households contain one
person living alone.
members of the public responded
to the consultation. All feedback
Libraries play a crucial role in
enabling people to develop
has been fully considered within the
their information literacy skills
options appraisal.
6

What can you do?

The intended Board of Trustees will include
two trustees who will represent library users
and library staff, recruited from a new
advisory group. This will ensure that
management of the organisation will:
 be representative and reflects the
interests of people with protected
characteristics
 be fully aware of equalities legislation and
act in accordance with the law and best
practice
 adhere fully to the public library ethos and
the vision and values of the library service
in Hertfordshire and that this is stated
clearly in the contractual arrangement
between the County Council and the new
organisation.
 actively promote the Public Service Mutual
and any changes to the service to
agencies and community groups
representing the interests of older people,
children and young people.

to become digitally included.
Hertfordshire Libraries enjoy
a position of trust amongst
the local community and are
therefore ideally placed to
empower people to become
digital citizens.
The most popular reasons
cited by the public for not
being online include:

Agenda Pack Page 53









Negative Impact
 Younger and older people may
believe that delivering library
services in Hertfordshire through a
Public Service Mutual will not
reflect or meet their particular
service needs.

Lack of skills
Equipment costs
Access costs
Privacy and security
Research Carried out by
ONS (Internet access
report, 2017) shows that
the individuals most likely
to be offline are older
people (over 65)
The 2011 census found
that 8.1% of Hertfordshire
residents have never
used the internet. In the
2013 public consultation,
“The Future of
Hertfordshire Libraries”
18% of library users
responding to the
questionnaire said that
they did not have a home
computer with internet
access. However,
Nationally and in
7

Disability



Agenda Pack Page 54

Hertfordshire, household
internet access continue
to rise. In 2017, 90% of
households in Great
Britain had an internet
connection. This was up
from 89% in 2016 and
57% in 2006.
Hertfordshire County
Council’s community
profile data shows that
69,000 people in
Hertfordshire have a
disability. This includes
23,000 people with a
severe physical disability.
Around 26,000 people
have a learning disability.

Positive impact
 Hertfordshire Libraries provide
library services that are accessible
to all. A Public Service Mutual
model will provide a means of
continuing current service
provision.
 A Public Service Mutual has the
potential to mitigate against
disadvantageous and unequal
access that could arise through a
reduction of service, in order to
meet required budget savings if the
service remains in-house.
 In addition, a consultation was held
to obtain feedback on the principle
of creating an alternative delivery
model for Hertfordshire Libraries.
Feedback was sought from
customers, partners, stakeholders,
library staff and volunteers. 2060
members of the public responded
to the consultation. All feedback
has been fully considered within the
options appraisal.
Negative Impact
 People with a disability may believe
8

The intended Board of Trustees will include
two trustees who will represent library users
and library staff, recruited from a new
advisory group. This will ensure that
management of the organisation will:
 be representative and reflects the
interests of people with protected
characteristics
 be fully aware of equalities legislation and
act in accordance with the law and best
practice
 adhere fully to the public library ethos and
the vision and values of the library service
in Hertfordshire and that this is stated
clearly in the contractual arrangement
between the County Council and the new
organisation.
 actively promote the Public Service Mutual
and any changes to the service to
agencies and community groups
representing the interests of older people,
children and young people.

that delivering library services in
Hertfordshire through a Public
Service Mutual will not reflect or
meet their particular service needs.
Gender
reassignment

There is currently a low
expectation of the service
amongst some of the gender
reassignment population.

Agenda Pack Page 55

Positive impact
 Hertfordshire Libraries provide
library services that are accessible
to all. A Public Service Mutual
model will provide a means of
continuing current service
provision.
 A Public Service Mutual has the
potential to mitigate against
disadvantageous and unequal
access that could arise through a
reduction of service, in order to
meet required budget savings if the
service remains in-house.
 In addition, a consultation was held
to obtain feedback on the principle
of creating an alternative delivery
model for Hertfordshire Libraries.
Feedback was sought from
customers, partners, stakeholders,
library staff and volunteers. 2060
members of the public responded
to the consultation. All feedback
has been fully considered within the
options appraisal.
Negative impact
 People of gender reassignment
may believe that delivering library
services in Hertfordshire through a
Public Service Mutual will not
9

The intended Board of Trustees will include
two trustees who will represent library users
and library staff, recruited from a new
advisory group. This will ensure that
management of the organisation will:
 be representative and reflects the
interests of people with protected
characteristics
 be fully aware of equalities legislation and
act in accordance with the law and best
practice
 adhere fully to the public library ethos and
the vision and values of the library service
in Hertfordshire and that this is stated
clearly in the contractual arrangement
between the County Council and the new
organisation.
 actively promote the Public Service Mutual
and any changes to the service to
agencies and community groups
representing the interests of older people,
children and young people.
.

reflect or meet their particular
service needs.
Pregnancy and
maternity



Agenda Pack Page 56
Race



Positive impact
 Hertfordshire Libraries provide
library services that are accessible
to all. A Public Service Mutual
model will provide a means of
continuing current service
provision.
 A Public Service Mutual has the
potential to mitigate against
disadvantageous and unequal
access that could arise through a
reduction of service, in order to
meet required budget savings if the
service remains in-house.
 In addition, a consultation was held
to obtain feedback on the principle
of creating an alternative delivery
model for Hertfordshire Libraries.
Feedback was sought from
customers, partners, stakeholders,
library staff and volunteers. 2060
members of the public responded
to the consultation. All feedback
has been fully considered within the
options appraisal.
In Hertfordshire, there is a Positive impact
growing BME community
 Hertfordshire Libraries provide
library services that are accessible
with 20% of the population
to all. A Public Service Mutual
having defined
themselves as being from
model will provide a means of
a non-white British
continuing current service
background in the 2011
provision.
There are no unique
impacts identified for this
characteristic.

10



The position will continue to be monitored
and action will be taken to address any
identified issues.

The intended Board of Trustees will include
two trustees who will represent library users
and library staff, recruited from a new
advisory group. This will ensure that
management of the organisation will:
 be representative and reflects the
interests of people with protected



Agenda Pack Page 57
Religion or
belief





Census.
Watford, Welwyn, Hatfield
and Hertsmere have
some of the highest
proportions of people from
other ethnic groups, while
Three Rivers, Stevenage
and Broxbourne have
relatively high proportions
of ‘White Other’ (i.e. non
UK European Union). St.
Albans district has the
highest proportion of
Bangladeshi people in
Hertfordshire (1.9%), but
in terms of numbers,
Watford has the highest
number of Pakistani &
Bangladeshi people with
over 6,000 people.
People from BME
communities are likely to
experience inequalities in
terms of health, including
mental health, cancer,
heart disease, HIV, TB
and diabetes.
Whilst there is no formal
data at present for the
religion or beliefs of the
service users there may
be some communities
who feel isolated from the
service.





A Public Service Mutual has the
potential to mitigate against

disadvantageous and unequal
access that could arise through a
reduction of service, in order to

meet required budget savings if the
service remains in-house.
In addition, a consultation was held
to obtain feedback on the principle
of creating an alternative delivery
model for Hertfordshire Libraries.

Feedback was sought from
customers, partners, stakeholders,
library staff and volunteers. 2060
members of the public responded
to the consultation. All feedback
has been fully considered within the
options appraisal.

characteristics
be fully aware of equalities legislation and
act in accordance with the law and best
practice
adhere fully to the public library ethos and
the vision and values of the library service
in Hertfordshire and that this is stated
clearly in the contractual arrangement
between the County Council and the new
organisation.
actively promote the Public Service Mutual
and any changes to the service to
agencies and community groups
representing the interests of older people,
children and young people.

Negative impact
 People from the BME community
may believe that delivering library
services in Hertfordshire through a
Public Service Mutual will not
reflect or meet their particular
service needs.
Positive impact
 Hertfordshire Libraries provide
library services that are accessible
to all. A Public Service Mutual
model will provide a means of
continuing current service
provision.
 A Public Service Mutual has the
potential to mitigate against
11

The intended Board of Trustees will include
two trustees who will represent library users
and library staff, recruited from a new
advisory group. This will ensure that
management of the organisation will:
 be representative and reflects the
interests of people with protected
characteristics
 be fully aware of equalities legislation and



Agenda Pack Page 58
Sex/Gender

disadvantageous and unequal
access that could arise through a
reduction of service, in order to

meet required budget savings if the
service remains in-house.
In addition, a consultation was held
to obtain feedback on the principle
of creating an alternative delivery
model for Hertfordshire Libraries.

Feedback was sought from
customers, partners, stakeholders,
library staff and volunteers. 2060
members of the public responded
to the consultation. All feedback
has been fully considered within the
options appraisal.

act in accordance with the law and best
practice
adhere fully to the public library ethos and
the vision and values of the library service
in Hertfordshire and that this is stated
clearly in the contractual arrangement
between the County Council and the new
organisation.
actively promote the Public Service Mutual
and any changes to the service to
agencies and community groups
representing the interests of older people,
children and young people.

Negative impact
 People of particular faith or religion
may believe that delivering library
services in Hertfordshire through a
Public Service Mutual will not
reflect or meet their particular
service needs.


Women in some
communities may feel
isolated from the service

Positive impact
 Hertfordshire Libraries provide
library services that are accessible
to all. A Public Service Mutual
model will provide a means of
continuing current service
provision.
 A Public Service Mutual has the
potential to mitigate against
disadvantageous and unequal
access that could arise through a
12

The intended Board of Trustees will include
two trustees who will represent library users
and library staff, recruited from a new
advisory group. This will ensure that
management of the organisation will:
 be representative and reflects the
interests of people with protected
characteristics
 be fully aware of equalities legislation and
act in accordance with the law and best
practice



Agenda Pack Page 59

Sexual
orientation



That lesbian, gay and
bisexual people are not a
single homogenous group
must be taken into
account.

reduction of service, in order to

meet required budget savings if the
service remains in-house.
In addition, a consultation was held
to obtain feedback on the principle
of creating an alternative delivery
model for Hertfordshire Libraries.

Feedback was sought from
customers, partners, stakeholders,
library staff and volunteers. 2060
members of the public responded
to the consultation. All feedback
has been fully considered within the
options appraisal.

Negative impact
 Women in some communities may
believe that delivering library
services in Hertfordshire through a
Public Service Mutual will not
reflect or meet their particular
service needs.
Positive impact
 Hertfordshire Libraries provide
library services that are accessible
to all. A Public Service Mutual
model will provide a means of
continuing current service
provision.
 A Public Service Mutual has the
potential to mitigate against
disadvantageous and unequal
access that could arise through a
reduction of service, in order to
meet required budget savings if the
service remains in-house.
13

adhere fully to the public library ethos and
the vision and values of the library service
in Hertfordshire and that this is stated
clearly in the contractual arrangement
between the County Council and the new
organisation.
actively promote the Public Service Mutual
and any changes to the service to
agencies and community groups
representing the interests of older people,
children and young people.

The intended Board of Trustees will include
two trustees who will represent library users
and library staff, recruited from a new
advisory group. This will ensure that
management of the organisation will:
 be representative and reflects the
interests of people with protected
characteristics
 be fully aware of equalities legislation and
act in accordance with the law and best
practice
 adhere fully to the public library ethos and
the vision and values of the library service
in Hertfordshire and that this is stated



Agenda Pack Page 60

Marriage and
civil partnership

In addition, a consultation was held
to obtain feedback on the principle
of creating an alternative delivery

model for Hertfordshire Libraries.
Feedback was sought from
customers, partners, stakeholders,
library staff and volunteers. 2060
members of the public responded
to the consultation. All feedback
has been fully considered within the
options appraisal.

clearly in the contractual arrangement
between the County Council and the new
organisation.
actively promote the Public Service Mutual
and any changes to the service to
agencies and community groups
representing the interests of older people,
children and young people.

Negative impact
 Lesbian, gay or bisexual people
may believe that delivering library
services in Hertfordshire through a
Public Service Mutual will not
reflect or meet their particular
service needs.
There are no unique impacts
identified for this
characteristic.

Positive impact
 Hertfordshire Libraries provide
library services that are accessible
to all. A Public Service Mutual
model will provide a means of
continuing current service
provision.
 A Public Service Mutual has the
potential to mitigate against
disadvantageous and unequal
access that could arise through a
reduction of service, in order to
meet required budget savings if the
service remains in-house.
 In addition, a consultation was held
to obtain feedback on the principle
14



The position will continue to be monitored
and action will be taken to address any
identified issues.

of creating an alternative delivery
model for Hertfordshire Libraries.
Feedback was sought from
customers, partners, stakeholders,
library staff and volunteers. 2060
members of the public responded
to the consultation. All feedback
has been fully considered within the
options appraisal.
Carers
(by association
with any of the
above)

Agenda Pack Page 61

Carers may be concerned
about any possible changes
and the impact that this may
have on their ability to access
library services, when
compared with the current
provision and support they
receive from the County
Council.

Positive impact
 Hertfordshire Libraries provide
library services that are accessible
to all. A Public Service Mutual
model will provide a means of
continuing current service
provision.
 A Public Service Mutual has the
potential to mitigate against
disadvantageous and unequal
access that could arise through a
reduction of service, in order to
meet required budget savings if the
service remains in-house.
 In addition, a consultation was held
to obtain feedback on the principle
of creating an alternative delivery
model for Hertfordshire Libraries.
Feedback was sought from
customers, partners, stakeholders,
library staff and volunteers. 2060
members of the public responded
to the consultation. All feedback
has been fully considered within the
options appraisal.
15

The intended Board of Trustees will include
two trustees who will represent library users
and library staff, recruited from a new
advisory group. This will ensure that
management of the organisation will:
 be representative and reflects the
interests of people with protected
characteristics
 be fully aware of equalities legislation and
act in accordance with the law and best
practice
 adhere fully to the public library ethos and
the vision and values of the library service
in Hertfordshire and that this is stated
clearly in the contractual arrangement
between the County Council and the new
organisation.
 actively promote the Public Service Mutual
and any changes to the service to
agencies and community groups
representing the interests of older people,
children and young people.

Negative impact
 Carers may believe that delivering
library services in Hertfordshire
through a Public Service Mutual will
not reflect or meet their particular
service needs.
Other relevant
groups

Agenda Pack Page 62

Consider if there is
a potential impact
(positive or
negative) on areas
such as health and
wellbeing, crime
and disorder,
Armed Forces
community.

Opportunity to advance equality of opportunity and/or foster good relations

The new operating model is likely to create further opportunities for partnership working and co-production of services. As an organisation
independent from the County Council, there will be the chance to foster positive relations with local communities and greater flexibility to
work with partners and suppliers.
Depending on the structure and management of the new organisation, there may be an opportunity for communities to be actively involved
in the governance of the service and be able to shape services so that they are responsive and meet the needs of local people.
Greater experience of ‘community led’ initiatives to retain and develop local services may be applied to other areas. Opportunities for
volunteering will increase. The sense of community ownership in local libraries will be increased. All these elements will lead to a growth
in ‘social capital’.

16

Conclusion of your analysis and assessment
SUMMARY

OUTCOME AND NEXT STEPS
i.
-

No equality impacts identified
No major change required to proposal

Agenda Pack Page 63

ii. Minimal equality impacts identified
- Adverse impacts have been identified, but have been objectively
justified (provided you do not unlawfully discriminate)
- Ensure decision makers consider the cumulative effect of how a
number of decisions impact on equality
- No major change required to proposal

iii. Potential equality impacts identified
- Take ‘mitigating action’ to change the original policy/proposal,
remove barriers or better advance equality
- Set out clear actions in the action plan in section 4.

.

Due to the wide and varied groups and communities that use the
library service in Hertfordshire there is the potential for multiple
groups to perceive that they are at greater risk of exclusion and
isolation from accessing the service once an alternative delivery
model, Public Service Mutual has been established. The service will
provide clear and transparent communications to the public and
service users to minimise these perceptions and the associated
risks

iv. Major equality impacts identified
- The adverse effects are not justified, cannot be mitigated or show
unlawful discrimination
- You must stop and remove the policy
[you should consult with Legal Services]
- Ensure decision makers understand the equality impact

17

4.

Prioritised Action Plan

Impact identified and
group(s) affected

Action planned

Expected outcome

All protected
characteristics

When the governance of the
Public Service Mutual
organisation is determined we will
ensure that:
 it is representative and
reflects the interests of people
with protected characteristics
 members of the new
organisation are fully aware of
equalities legislation and act
in accordance with the law
and best practice
 it adheres fully to the public
library ethos and the vision
and values of the library
service in Hertfordshire and
that this is stated clearly in the
contractual arrangement
between the County Council
and the new organisation.

Positive engagement

and take up of services
delivered by Public
Service Mutual by
people of all protected
characteristics in
Hertfordshire.


Increase in KPI’s
evidencing take up
of services by people
of all protected
characteristics.

We will actively promote the
Public Service Mutual and any
changes to the service to
agencies and community groups
representing people with
protected characteristics.





Increase in KPI’s
evidencing take up
of services by people
of all protected
characteristics.



Positive customer
feedback via the
Customer Relations
Programme e.g.

Agenda Pack Page 64

People of all protected
characteristics may believe
that delivering library services
in Hertfordshire through a
Public Service Mutual will not
reflect or meet their particular
service needs.

People of all protected
characteristics may believe
that delivering library services
in Hertfordshire through a
Public Service Mutual will not
reflect or meet their particular
service needs.

Positive
engagement and
take up of services
delivered by Public
Service Mutual by
people of all
protected
characteristics in
Hertfordshire.
18

Measure of success

Lead officer and
timeframe

Hertfordshire
Library Service
Leadership Team
April 2019

Positive customer
feedback via the
Customer Relations
Programme e.g.
comment cards,
library user surveys

Hertfordshire
Library Service
Leadership Team
April 2019

comment cards,
library user surveys
We will review the EqIA
EqIA is updated as
‘Delivering Library Services
required.
through Public Service Mutual’ on
a six monthly basis.
We will complete a separate EqIA
for any significant service
changes that may take place as a
result of establishing a Public
Service Mutual.

The interests of all
people with a protected
characteristic who use
libraries in Hertfordshire
are represented in the
establishment of a
Public Service Mutual

Hertfordshire
Library Service
Leadership Team
Six monthly

EqIA for TUPE process for
staff

We will complete an EqIA to
Effective completion of
accompany the TUPE process for TUPE process.
staff as they transfer from the
County Council to a Public
Service Mutual organisation.

Transfer and
implementation of
Public Service Mutual
organisation in
Hertfordshire in line with
agreed timescales.

Hertfordshire
Library Service
Leadership Team
April 2019

Agenda Pack Page 65

Review of the EqIA

This EqIA has been signed off by:
Lead Equality Impact Assessment officer:
Head of Service or Business Manager:
Review date:

Date: 3rd October 2018
Date: 3rd October 2018

Faizal Hakim
Andrew Bignell

Please now send the completed EqIA to equalities@hertfordshire.gov.uk

19

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item No.

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

6

EDUCATION, LIBRARIES AND LOCALISM CABINETPANEL
THURSDAY, 18 OCTOBER 2018 AT 10:00AM
HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL’S ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS
FOR 2020/21
Report of the Director of Children’s Services
Author:-

Jayne Abery, Strategy and Policy Manager,
Admissions & Transport, Tel No: 01992 588785
Pauline Davis, Head of School Planning
Tel No: 01992 555865

Executive Member:-

Terry Douris, Education, Libraries and Localism

Local Member/s:-

Jeff Jones, Buntingford
Ralph Sangster, Rickmansworth West
Nigel Bell, West Watford
Roma Mills, St Albans North

1.

Purpose of report

1.1

To request that Panel’s recommends to Cabinet that it agrees to
consult on the following proposals:



to amend the County Council’s admission arrangements
to decrease the published admission number at five primary schools,
and
to increase the published admission number at one school
(consultation not required).

2.

Summary

2.1

The County Council must determine on an annual basis the admission
arrangements and published admission number for all community and
voluntary schools in Hertfordshire; and the coordinated schemes of
admission to all maintained schools and academies in the County.

2.2

The School Admission Code, paragraph 1.43, requires consultation
before admission amendments are amended or the published
admission number of any school is reduced.

2.3

A minimum of 6 weeks formal consultation is required, between 1
October 2018 and 31 January 2019 to amend the County Council’s
admission arrangements for 2020/21.
1

Agenda Pack Page 67

3.

Recommendations

3.1

Panel is asked to note and comment upon the Report and recommend
to Cabinet that: consultation is undertaken proposing that :
o the definition of “rule 2 – exceptional social and medical
reasons to attend a specific school” is amended to include
children previously looked after abroad;
o the scheme of coordination in amended to clarify the process
for late applications and continuing interest
o the published admission number at four primary schools is
reduced.
 the published admission number for Edwinstree VC Middle School
(Buntingford) is increased
 the remainder of the County Council’s admission arrangements and
schemes of coordination are retained for 2020/2

4.

Background

4.1

The School Admissions Code requires all admission authorities to
consult on their admission arrangements (if there have been no
changes) every 7 years.

4.2

The County Council is the admission authority for 252 primary, infant
and first schools and 2 secondary schools. When any of these schools
are oversubscribed the County Council’s published admission
arrangements (Appendix A) are used to determine which children
should be offered places.

4.3

The County Council’s existing admission arrangements work well with,
in 2018, nearly 97% of children allocated a ranked primary school and
over 94% a ranked secondary school. Maintaining existing
arrangements, with minor amendments to definitions, will minimise
parental anxiety around school places and maximise the benefits of
existing knowledge of the allocation process.

4.4

4.5

Children looked after from abroad
It is proposed to amend the definition of “Rule 2 – exceptional social
and medical need to attend a specific school” for both primary and
secondary schools to include the prioritisation of “children previously in
care outside England”.
Currently all schools and academies are required to give highest
priority in their oversubscription criteria (Rule 1) to children looked
after, including children who were previously looked after but were
adopted or who became subject to a child arrangement order or a
special guardianship order. To qualify adopted children must have
been previously looked after by a local authority in England or Wales.

2

Agenda Pack Page 68

4.6

The Children and Social Care Act 2017 amends the Children Act 1989
so that the obligation to make information and advice available to
promote educational achievement, applies to children who were cared
for by the state and subsequently adopted regardless of whether this
was within England or Wales.

4.7

The Minster of State for Schools, Nick Gibb, MP, wrote to all admission
authorities on 3rd December 2017 asking for this category of children to
also be given the highest priority for admission. The Minster of State
for Schools made it clear that the current Government would be
seeking a change in the School Admissions Code in the future to make
this a statutory requirement. Hertfordshire was mid-way through its
admissions consultation process for 2019/20 when the letter was
received and it was not therefore possible to consider introducing this
change before 2020/21; six weeks consultation would have been
required before 31 January 2018 and it would have been impossible to
gain Cabinet approval for consultation in the time remaining.

4.8

In addition, advice received from the DfE and the office of the Chief
Adjudicator following receipt of the letter from Nick Gibb MP, made
clear that “Rule 1” cannot be amended to include this additional
category of previously looked children because the existing definition of
this term is laid out in Regulations and cannot be amended without
parliamentary approval (which will not happen until after Brexit clears
Parliament).

4.9

Further advice issued from the DfE on 6 th August 2018 (Appendix B)
confirmed the Minister’s intention to amend the Code and formally
requested all admission authorities to give these children second
highest priority for any school. Noting the legal positon and to meet the
DFE’s request, and to avoid potential legal challenge on the grounds of
equality, it is proposed that the County Council’s admission
arrangements are amended to allow the prioritisation of these children
within Rule 2 ”exceptional social and medical reasons to attend a
particular school”. This will give children who were cared for by the
state outside England and Wales and subsequently adopted increased
priority without significantly changing the County Council’s current
admission arrangements or adding another oversubscription criterion.

4.10

The guidance issued on 6 August suggests that “there is local
consistency in decision-making, so that parents know that the schools
in their area, who are operating this priority, will reach the same
conclusion about the status of any particular child. Admission
authorities may find it helpful to work with other admission authorities in
the area, the local authority and the local Virtual School Head to agree
a consistent approach. They may also find it helpful to work with Virtual
School Heads from nearby local authorities, particularly where children
are applying for school places across local area boundaries.”

4.11

The DfE suggest that admission authorities adopt the definition given
within the Children & Social Work Act 2017 for “relevant children” in
3

Agenda Pack Page 69

relation to this cohort and that confirmation of the child’s previously
looked after status is confirmed through the Virtual School. The
definition of relevant child is:
Section 4: Educational achievement in England
“relevant child” means—
(i)

to have been in state care in a place outside England and
Wales because he or she would not otherwise have been cared
for adequately, and

(ii)

to have ceased to be in that state care as a result of being
adopted.

A child is in “state care” if he or she is in the care of, or accommodated
by—

4.12

(a)

a public authority,

(b)

a religious organisation, or

(c)

any other organisation the sole or main purpose of which is to
benefit society.”

The proposed definition for use within Hertfordshire in the Rule 2
process is found at Appendix C. Officers have written to all own
admission authorities in Hertfordshire explaining that the individual
arrangements of all schools should be amended to ensure that children
looked after from abroad should be given the 2nd highest priority in
oversubscription criteria and that the definition above should be used
to decide applications. An offer has also been made for the County
Council (the Admissions Service and Virtual School working together)
to act as a ”clearing house” for any applications from this sector to
ensure consistency of decision making across the county.
Scheme of coordination

4.13

All local authorities are required to publish schemes of coordination
which outline the admission and allocation processes across the
authority, the exchange of date with other authorities and the timelines
involved. Hertfordshire’s schemes of coordination have remained the
same for a number of years and have simply been updated to take into
account legislative or policy changes. The schemes also outline
coordination after allocation day – as required by the School
Admissions Code.

4.14

Over recent years it has become apparent, both in the allocation of
places after national offer day and in the annual scrutiny of admission
arrangements for own admission authority schools, that some schools
have introduced arrangements for the treatment of late applications
4

Agenda Pack Page 70

during the continuing interest process that are in breach of the School
Admissions Code’s requirements for all applications received “late” to
be treated equitably regardless of the date of application. It is also not
appropriate for schools to process totally new applications at the
continuing interest stage of the allocation process (i.e. those who did
not initially make an on-time application) but refuse or delay processing
applications from those who have changed their preferences for the CI
process. These arrangements disadvantage on-time applicants who
only make a preference for a school at the CI stage compared to “late”
applicants.
4.15

Whilst officers have previously written to schools on this issue a recent
determination from the Office of the Schools Adjudicator has confirmed
that such arrangements are in breach of the School Admissions Code.
To ensure clarity and transparency for all schools it is proposed that
the schemes of coordination are amended to provide more detail on
the county wide process for late applications and continuing interest.

4.16

The proposed wording is attached at Appendix D.
Published Admission Numbers (PAN)

4.17

4.18

Edwinstree Middle School, Buntingford
An increase in the PAN previously approved for 2019/20 is sought.
The school currently has a PAN of 112 and organises on the basis of 4
forms of entry (f.e.). After recent improvements to internal
accommodation the school has requested that it admits 120 into each
year group and that it’s PAN is increased to 120 as soon as possible.
The increase in PAN is unlikely to have a negative impact on any other
school. The school’s accommodation is adequate for an intake of 120
in each year group and future expansion may be necessary to cater for
housing development in the local area.
The admission authority of any school can increase its PAN without
consultation. The County Council is the admission authority for
Edwinstree VC School and has previously approved its PAN for
2018/19 and 2019/20. Cabinet is therefore asked to approve an
increase to the 2018/19 PAN to 120.
PANS for 2020/21

4.19





It is proposed that Published Admission Numbers for 2020/21 are
retained for all other schools (Appendix E) except:
Shepherd Primary, Mill End
Margaret Wix Primary School, St Albans
Holywell Primary School, Watford
Jenyns First School, Braughing

5

Agenda Pack Page 71

4.20

Shepherd Primary School, Mill End
The Rickmansworth area currently has surplus places in the majority of
year groups, with smaller cohorts expected in future years. There is
also forecast surplus capacity in neighbouring primary planning areas
Croxley Green and Chorleywood. Shepherd JMI is asking for its PAN
to be reduced by 1 f.e. from September 2020 to support efficient
organisation and use of resource.

4.21

For September 2018, the school was initially allocated 35 pupils and
after the second round of continuing interest this had dropped to 32.
Organising reception into two classes of 16 children to meet infant
class size legislation results in an inefficient use of resources and the
school is concerned that it will fall into financial difficulty if these
numbers are repeated across a number of years.

4.22

It is also proposed to submit an in-year variation (IYV) to reduce the
PAN for the 2018/19 reception cohort. If the IYV is approved the PAN
will automatically be reduced for 2019/20 and so there will be no need
to consult for 2020/21. However, as there is no guarantee that the IYV
will be approved, it is necessary to pursue a parallel process at the
current time.

4.23

Should pupil numbers increase, the admission number will be increase
back to 60 on either a permanent or temporary basis.

4.24

Margaret Wix Primary School, St Albans
In St Albans City there are sufficient places to meet demand across the
forecast period, with surplus spaces predicted year on year. However,
there is localised pressure on places, particularly around London Road
and the city centre, which the County Council is seeking to help
mitigate through the expansion of St Peter’s School from September
2020.

4.25

There is a particular concentration of surplus capacity in the north-west
where it is forecast there will be more than 1.6 f.e. spare places each
year. It is therefore proposed that the PAN at Margaret Wix School is
reduced by 1 f.e. to manage the amount of surplus in the area and give
the school better certainty around staffing and organisation.

4.26

In recent years all families who have applied for places at Margaret
Wix School have been able to obtain places, and it is anticipated that
this will remain the case after the proposed PAN reduction. Reducing
the PAN at Margaret Wix School would still leave sufficient places
available in the locality, and the same number of places available
across the city following the expansion of St Peters School. However,
places would be better located to meet demand within St Albans.

6

Agenda Pack Page 72

4.27

Holywell Primary School, Watford
Watford Town has experienced growth at a high rate for most of the
past decade. A number of schools have been expanded to help meet
rising demand, and the county council also facilitated the opening of
two new primary schools, Lanchester and Ascot Road.

4.28

More recently the DfE approved the opening of the 2 f.e. St Johns C of
E School in the south of the town. Capacity across the south of the
town is now more than adequate to meet demand, with 2-3 f.e. surplus
across the forecast period.

4.29

Holywell Primary, currently a 3 f.e. school, has requested its PAN be
reduced by 30 places from Sept 2020 to give greater certainty over
staffing and organisation. Although nominally having a 3 f.e. intake, it
has not been necessary for the school to run three classes in recent
intakes. It is anticipated that all families who apply for places will still
be able to be accommodated following the proposed reduction.

4.30

The school is aware that should demand rise in the future, it will be met
by an increase in its PAN on a temporary or permanent basis.

4.31

Jenyns First School, Braughing
Braughing is a small village school, and the only school in the planning
area.

4.32

The school currently has a PAN of 21 which is not compatible with
infant class-size legislation. The school has requested a PAN reduction
in order to reorganise classes and teachers to ensure financial stability.

4.33

It is proposed to reduce the school’s PAN from 21 to 15 pupil forecast
and GP data suggest that would be sufficient to meet local need.

4.34

It is also proposed that a request for an In Year Variation is submitted
to the Office of the Schools Adjudicator to reduce the school’s PAN for
2019. If the In Year Variation is agreed a reduction in PAN for 2020/21
via consultation would not be necessary because the PAN will already
have been reduced. However, as there is no guarantee that the In Year
Variation will be approved, it is necessary to pursue a parallel process
at the current time.

5.

Financial Implications

5.1

There will be no impact on County Council budgets.

6.

Equalities Implications

6.1

When considering proposals placed before Members it is important
that they are fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously considered
the Equality Implications of the decision that they are making.

7

Agenda Pack Page 73

6.2

Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any
potential impact of that decision on the County Council’s statutory
obligations under the Public Sector Equality Duty. As a minimum this
requires decision makers to read and carefully consider the content of
any Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by officers.

6.3

The Equality Act 2010 requires the County Council when exercising its
functions to have due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination,
harassment, victimisation and other conduct prohibited under the Act;
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it and
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. The
protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age;
disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership;
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion and belief, sex and sexual
orientation

6.4.

An EqIA on the proposed amendments to admission arrangements has
been undertaken (Appendix F) and it is highly unlikely that the
proposals will have an adverse impact upon any particular group with a
protected characteristic. EqIAs outlining the potential impact of the
PAN decreases are attached at Appendix G-J.
Background Information
None

8

Agenda Pack Page 74

Appendix Ai
Hertfordshire County Council’s oversubscription criteria for community and
voluntary controlled, first, infant, primary, junior and middle schools for the
school year 2020/21
Section 324 of the Education Act 1996 requires the governing bodies of all maintained schools to
admit a child with a statement of special educational needs that names their school. Schools must
also admit children with an EHC (Education, Health and Care) Plan that names the school.
If there are fewer applications than places available at a school all applicants will be admitted. If
there are more applications than places available, the criteria outlined below will be used to prioritise
applications.
Oversubscription criteria
Rule 1: Children looked after and children who were previously looked after, but
ceased to be so because they were adopted (or became subject to a child
arrangements order or a special guardianship order)*.
Rule 2: Medical or Social
Children for whom it can be demonstrated that they have a particular medical or social
need to go to the school, this includes children previously looked after from abroad.*
A panel of officers will determine whether the evidence provided is sufficiently compelling
to meet the requirements for this rule. The evidence must relate specifically to the school
applied for under Rule 2 and must clearly demonstrate why it is the only school that can meet
the child’s needs.
Rule 3: Linked School (This rule only applies to pupils who are currently attending an infant
school which has a linked junior school¹.)
In the case of junior schools, children who attend the linked infant school at the time of
their application.
Rule 4: Sibling
Children who have a sibling on the roll of the school or linked school at the time of
application*. This applies to reception through to Year 5 in infant, junior and primary
schools; and from reception through to Year 3 in first schools; and from Year 5 to Year 7 in
middle schools.
Rule 5: Nearest School
Children for whom it is their nearest school or academy.
This includes all schools except those which allocate places on the basis of faith.
Rule 6: Distance
Children who live nearest to the school.
Children not considered under rule 5 will be considered under rule 6.
These rules are applied in the order they are printed above. If more children qualify under a particular
rule than there are places available, a tie break will be used by applying the next rule to those
children.
Tie Break
When there is a need for a tie break where two different addresses are the same distance from a
school, in the case of a block of flats for example, the lower door number will be deemed nearest
as logically this will be on the ground floor and therefore closer. If there are two identical addresses
of separate applicants, the tie break will be random. Every child entered onto the HCC admissions
database has an individual random number assigned, between 1 and 1 million, against each
preference school. When there is a need for
a final tiePack
break the
random
Agenda
Page
75number is used to allocate
the place, with the lowest number given priority.

Appendix Ai
*Please see the ‘Explanatory notes and definitions 2019/20 document for a full
explanation/definition.

Continuing Interest
After places have been offered, Hertfordshire County Council will maintain a continuing interest
(waiting) list for all community and voluntary controlled schools. A child’s position on a CI list will
be determined by the admission criteria outlined above and a child’s place on the list can change
as other children join or leave it. The county council will contact parents/carers if a vacancy
becomes available and it can be offered to a child. Continuing interest lists will be maintained for
every year group until the summer term (date to be confirmed). To retain a CI application after this
time, parents must make an In Year application.
Fair Access
Community and voluntary controlled schools will admit children under the Fair Access Protocol
before those on continuing interest, and over the Published Admission Number (PAN) if required.
2

Agenda Pack Page 76

Appendix Ai

¹Linked infant and junior schools
The table below shows the community and voluntary controlled infant schools and academies
which are “linked” for allocations to junior schools under Rule 3.

Infant school

School
type

Town

Linked Junior school

School
type

St Mary’s Church of England (VC) Infant School

VC

Baldock

St Mary’s C of E (VC) Junior School

VC

Bushey and Oxhey Infant School

C

Bushey

Bushey Manor Junior School

C

Merry Hill Infant School and Nursery

C

Bushey

Ashﬁeld Junior School

VC

Brookland Infant and Nursery School

C

Cheshunt

Brookland Junior School

C

Malvern Way Infant and Nursery School

C

Croxley

Little Green Junior School

C

Kingsway Infant School

C

Garston

Kingsway Junior School

C

Crabtree Infants’ School

A

Harpenden

Crabtree Junior School

A

The Grove Infant and Nursery School

C

Harpenden

The Grove Junior School

C

Chaulden Infants’ and Nursery School

C

Hemel Hempstead

Chaulden Junior School

A

Hobletts Manor Infants’ and Nursery School

C

Hemel Hempstead

Hobletts Manor Junior School

C

Holtsmere End Infant and Nursery School

C

Hemel Hempstead

Holtsmere End Junior School

C

Highbury Infant School and Nursery

C

Hitchin

Whitehill Junior School

C

Strathmore Infant and Nursery School

C

Hitchin

Wilshere-Dacre Junior School

C

Hillshott Infant School and Nursery

C

Letchworth

Pixmore Junior School

C

Icknield Infant and Nursery School

C

Letchworth

Wilbury Junior School

C

Northﬁelds Infant and Nursery School

C

Letchworth

Grange Junior School

C

St John’s C of E Infant and Nursery School

VC

Radlett

Fair Field Junior School

A

Redbourn Infant and Nursery School

C

Redbourn

Redbourn Junior School

C

Fawbert and Barnard Infants’ School

C

Sawbridgeworth

Reedings Junior School

C

Bernards Heath Infant School

C

St Albans

Bernards Heath Junior School

C

Cunningham Hill Infant School

C

St Albans

Cunningham Hill Junior School

C

Fleetville Infant and Nursery School

A

St Albans

Fleetville Junior School

A

Wheatfields Infants’ and NurserySchool

C

St Albans

Wheatfields Junior School

C

Giles Nursery and Infant’s School

C

Stevenage

Giles Junior School

C

Letchmore Infants’ and Nursery School

C

Stevenage

Almond Hill Junior School

C

Woolenwick Infant and Nursery School

C

Stevenage

Woolenwick Junior School

C

Goldﬁeld Infants’ and Nursery School

C

Tring

Bishop Wood C of E Junior School

VA

Kingshill Infant School

C

Ware

St Mary’s (VC) C of E Junior School

VC

Cassiobury Infant and Nursery School

C

Watford

Cassiobury Junior School

C

Chater Infant School

C

Watford

Chater Junior School

C

Nascot Wood Infant and Nursery School

C

Watford

Nascot Wood Junior School

C

Parkgate Infants and Nursery School

C

Watford

Parkgate Junior School

C

Watford Field School Infant & Nursery

C

Watford

Field Junior School

C

C = Community
VC = Voluntary Controlled
A = Academy
F = Foundation
VA = Voluntary Aided

Agenda Pack Page 77
3

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix ii
Hertfordshire County Council’s oversubscription criteria for secondary and upper
community coeducational schools for 2019/20
Section 324 of the Education Act 1996 requires the governing bodies of all maintained schools to
admit a child with a statement of special educational needs that names their school. Schools must
also admit children with an EHC (Education, Health and Care) Plan that names the school.
If there are fewer applications than places available at a school all applicants will be admitted. If
there are more applications than places available, the criteria outlined below will be used to
prioritise applications.
Oversubscription criteria
Rule 1: Children looked after and children who were previously looked after, but ceased to be so
because they were adopted (or became subject to a child arrangements order or a
special guardianship order)*.
Rule 2: Medical or Social
Children for whom it can be demonstrated that they have a particular medical or social
need to go to the school, including children previously looked after from abroad*.
A panel of officers will determine whether the evidence provided is sufficiently
compelling to meet the requirements for this rule. The evidence must relate specifically to
the school applied for under Rule 2 and must clearly demonstrate why it is the only
school that can meet the child’s needs.
Rule 3: Sibling
Children who have a sibling at the school at the time of application, unless the sibling is in
the last year of the normal age-range of the school*.
Note: the ‘normal age range’ is the designated range for which the school provides, for
example Years 7 to 11 in an 11-16 secondary school, Years 7 to 13 in an 11-18 school.
Rule 4: Children who live in the priority area for whom it is their nearest* Hertfordshire
maintained school or academy that is non-faith, co-educational and non-partially selective.
Note: Non-partially selective means that the school does not offer any places based on
academic ability.
Rule 5: Children who live in the priority area who live nearest to the school.
Rule 6: Children living outside the priority area on the basis of distance, with those living
nearest to the school given priority.
These rules are applied in the order they are printed above. If more children qualify under a
particular rule than there are places available, a tiebreak will be used by applying the next rule to
those children.
Tie break
When there is a need for a tie break where two different addresses are the same distance from a
school, in the case of a block of flats for example, the lower door number will be deemed nearest
as logically this will be on the ground floor and therefore closer. If there are two identical addresses
of separate applicants, the tie break will be random. Every child entered onto the HCC admissions
database has an individual random number assigned, between 1 and 1 million, against each
preference school. When there is a need for a final tie break the random number is used to allocate
the place, with the lowest number given priority.

Agenda Pack Page 79

*Please see the ‘Explanatory notes and definitions 2020/21 document for a full explanation/definition.
1

Appendix ii

Continuing Interest
After places have been offered, Hertfordshire County Council will maintain a continuing interest
(waiting) list for all community and voluntary controlled schools. A child’s position on a CI list will
be determined by the admission criteria outlined above and a child’s place on the list can
change as other children join or leave it. The county council will contact parents/carers if a
vacancy becomes available and it can be offered to a child. Continuing interest lists will be
maintained for every year group until the summer term (date to be specified and confirmed to
parents at the time of allocation). To retain a CI application after this time, parents must make an In
Year application.
Fair Access
Community and voluntary controlled schools will admit children under the Fair Access Protocol
before those on continuing interest, and over the Published Admission Number (PAN) if required.
Priority Areas
The coeducational priority areas in the admission rules are based on the following towns, parishes/
unparished areas. These apply to Rules 4 and 5. Academies and foundation schools (agreed
or proposed) that will be retaining the county county’s priority areas as part of their admission
arrangements for 2019/20 have been included for information but are marked with an asterisk*
Priority Area

Towns/Parishes/Unparished areas

Schools

1

Hitchin

Hexton, Hitchin, Holwell, Ickleford,Langley, Lilley,
Offley, Pirton, Preston, St. Ippolyts, Wymondley.

The Priory *

2

Letchworth Garden City

Letchworth.

Fearnhill*, The Highfield*

3

Baldock and
surrounding villages

Ashwell, Baldock, Bygrave, Caldecote, Clothall,
Edworth, Hinxworth, Newnham, Radwell, Rushden,
Sandon, Wallington, Weston.

The Knights Templar*

4

Buntingford, Puckeridge
and Royston

Anstey, Ardeley, Aspenden, Barkway, Barley,
Braughing, Brent Pelham, Buckland, Buntingford,
Cottered, Great Munden,Hormead, Kelshall,
Meesden, Nuthampstead, Reed, Royston, Standon,
Therfield, Westmill, Wyddial.

The Meridian*

5

Stevenage

6

Hemel Hempstead,
Kings Langley,
Berkhamstead, Tring,
Garston, Watford,
Chorleywood and
Rickmansworth

Abbots Langley, Aldbury, Berkhamsted, Bovingdon,
Chipperfield, Chorleywood, Croxley Green,
Flaunden, Great Gaddesden, Hemel Hempstead,
Kings Langley, Little Gaddesden, Maple Cross, Nash
Mills, Nettleden with Potten End, Northchurch,
Rickmansworth, Sarratt, Tring, Tring Rural,
Watford,Wigginton.

Harpenden and St. Albans

Ayot St. Lawrence, Colney Heath, Flamstead,
Harpenden, Harpenden Rural, Kimpton, King’s
Walden, London Colney, Markyate, Redbourn,
Ridge, Sandridge, St. Michael, St. Pauls Walden, St.
Stephens, St. Albans, Shenley, Wheathampstead.

7

Aston, Benington, Datchworth, Graveley, Great
Ashby, Knebworth, Stevenage, Walkern.

The Barclay, Barnwell*,
Marriotts, The Nobel*, Thomas
Alleyne*

Adeyfield*, Ashlyns*,
The Astley Cooper*, The
Cavendish, The Hemel
Hempstead, Longdean*, Kings
Langley*, Westfield*

Beaumont*, Roundwood Park*,
Samuel Ryder*, Sir John
Lawes*, Katherine Warington

Agenda Pack Page 80
2

Appendix ii

Priority Area

Towns/Parishes/Unparished areas

Schools

Welwyn Garden City,
Hatfield, Potters Bar and
Brookmans Park

Ayot St. Peter, Codicote, Essendon, Hatfield, North
Mymms, Potters Bar, South Mymms, Welwyn
Garden City, Welwyn, Woolmer Green.

Monks Walk*, Onslow St.
Audreys*, Sir Frederic
Osborn*, Stanborough*

Ware and Hertford

Bayford, Bengeo Rural, Bramfield, Brickendon
Liberty, Great Amwell, Hertford, Hertford Heath,
Hertingfordbury, Hunsdon, Little Berkhamsted,
Little Munden, Sacombe, StansteadSt.
Margarets, Stapleford, Tewin, Thundridge,
Ware, Wareside, Watton-at-Stone,Widford.

10

Bishop’s Stortford and
Sawbridgeworth

Albury, Birchanger, Bishop’s Stortford, Eastwick,
Elsenham, Furneux Pelham, Gilston, Great
Hallingbury, High Wych, Little Hadham, Little
Hallingbury, Much Hadham, Sawbridgeworth,
Sheering, Stocking Pelham, Thorley.

11

Borehamwood, Bushey
and Watford Rural

12

Hoddesdon, Broxbourne,
Turnford and Cheshunt

8

9

Chauncy*, Simon Balle*

Aldenham, Bushey, Elstree, Borehamwood, Watford
Rural.
Broxbourne, Cheshunt, Hoddesdon, Nazeing,
Northaw & Cuffley, Stanstead Abbots,Waltham
Cross.

Robert Barclay*, Haileybury
Turnford*, GoffsChurchgate*

Agenda Pack Page 81
3

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix Aiii

Explanatory notes and definitions for the admission arrangements for
community and voluntary-controlled schools in Hertfordshire for 2020/21
The following definitions apply to terms used in the admissions criteria:
Rule 1: Children looked after and children who were previously looked after,
but ceased to be so because they were adopted (or became subject to a child
arrangements order¹ or a special guardianship order²)
Places are allocated to children in public care according to Chapter 7, Section 2 of
the School Admissions (Admission Arrangements and Co-ordination of Admission
Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2012.
These children will be prioritised under rule 1.
Highest priority will also be given to children who were looked after, but ceased to
be so because they were adopted, or became subject to a child arrangements order
or a special guardianship order.
A “child looked after” is a child who is:
a)
b)

in the care of a local authority, or
being provided with accommodation by a local authority in the exercise
of their social services functions (section 22(1) of The Children Act 1989)

All children adopted from care who are of compulsory school age are eligible for
admission under rule 1.³
Children in the process of being placed for adoption are classified by law as
children looked after providing there is a Placement Order and the application would
be prioritised under Rule 1.
Children who were not “looked after” immediately before being adopted, or made
the subject of a child arrangement order or special guardianship order, will not be
prioritised under rule 1. Applications made for these children, with suitable supporting
professional evidence, can be considered under rule 2.
¹ Child arrangements order
Under the provisions of the Children and Families Act 2014, which amended
section 8 of the Children Act 1989, residence orders have now been replaced by
child arrangements orders which settle the arrangements to be made as to the
person with whom the child is to live.
² Special guardianship order
Under 14A of The Children Act 1989, an order appointing one or more individuals
to be a child’s special guardian or guardians.
³ This definition has been amended in accordance with paragraph 1.7 (footnote 17)
of the School Admissions Code that came into force on 19 December 2014.

Rule 2: Children for whom it can be demonstrated that they have a particular
medical or social need to go to the school
Rule 2 applications will only be considered at the time of the initial application, unless
there has been a significant and exceptional change of circumstances within the
family since the initial application was submitted.
All schools in Hertfordshire have
experience
in Page
dealing 83
with children with diverse
Agenda
Pack
1

Appendix Aiii

social and medical needs. However in a few very exceptional cases, there are
reasons why a child has to go to one specific school.
Few applications under Rule 2 are agreed.
Applications for children adopted but previously looked after abroad will be considered
under this rule and accepted if the child’s previously looked status and adoption is
confirmed. Hertfordshire’s “Virtual School” will be asked to verify all such applications.
All applications are considered individually but a successful application should include
the following:
a. Evidence that the child has been adopted and was previously looked after
abroad
OR
b. Specific recent professional evidence that justifies why only one school can
meet a child’s individual needs, and/or
c.

Professional evidence that outlines exceptional family circumstances
making clear why only one school can meet he child’s needs.

d.

If the requested school is not the nearest school to the child’s home
address clear reasons why the nearest school is not appropriate.

e.

For medical cases – a clear explanation of why the child’s severity of
illness or disability makes attendance at only a specific school essential.

Evidence should make clear why only one school is appropriate.
Applications under Rule 2 can only be considered when supported by a recent letter
from a professional involved with the child or family, for example a doctor,
psychologist or police officer. The supporting evidence needs to demonstrate why
only one named school can meet the social/medical needs of the child.
Applications for children previously “looked after” but not meeting the specific criteria
outlined in Rule 1, may be made under this rule.
Further details on the Rule 2 process can be found in the Rule 2 protocol.

Definition of sibling
For applications to schools using Hertfordshire County Council's admission criteria, a
sibling is defined as: the sister, brother, half brother or sister, adopted brother or
sister, child of the parent/carer or partner or a child looked after or previously looked
after¹ and in every case living permanently² in a placement within the home as part
of the family household from Monday to Friday at the time of this application.
A sibling must be on the roll of the named school at the time the younger child
starts or have been offered and accepted a place.
If a place is obtained for an older child using fraudulent information, there will be
no sibling connection available to subsequent children from that family.
¹ Children previously looked after are those children adopted or with a special
guardianship order or child arrangements order. This definition was amended
following a determination by the OSA in August 2014.
² A sibling link will not be recognised for children living temporarily in the same house,
for example a child who usually lives with one parent but has temporarily moved or a
Pack Page
84short term or bridging foster
looked after child inAgenda
a respite placement
or very
2

Appendix Aiii

placement.

Multiple births
Hertfordshire County Council (HCC), as the admission authority will admit over the
school’s published admission number when a single twin/multiple birth child is
allocated the last place at a school. Where we are not the admitting authority we
would request the school take in the subsequent child(ren) in line with the school’s
own admission arrangements.

Home address
The address provided must be the child’s current permanent address at the time of
application. ‘At the time of application’ means the closing date for applications.
“Permanent” means that the child has lived at that address for at least a year
and/or the family own the property or have a tenancy agreement for a minimum of
12 months.
The application can only be processed using one address. If a child lives at more
than one address (for example due to a separation) the address used will be the one
which the child lives at for the majority of the time. If a child lives at two addresses
equally, the address of the parent/carer that claims Child Benefit/Child Tax Credit will
be considered as the child’s main residence.
If a family is not in receipt of Child Benefit/Tax Credit alternative documentation will be
requested.
If a child’s residence is in dispute, parents/carers should provide court
documentation to evidence the address that should be used for admission allocation
purposes.
If two different applications are received for the same child from the same address,
e.g. containing different preferences, the application from the parent in receipt of child
benefit will be processed if the applications cannot be reconciled.

Fraudulent applications
Hertfordshire County Council will do as much as possible to prevent applications
being made from fraudulent addresses, including referring cases to the Shared AntiFraud service for further investigation as necessary.
Address evidence is frequently requested, monitored and checked and school
places will be withdrawn when false information is deliberately provided.
Hertfordshire County Council will take action in the following circumstances:


When a child’s application address does not match the address of that child
at their current school;



When a child lives at a different address to the applicant;



When the applicant does not have parental responsibility;



When a family move shortly after the closing date of applications when one
or more of the following applies:


The family has moved
to a property
from which
Agenda
Pack Page
85 their application was
3

Appendix Aiii

less likely to be successful;





The family has returned to an existing property;



The family lived in rented accommodation for a short period of time
(anything less than a year) over the application period;



Official/public records show an alternative address at the time of the
application

When a child starts at the allocated school and their address is different
from the address used at the time of application.

Parents/carers will need to show that they have relinquished residency ties with their
previous property and they, and their child(ren) are permanently residing at the address
given on the application form.

Home to school distance measurement for purposes of admissions
A ‘straight line’ distance measurement is used in all home to school distance
measurements for community and VC schools in Hertfordshire. Distances are
measured using a computerised mapping system to two decimal places. The
measurement is taken from the AddressBase Premium address point of your child’s
house to the address point of the school. AddressBase Premium data is a nationally
recognised method of identifying the location of schools and individual residences.

Definition of “nearest school” for secondary/upper admissions
For coeducational community schools, the “nearest school” definition for rule 4 is “the
nearest Hertfordshire maintained school or academy that is non-faith, co-educational,
and non-partially selective.
Note – non-partially selective means that the school does not offer any places
based on academic ability.
Coeducational schools/academies which select partially on ability are:






Dame Alice Owen’s School
Parmiter’s School
Queens’ School
Rickmansworth School
St Clement Danes School

For all coeducational community schools this definition applies to rule 4.

Definition of “nearest school” for primary/junior/middle admissions
The definition of “nearest school” includes all schools and academies (regardless of
status) unless that school or academy prioritises applications and allocates places on
the basis of faith.

Agenda Pack Page 86
4

Appendix Aiii

Applications from children* from overseas
All children of compulsory school age (5 to 16 years) in England have a right of
access to education. However, where a child is in England for a short period only,
for example less than half a term, it may be reasonable to refuse admission to a
school.
An application for a school place will only be accepted for such children currently
overseas if, for In Year applications, proof is provided that the child will be resident
in Hertfordshire within two weeks. In Year allocations are made on the assumption
that the child will accept the school place and be on roll within that timescale.
For the Primary and Secondary transfer processes, applications will not normally
be accepted from, nor places allocated to, an overseas address. The exception to
this (for both In Year and transfer processes) is for children of UK service
personnel and crown servants (and from military families who are residents of
countries with a Memorandum of Understanding with the UK). In these cases HCC
will allocate a place in advance of the family arriving in the area provided the
application is accompanied by an official letter that declares a relocation date and
a HCC Unit postal address or quartering area address, for consideration of the
application against oversubscription criteria
Applications will also be considered, and places offered in advance for these
families, if the application is accompanied by an official letter that declares a
relocation date but does not provide a quartering or unit address because the family
will be residing in private accommodation. In these cases, if the family does not
already have a permanent private address in Hertfordshire, the military base or
alternative “work” address in Hertfordshire will be used for allocation purposes. If
the family already has an established alternative private address, that address will
be used for admission purposes.
HCC will also consider accepting applications from children* whose family can
evidence intent to return to and/or permanently reside in Hertfordshire prior to the
start of the new academic year. These applications, if accepted, will be processed
from the overseas address until sufficient evidence is received to show the child is
permanently resident in Hertfordshire. Evidence must be submitted at the time of
application.
Evidence submitted after the date for late applications (4 December 2018 for
secondary transfer and 1 February 2019 for the Under 11s process) cannot be taken
into account before National Allocation Day. Decisions on these applications will be
made by a panel of senior officers and communicated with parents within 6 weeks
of the closing date for applications.
If an applicant owns a property in Hertfordshire but is not living in it, perhaps
because they are working abroad at the time of application, the Hertfordshire
address will not be accepted for the purposes of admission until the child is
resident at that address.
Other children, than those mentioned above, from overseas do not generally have
automatic right of entry to the UK. An application for a school place will not therefore
be accepted until they are permanently resident in Hertfordshire. Proof of residency
such as an endorsed passport or entry visa will be required with the application, in
addition to proof of Hertfordshire address, for example a council tax bill or 12 month
rental agreement.
*Children who hold full British Citizen passports (not British Dependent Territories or
British Overseas passports), or have a UK passport describing them as a British
citizen or British subject with theAgenda
right of abode
or are
European
Pack
Page
87 Economic Area
5

Appendix Aiii

nationals normally have unrestricted entry to the UK.

Age of Admission and Deferral of Places
Hertfordshire County Council’s policy is that children born on and between 1
September 2015 and 31 August 2016* would normally commence primary school in
Reception in the academic year beginning in September 2020. All Hertfordshire
infant, first and primary schools provide for the full- time admission of all children
offered a place in the Reception year group from the September following their
fourth birthday. If a parent wants a full-time place for their child from September (at
the school at which a place has been offered) then they are entitled to that full-time
place.
Parents can defer the date their child is admitted to school until later in the same
academic year or until the term in which the child reaches compulsory school age.
Summer born children are only able to “defer” entry to Reception class until the
beginning of the final term of the school year for which the offer was made.
Where parents wish, children can attend part-time until they reach compulsory school
age. Any parents wishing to take up a part-time place or deferred entry should
contact the individual school(s) to discuss their child’s requirements.
*Summer born children (1st April – 31st August) – Entry to Reception
Legally, a child does not have to start school until the start of the term following their
fifth birthday. Children born between 1 April 2015 and 31 August 2016 are
categorised as “summer born” and if parents/carers do not believe that their
summer born child is ready to join Reception in 2020 they should contact the home
LA, and any own admission authority schools, for guidance before making an
application.
Summer born applications that are delayed for a year (for entry in September 2021)
will be processed in exactly the same way as all other reception applications
received at that time; there is no guarantee that a place will be offered at a child’s
preferred school.
If parents wish to delay their application for a Reception place they are advised
to discuss their child’s needs/development with their current early years or nursery
provider. If parents wish their child to remain in their existing nursery school or class
for a further year (rather than moving into the Reception year group) they must let
their current school know before the end of the Spring term in 2020 (before the
Easter break).

Children Out of Year Group (except applications for reception from summer
born)
Hertfordshire County Council’s policy is for children to be educated within their
correct chronological year group, with the curriculum differentiated as necessary to
meet the needs of individual children. This is in line with DfE guidance which states
that “in general, children should be educated in their normal age group”.
If parents/carers believe their child(ren) should be educated in a different year group
they should, at the time of application, submit supporting evidence from relevant
professionals working
with the
childPage
and family
Agenda
Pack
88 stating why the child must be
6

Appendix Aiii

placed outside their normal age appropriate cohort. DfE guidance makes clear that
“it is reasonable for admission authorities to expect parents to provide them with
information in support of their request – since without it they are unlikely to be able
to make a decision on the basis of the circumstances of the case”.
For community and voluntary controlled schools, the county council as the relevant
admission authority, through a panel process, will decide whether the application will
be accepted on the basis of the information submitted. The panel make decisions
based upon the circumstances of each case including the view of parents, the relevant
headteacher(s), the child's social, academic and emotional development and whether
the child has been previously educated out of year group. There is no guarantee
that an application will be accepted on this basis. If the application is not accepted
this does not constitute a refusal of a place and there is no right to an independent
statutory appeal. Similarly there is no right of appeal for a place in a specific year
group at a school. The internal management and organisation of a school, including
the placement of pupils in classes, is a matter for the Headteacher and senior
leadership of individual schools.
The governing body of schools responsible for their own admissions (academies,
voluntary aided and foundation schools) are ultimately responsible for making this
decision for applications made to their school.

Nursery Provision
Some schools have a nursery unit or deliver pre-school nursery education.
The admission arrangements detailed in this document do not apply for those
being admitted into any nursery or pre-school provision. The responsibility for
admission into nursery provision lies with the governing body of the school which
offers such provision.
Parents of children who are admitted to a nursery provision at a school must apply
in the normal way for a place at the school if they want their child to transfer to the
reception class. Attendance at the nursery or co-located children’s centre does not
guarantee admission to the school.

Agenda Pack Page 89
7

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX B

The admission into school of children previously in state
care outside of England
On 4 December 2017, the Minister of State for School Standards wrote to all local authorities and
admission authorities about giving priority in their oversubscription criteria to children who have
previously been in state care outside of England, and have ceased to be in state care as a result of
being adopted. This advice has been produced to help admission authorities implement this.

Key points


School admission authorities are currently required to give looked after children1 and
previously looked after children2 highest priority in their oversubscription criteria3. On 4
December 2017, the Minister announced that when the opportunity arises he intends to
amend the School Admissions Code (the Code) to ensure that children who were previously
in state care outside of England, and have ceased to be in state care as a result of being
adopted, also receive the same highest priority for admission into a school in England.



Until such a time, however, the Minister wishes admission authorities to introduce
oversubscription criteria to give these children second highest priority for admission into
school. Any changes to admission arrangements will need to be consulted upon in the
normal way.



By children previously in state care outside of England, we mean children who have been
looked after outside of England by a public authority, a religious organisation or another
provider of care whose sole purpose is to benefit society. The care may have been provided
in orphanages or other settings.



Admission authorities must ensure that they apply their oversubscription criteria fairly and
lawfully. In the case of children adopted from state care overseas, admission authorities will
want to satisfy themselves that a child is eligible by asking the child’s parents for appropriate
evidence of their previously looked-after status.

A 'looked after child' is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority in England or (b) being provided with
accommodation by a local authority in England in the exercise of their social services functions (see the
definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989).
2 Previously looked after children are children who were looked after, but ceased to be so because they were
adopted (or became subject to a child arrangements order or special guardianship order).
3 Admission authorities for schools designated with a religious character may give priority to looked after and
previously looked after children whether or not of the faith, but they must give priority to looked after and
previously looked after children of the faith, before other children of the faith.
1

Agenda Pack Page 91

Issued: August 2018



As state care systems around the world vary greatly, some having more formal
arrangements than others, the evidence provided by parents may vary. Admission
authorities should take a pragmatic approach and be flexible in terms of what evidence they
require from parents. Where parents are, for good reason, unable to provide clear evidence
of their child’s previously looked after status, admission authorities will need to use their
professional judgement and common sense in deciding whether a child should be regarded
as adopted from state care overseas.



Admission authorities may find it helpful to work with other admission authorities in the area,
the local authority and local Virtual School Heads to agree a consistent approach.

The admission of looked after and previously looked after
children
Looked after and previously looked after children are amongst the most vulnerable in our society.
We know that the vast majority of children taken into local authority care have experienced abuse or
neglect and therefore require additional support. Wherever possible, they should be admitted to the
school which is best able to meet their needs.
School admission authorities have been required to give looked after children highest priority in their
oversubscription criteria since 2007. In 2012, this priority was extended to previously looked after
children. Our intention was to ensure that all children who receive highest priority whilst looked after
by the local authority continue to receive that priority once they have left care.
The Minister has now also decided that when the opportunity arises, he intends to propose further
changes to the Code to ensure that children who were previously in state care outside of England,
and leave that care as a result of being adopted, also receive highest priority for admission into a
school in England. This is because we believe such children are also vulnerable and may have
experienced abuse and neglect prior to being adopted. We believe it is right that we put these
children on an equal footing for the purposes of admission into school to those children who are
looked after and previously looked after by a local authority in England.
We are committed to making this change; however, any changes to the Code are subject to
consultation and the will of Parliament.
Nevertheless, and until changes can be made to the Code, we are keen to ensure that such children
are given the highest possible priority for school admission as soon as possible. This is why, in
December last year, the Minister wrote to all local authorities and admission authorities encouraging
them to use their discretion when setting school admission arrangements, to give these children
second highest admissions priority in their oversubscription criteria, until the relevant changes can
be made to the Code. Annex A contains advice on how this can be implemented. Any changes to
school admission arrangements will need to be consulted upon in the normal way.

Agenda Pack Page 92

2

Children previously in state care outside of England
The number of children in the school system who were previously in some form of state care outside
of England is small. However, the vast majority of those children will be moving onto the secondary
phase of their education in the next few years. Admission authorities are encouraged to introduce a
priority for such children in their admission arrangements now so that it provides the maximum
benefit possible for the time being for the children concerned.
It should be borne in mind that such children are also eligible for support from the local Virtual
School Head4.

Determining eligibility
We recognise that it is not always easy to establish that a child was in state care outside of England
and we are aware that some admission authorities have concerns about how best to determine this.
Currently, it is for school admission authorities to check and, where necessary, request evidence
from parents to demonstrate their child is eligible for priority under a particular oversubscription
criterion. Similarly, admission authorities will want to satisfy themselves that a child is eligible for
admissions priority by asking parents for evidence of the child’s adoption from state care outside
England.
The arrangements for looking after children who cannot be cared for by their birth parents vary
enormously and, in many countries, are less formal than in England and with less written evidence.
In light of this, we encourage admission authorities to be pragmatic and flexible in terms of what
evidence they require from parents.
The vast majority of families who have adopted children from outside of England will have some
form of paperwork to evidence this e.g. a UK adoption order or a copy of the adoption order from the
child’s country of origin. These may not necessarily contain information about the child’s
background and whether the child was previously in state care. Where parents are, for good reason,
unable to provide clear evidence of their child’s previously looked after status, admission authorities
will need to use their professional judgement and common sense to decide whether the child should
be treated as having that status.
We also consider it important that there is local consistency in decision-making, so that parents
know that the schools in their area, who are operating this priority, will reach the same conclusion
about the status of any particular child. Admission authorities may find it helpful to work with other
admission authorities in the area, the local authority and the local Virtual School Head to agree a
consistent approach. They may also find it helpful to work with Virtual School Heads from nearby
local authorities, particularly where children are applying for school places across local area
boundaries.

4 Section 23ZZA of the Children Act 1989 (inserted by Section 4 of the Children and Social Work Act 2017)
places a duty on local authorities to promote the educational achievement of children previously in care
outside of England and Wales, which include those who were in the care of, or were accommodated by, a
public authority, a religious organisation or other provider of care whose sole purpose is to benefit society.

Agenda Pack Page 93

3

Annex A
Example of how priority for children previously in state care outside of England can be
written into oversubscription criteria, until the relevant changes can be made to the
School Admissions Code
Oversubscription Criterion 1: Looked after children and children who were previously looked after
but immediately after being looked after became subject to adoption, a child arrangements order,
or special guardianship order.1
Oversubscription Criterion 2: Children who appear [to the admission authority of the school] to
have been in state care outside of England and ceased to be in state care as a result of being
adopted.2
Oversubscription Criterion 3: xxx
Oversubscription Criterion 4: xxx
Oversubscription Criterion 5: xxx
Oversubscription Criterion 6: xxx

1A

looked after child is a child who is in the care of a local authority in England, or is being provided with
accommodation by a local authority in England in the exercise of their social services functions.

2A

child is regarded as having been in state care in a place outside of England if they were accommodated
by a public authority, a religious organisation or any other provider of care whose sole purpose is to benefit
society.

© Crown copyright 2018

Agenda Pack Page 94

4

Appendix C

Rule 2: Medical or Social
Children for whom it can be demonstrated that they have a particular medical or
social need to go to the school, this includes children previously from abroad
who were cared for by the state because he or she would not otherwise have
been cared for adequately and subsequently adopted.
A panel of officers will determine whether the evidence provided is sufficiently
compelling to meet the requirements for this rule. The evidence must relate
specifically to the school applied for under Rule 2 and must clearly demonstrate
why it is the only school that can meet the child’s needs.
Definition
Rule 2 applications will only be considered at the time of the initial application,
unless there has been a significant and exceptional change of circumstances
within the family since the initial application was submitted.
All schools in Hertfordshire have experience in dealing with children with diverse
social and medical needs. However in a few very exceptional cases, there are
reasons why a child has to go to one specific school.
Few applications under Rule 2 are agreed.
Applications for children adopted but previously looked after abroad will be
considered under this rule and accepted if the child’s previously looked status
and adoption is confirmed. Hertfordshire’s “Virtual School” will be asked to
verify all such applications.
All applications are considered individually but a successful application should include
the following:
a. Evidence that the child was previously cared for by the state abroad
because he or she would not otherwise have been cared for
adequately and has been subsequently adopted .
OR
b. Specific recent professional evidence that justifies why only one school
can meet a child’s individual needs, and/or
c.

Professional evidence that outlines exceptional family circumstances
making clear why only one school can meet he child’s needs.

d.

If the requested school is not the nearest school to the child’s home
address clear reasons why the nearest school is not appropriate.

e.

For medical cases – a clear explanation of why the child’s severity of
illness or disability makes attendance at only a specific school essential.

Evidence should make clear why only one school is appropriate. Applications
under Rule 2 can only be considered when supported by a recent letter from a
professional involved with the child or family, for example a doctor, psychologist
or police officer. The supporting evidence needs to demonstrate why only one
named school can meet the social/medical needs of the child.

Agenda Pack Page 95

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix D

Extracts from Hertfordshire County Council’s Coordinated Scheme of Admission
for Primary schools
The proposed new text is in italics below. The same text is proposed for
secondary schools but with amended dates to align with the secondary transfer
process.
Late applications
1.

After on time applications have been dealt with and preferences allocated,
late applications that can be allocated a ranked school will be processed.
Finally, all Hertfordshire children whether on time or late who were not able
to have a preference satisfied through the iterative process will be allocated a
school place.

2.

Applications that are received late (after 15 January but before 16 April (exact
date in April to be specified in admissions information published by 12
September 2019) will be allocated a place on national allocation day (16 April
2020). These applications will then be considered as “on time” for the first run
of continuing interest.

3.

All other late applications will be considered at the second run of continuing
interest

Co-ordination after allocation day (16 April)
4.

The School Admissions Code (page 37 “The Admissions Timeline”) clarifies
that parents must continue to apply to their home local authority for “late”
applications for the normal admissions round (i.e. between 16 April and 31
August for reception places and junior/middle transfer). This will ensure that
places which become available are re-allocated effectively and duplicate
offers are avoided.

5.

By 2 May Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) will request that parents
resident in Hertfordshire accept or decline the offer of a place. Any information
relating to the acceptance or the decline of places will be forwarded to the
relevant maintaining LA. Where such information is received from parents
between 2 May and 31 August HCC will pass it to the maintaining LA as it is
received.

6.

After places have been offered, HCC will maintain c o n t i n u i n g i n t e r e s t
( CI) lists for all community and voluntary controlled schools. Voluntary
aided, foundation schools and academies will maintain their own lists unless
HCC has agreed to manage CI on the school’s behalf. A child’s position on
a CI list will be determined by the admission criteria for the school
concerned. All children with an unsatisfied higher preference will
automatically be placed on CI for any community or voluntary controlled
schools.

Agenda Pack Page 97

Appendix D
7.

All schools in Hertfordshire will continue to fully coordinate admissions
throughout the continuing interest process with all applications and offers
made by the LA. Cooperation between admission authorities will ensure that
each child is offered only one school and that school is the highest preference
that can be offered.

8.

Two county wide coordinated continuing interest “runs” will take place (one in
May and one in June (exact dates tbc).

9.

For the first run of continuing interest schools and academies in Hertfordshire
either:
(a) Reconsider all applications from pupils who were offered a place on 16

April OR
(b) Reconsider all applications from pupils offered a place on 16 April as well
as all late/new applications received prior to the deadline for the first CI
run.

10. At the second run of continuing interest all schools and academies will

consider all late/new applications equally (including those from parents/carers
who did not initially rank the school on the secondary transfer form) alongside
remaining ontime applicants

11. Children wishing to remain on CI after the summer term (date to be

specified) must make an In Year application to retain their ‘continued
interest’ in a place at the relevant school(s).

Agenda Pack Page 98

Admissions Consultation 2020-21 - Primary Community and VC schools

HCC no DfE No

School

APPENDIX E

School Category

Town/village

Determined
2019 PAN
including any
local
agreements
(if different)

Proposed
2020 PAN

776

9192000 Abbots Langley

Community

Abbots Langley

60

60

780

9192147 Tanners Wood JMI

Community

Abbots Langley

60

60

925

9193000 Aldbury C of E Primary

Voluntary Controlled

Aldbury

15

15

240

9192223 Anstey First

Community

Anstey

10

10

51

9192002 Ashwell Primary

Community

Ashwell

30

30

5

9192994 Hartsfield JMI

Community

Baldock

60

60

3

9193004 St Mary's Infant

Voluntary Controlled

Baldock

60

60

2

9193005 St Mary's JM

Voluntary Controlled

Baldock

60

60

262

9193007 Bayford (C of E) VC Primary

Voluntary Controlled

Bayford

15

15

194

9193009 Benington C of E Primary

Voluntary Controlled

Benington

16

16

923

9194144 Bridgewater Primary School

Community

Berkhamsted

60

60

921

9192326 Greenway Primary and Nursery School

Community

Berkhamsted

30

30

919

9192301 Swing Gate Infant School and Nursery

Community

Berkhamsted

60

60

918

9192288 Westfield Primary School and Nursery

Community

Berkhamsted

30

30

216

9192387 Hillmead JMI

Community

Bishop's Stortford

30

30

219

9192443 Richard Whittington Primary (The)

Community

Bishop's Stortford

45

45

211

9192242 Thorley Hill Primary

Community

Bishop's Stortford

30

30

215

9192327 Thorn Grove Primary

Community

Bishop's Stortford

30

30

615

9192030 Cowley Hill Primary

Community

Borehamwood

60

60

617

9192155 Kenilworth Primary School

Community

Borehamwood

30

30

614

9192224 Monksmead

Community

Borehamwood

30

30

620

9192181 Saffron Green Primary

Community

Borehamwood

30

30

613

9192154 Summerswood Primary

Community

Borehamwood

60

60

616

9192153 Woodlands Primary School

Community

Borehamwood

30

30

826

9192041 Boxmoor Primary

Community

Boxmoor

30

30

231

9192011 Jenyns First School

Community

Braughing

21

15

61

9192064 Breachwood Green JMI

Community

Breachwood
Green

15

15

232

9193011 Layston C of E First

Voluntary Controlled

Buntingford

30

30

230

9192386 Millfield First & Nursery School

Community

Buntingford

60

60

675

9193012 Ashfield Junior

Voluntary Controlled

Bushey

60

60

683

9192360 Bournehall JMI

Community

Bushey

30

30

736

9192117 Bushey & Oxhey Infant

Community

Bushey

60

60

677

9192261 Bushey Manor Junior

Community

Bushey

60

60

679

9192013 Highwood Primary

Community

Bushey

60

60

676

9192014 Merry Hill Infant & Nursery

Community

Bushey

60

60

678

9192012 Bushey Heath Primary

Community

Bushey Heath

30

30

774

9192131 St Meryl JMI

Community

Carpenders Park

30

30

372

9192375 Andrew's Lane Primary

Community

Cheshunt

30

30

363

9192467 Bonneygrove County Primary

Community

Cheshunt

60

60

366

9192317 Brookland Infant and Nursery

Community

Cheshunt

90

90

Agenda Pack Page 99
Page 1 of 7

Comments

Proposed PAN reduction.

365

9192250 Brookland Junior

Community

Cheshunt

90

90

360

9192468 Burleigh Primary

Community

Cheshunt

60

60

359

9193053 Dewhurst St Mary C of E Primary

Voluntary Controlled

Cheshunt

30

30

367

9192289 Downfield JMI

Community

Cheshunt

60

60

377

9192424 Fairfields Primary & Nursery

Community

Cheshunt

60

60

354

9192997 Millbrook

Community

Cheshunt

30

30

686

9192019 Chorleywood Primary

Community

Chorleywood

30

30

689

9192025 Russell (The)

Community

Chorleywood

30

30

54

9193013 Codicote C of E Primary VC

Voluntary Controlled

Codicote

30

30

454

9192102 Colney Heath JMI

Community

Colney Heath

30

30

694

9192082 Harvey Road Primary

Community

Croxley Green

30

30

696

9192083 Little Green Junior

Community

Croxley Green

90

90

697

9192084 Malvern Way Infant & Nursery

Community

Croxley Green

90

90

695

9192079 Yorke Mead Primary

Community

Croxley Green

60

60

319

9193032 Little Munden CE Voluntary Controlled Primary

Voluntary Controlled

Dane End

15

15

560

9193015 Essendon C.of E. VC Primary

Voluntary Controlled

Essendon

15

15

908

9192031 Flamstead

Community

Flamstead

15

15

237

9193016 Furneux Pelham C of E

Voluntary Controlled

Furneux Pelham

20

20

905

9192032 Gaddesden Row JMI

Community

Gaddesden Row

8

8

713

9192433 Coates Way JMI and Nursery

Community

Garston

30

30

755

9192395 Kingsway Infant

Community

Garston

60

60

734

9192133 Kingsway Junior

Community

Garston

60

60

355

9192263 Goffs Oak Junior Mixed Infants and Nursery School

Community

Goffs Oak

30

30

374

9192401 Woodside Primary

Community

Goffs Oak

30

30

196

9193018 Graveley Primary

Voluntary Controlled

Graveley

16

16

157

9192365 Round Diamond Primary

Community

Great Ashby

60

60

492

9192336 Grove Infant & Nursery (The)

Community

Harpenden

90

90

491

9192299 Grove Junior (The)

Community

Harpenden

90

90

487

9192437 High Beeches Primary

Community

Harpenden

60

60

484

9192412 Lea Primary (The)

Community

Harpenden

30

30

485

9192034 Manland Primary

Community

Harpenden

30

30

490

9192203 Roundwood Primary

Community

Harpenden

45

45

488

9192033 Sauncey Wood Primary

Community

Harpenden

30

30

493

9192457 Wood End School

Community

Harpenden

60

60

575
581

9192007 Birchwood Avenue Primary
9193982 De Havilland Primary

Community
Community

Hatfield
Hatfield

30
60

30
60

571

9192039 Green Lanes Primary

Community

Hatfield

60

60

579

9192225 Howe Dell Primary

Community

Hatfield

60

60

585
577

9193989 Oak View Primary & Nursery
9192391 Ryde (The)

Community
Community

Hatfield
Hatfield

60
30

60
30

867

9192426 Aycliffe Drive Primary

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

45

45

832

9192466 Belswains Primary

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

30

30

Agenda Pack Page 100
Page 2 of 7

872

9192448 Brockswood Primary

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

30

30

840

9192193 Chaulden Infants' and Nursery

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

50

50

855

9192274 Gade Valley JMI and Nursery

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

30

30

859

9193990 Galley Hill Primary and Nursery School

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

60

60

825

9192040 George Street Primary

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

30

30

836

9192469 Hobbs Hill Wood Primary

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

60

60

835

9192184 Hobletts Manor Infant & Nursery

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

60

60

834

9192023 Hobletts Manor Junior

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

60

60

869

9192995 Holtsmere End Infant and Nursery

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

60

60

868

9192427 Holtsmere End Junior

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

60

60

864

9193987 Maple Grove Primary

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

30

30

844

9192243 Micklem Primary

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

30

30

857

9192293 Pixies Hill JMI

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

30

30

846

9192251 Reddings Primary (The)

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

30

30

833

9192047 South Hill Primary

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

60

60

829

9192045 Tudor JMI & Nursery

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

60

60

828

9192044 Two Waters Primary

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

30

30

863

9193988 Yewtree Primary

Community

Hemel
Hempstead

60

60

249

9192050 Abel Smith

Community

Hertford

30

30

252

9192462 Bengeo Primary

Community

Hertford

60

60

254

9193025 Hertford St Andrews Cof E Primary

Voluntary Controlled

Hertford

30

30

258

9192304 Hollybush Primary

Community

Hertford

30

30

259

9192362 Mill Mead

Community

Hertford

30

30

256

9192464 Morgans JMI

Community

Hertford

60

60

261

9192414 Wheatcroft Primary

Community

Hertford

45

45

267

9192072 Hertford Heath JMI

Community

Hertford Heath

30

30

56

9192053 Hexton JMI

Community

Hexton

10

10

234

9193026 High Wych C of E Primary

Voluntary Controlled

High Wych

30

30

37

9192055 Highbury Infant School & Nursery

Community

Hitchin

60

60

38

9192057 Highover JMI

Community

Hitchin

60

60

48

9192415 Mary Exton JMI

Community

Hitchin

30

30

43

9192026 Oughton Primary and Nursery School

Community

Hitchin

30

30

42

9192229 Purwell Primary

Community

Hitchin

30

30

35

9192428 Samuel Lucas JMI

Community

Hitchin

60

60

Agenda Pack Page 101
Page 3 of 7

40

9192056 Strathmore Infant and Nursery

Community

Hitchin

60

60

46

9192287 Whitehill Junior

Community

Hitchin

60

60

47

9192392 William Ransom Primary (The)

Community

Hitchin

60

60

292

9192339 Forres Primary

Community

Hoddesdon

60

60

290

9192452 Sheredes Primary

Community

Hoddesdon

60

60

285

9193978 St Catherine's VC CE Primary

Voluntary Controlled

Hoddesdon

60

60

288

9192314 Westfield Community Primary

Community

Hoddesdon

30

30

318

9192061 Hunsdon JMI

Community

Hunsdon

15

15

58

9193030 Ickleford Primary

Voluntary Controlled

Ickleford

30

30

60

9192062 Kimpton Primary

Community

Kimpton

30

30

910

9192338 Kings Langley Primary

Community

Kings Langley

60

60

197

9192066 Knebworth Primary

Community

Knebworth

60

60

740

9192407 Leavesden JMI School

Community

Leavesden

60

60

17

9192069 Hillshott Infant School & Nursery

Community

Letchworth

60

60

20

9192165 Icknield Infant and Nursery

Community

Letchworth

90

90

14

9192416 Lordship Farm Primary

Community

Letchworth

60

60

22

9192228 Northfields Infant & Nursery

Community

Letchworth

60

60

16

9192300 Pixmore Junior

Community

Letchworth

60

60

8

9192442 Stonehill

Community

Letchworth

30

30

853

9193054 Leverstock Green C of E Primary

Voluntary Controlled

Leverstock Green

30

30

239

9192073 Little Hadham Primary

Community

Little Hadham

20

20

72

9192146 Wymondley JMI

Community

Little Wymondley

15

15

453

9192166 Bowmansgreen Primary

Community

London Colney

60

60

452

9192103 London Colney JMI

Community

London Colney

30

30

907

9192074 Markyate Village School & Nursery

Community

Markyate

45

45

562

9193020 Ponsbourne St Mary's C of E VC Primary

Voluntary Controlled

Newgate Street

13

13

703

9192266 Eastbury Farm JMI & Nursery

Community

Northwood

45

45

466

9192252 How Wood Primary

Community

Park Street

30

30

65

9192077 Pirton School

Community

Pirton

21

21

926

9193049 Potten End C of E Primary School

Voluntary Controlled

Potten End

30

30

661

9192982 Ladbrooke JMI

Community

Potters Bar

30

30

657

9192985 Oakmere Primary

Community

Potters Bar

60

60

66

9193034 Preston Primary (VC)

Voluntary Controlled

Preston

15

15

322

9193039 Roger de Clare C of E (V C) First and Nursery

Voluntary Controlled

Puckeridge

60

60

789
785
451

9192378 Newberries Primary
9193003 St John's C of E Infant and Nursery
9192253 Redbourn Primary

Community
Voluntary Controlled
Community

Radlett
Radlett
Redbourn

30
60
60

30
60
60

67

9192078 Reed First

Community

Reed

12

12

699

9192022 Shepherd JMI and Nursey

Community

Rickmansworth

60

30

707

9192348 Arnett Hills JMI

Community

Rickmansworth

30

30

706

9192308 Maple Cross JMI

Community

Rickmansworth

30

30

708

9192379 Rickmansworth Park JMI

Community

Rickmansworth

30

30

82

9192331 Icknield Walk First School

Community

Royston

60

60

86

9192421 Roman Way First

Community

Royston

60

60

85

9192417 Studlands Rise First

Community

Royston

30

30

Agenda Pack Page 102
Page 4 of 7

Proposed PAN reduction

83

9192085 Tannery Drift

Community

Royston

60

60

69

9192105 Sandon JMI

Community

Sandon

15

15

458

9192106 Sandridge School

Community

Sandridge

30

30

787

9193037 Sarratt C of E

Voluntary Controlled

Sarratt

26

26

222

9192107 Fawbert & Barnard Infant's

Community

Sawbridgeworth

60

60

221

9192380 Mandeville Primary

Community

Sawbridgeworth

30

30

224

9192333 Reedings Junior

Community

Sawbridgeworth

60

60

611

9192108 Shenley Primary

Community

Shenley

45

45

773

9192177 Greenfields JMI & Nursery

Community

South Oxhey

30

30

768

9192178 Woodhall School

Community

South Oxhey

30

30

223

9193038 Spellbrook Primary

Voluntary Controlled

Spellbrook

15

15

431

9192168 Margaret Wix Primary

Community

St Albans

60

30

423

9192098 Aboyne Lodge

Community

St Albans

30

30

417

9192090 Bernards Heath Infant

Community

St Albans

90

90

416

9192100 Bernards Heath Junior

Community

St Albans

90

90

418

9192091 Camp Primary and Nursery

Community

St Albans

30

30

437

9192332 Cunningham Hill Infant

Community

St Albans

60

60

436

9192280 Cunningham Hill JM

Community

St Albans

60

60

422

9192095 Garden Fields JMI

Community

St Albans

90

90

455

9193992 Killigrew Primary and Nursery

Community

St Albans

60

60

438

9192364 Maple School

Community

St Albans

30

30

434

9192227 Oakwood Primary

Community

St Albans

45

45

440

9192393 Prae Wood Primary

Community

St Albans

60

60

462

9192258 Skyswood Primary

Community

St Albans

30

30

426

9192096 St Peter's

Community

St Albans

30

30

464

9192311 Wheatfields Infants'

Community

St Albans

90

90

463

9192206 Wheatfields JM

Community

St Albans

90

90

435

9192219 Windermere JMI

Community

St Albans

30

30

323

9193040 St Andrew's C of E (V C) Primary

Voluntary Controlled

Stanstead
Abbotts

30

30

121

9192226 Almond Hill Junior

Community

Stevenage

90

90

145

9192451 Ashtree Primary

Community

Stevenage

60

60

127

9192188 Bedwell Primary

Community

Stevenage

45

45

135

9192005 Featherstone Wood Primary School and Nursery

Community

Stevenage

30

30

159

9192381 Giles Junior

Community

Stevenage

90

90

160

9192394 Giles Nursery and Infant's School

Community

Stevenage

90

90

122

9192109 Letchmore Infants' and Nursery School

Community

Stevenage

90

90

162

9192465 Leys Primary & Nursery School (The)

Community

Stevenage

75

75

141

9192008 Lodge Farm Primary

Community

Stevenage

60

60

Agenda Pack Page 103
Page 5 of 7

Proposed PAN reduction

137

9193983 Longmeadow Primary

Community

Stevenage

60

60

155

9192341 Martins Wood Primary

Community

Stevenage

90

90

150

9192312 Moss Bury Primary School & Nursery

Community

Stevenage

45

45

146

9193984 Shephalbury Park Primary

Community

Stevenage

30

30

154

9192353 Trotts Hill Primary and Nursery

Community

Stevenage

30

30

164

9192406 Woolenwick Infant

Community

Stevenage

60

60

161

9192405 Woolenwick JM

Community

Stevenage

60

60

70

9192111 Therfield First

Community

Therfield

11

11

324

9193041 Thundridge C of E Primary

Voluntary Controlled

Thundridge

15

15

263

9193008 Tonwell St Mary's C of E Primary

Voluntary Controlled

Tonwell

8

8

940

9192343 Dundale Primary & Nursery

Community

Tring

30

30

939

9192322 Goldfield Infants' and Nursery

Community

Tring

60

60

375

9192411 Longlands Primary School & Nursery

Community

Turnford

30

30

198

9192114 Walkern Primary

Community

Walkern

25

25

350

9192017 Four Swannes Primary

Community

Waltham Cross

30

30

358

9192016 Holdbrook Primary

Community

Waltham Cross

30

30

353

9192151 Hurst Drive Primary

Community

Waltham Cross

60

60

311

9192397 Kingshill Infant

Community

Ware

60

60

310

9192316 Priors Wood Primary

Community

Ware

30

30

307

9193043 St Catherine's (C of E) Primary

Voluntary Controlled

Ware

60

60

306

9193042 St Mary's (VC) C of E Junior

Voluntary Controlled

Ware

60

60

309

9192323 Tower Primary

Community

Ware

30

30

325

9193045 Wareside C of E Primary

Voluntary Controlled

Wareside

8

8

749

9192349 Holywell JMI

Community

Watford

90

60

730

9192123 Field JM

Community

Watford

60 (90)

60

742

9192354 Cassiobury Infant & Nursery

Community

Watford

90

90

741

9192132 Cassiobury JM

Community

Watford

90

90

725

9192116 Central Primary

Community

Watford

60

60

729

9192122 Chater Infant

Community

Watford

60

60

728

9192120 Chater Junior

Community

Watford

60

60

735

9192130 Knutsford Primary

Community

Watford

60

60

761

9192991 Nascot Wood Infant & Nursery

Community

Watford

60

60

756

9192389 Nascot Wood Junior

Community

Watford

60

60

738

9192126 Parkgate Infants & Nursery

Community

Watford

60

60

737

9192125 Parkgate Junior

Community

Watford

60

60

731

9192124 Watford Field Infant and Nursery

Community

Watford

60

60

270

9192139 Watton-at-Stone Primary and Nursery

Community

Watton at Stone

30

30

506

9192302 Oaklands Primary

Community

30

9192996 Commonswood

Community

60

60

531

9192240 Creswick JMI and Nursery

Community

60

60

532

9192237 Harwood Hill JMI & Nursery

Community

30

30

520

9192143 Holwell Primary

Community

60

60

535

9192283 Homerswood Primary

Community

Welwyn
Welwyn Garden
City
Welwyn Garden
City
Welwyn Garden
City
Welwyn Garden
City
Welwyn Garden
City

30

529

30

30

Agenda Pack Page 104
Page 6 of 7

Proposed PAN reduction

Welwyn Garden
City
Welwyn Garden
City
Welwyn Garden
City
Welwyn Garden
City
Welwyn Garden
City

540

9192356 Panshanger Primary

Community

523

9192140 Peartree Primary

Community

525

9192027 Swallow Dell Primary

Community

524

9192142 Templewood Primary

Community

543

9192446 Watchlytes

Community

71

9193047 Weston Primary

Voluntary Controlled

Weston

68

9192101 St Paul's Walden Primary

Community

326

9192145 Widford School

281

9193029 Wormley Primary

30

30

30

30

60

60

30

30

30

30

20

20

Whitwell

15

15

Community

Widford

8

8

Voluntary Controlled

Wormley

60

60

Agenda Pack Page 105
Page 7 of 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Admissions Consultation 2020-21 - Secondary Community and VC schools

No

DfE No

Primary /
Secondary

Determined
2019 PAN

Proposed
2020 PAN

Middle

112

112

Community

Secondary

196

196

Community

Secondary

240

240

School

Town/village

School type

225

Edwinstree C of E Middle

Buntingford

VC

106

Barclay (The)

Stevenage

112

Marriotts

Stevenage

Agenda Pack Page 107
Page 1 of 1

Comments

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix F

EQIA – Admission Arrangements for 2020/21
STEP 1: Responsibility and involvement
Title of proposal/
project/strategy/
procurement/policy

Names of those
involved in
completing the EqIA:
Date completed:

Hertfordshire
County
Council’s
Admission
Arrangements
for 2020/21
Jayne Abery

Head of Service or
Business Manager

Glenda Hardy

Lead officer
contact details:

15 August 2018

Review date:

Jayne Abery
Jayne.Abery@hertf
ordshire.gov.uk
30 September 2019

STEP 2: Objectives of proposal and scope of assessment – what do you want to
achieve?
Proposal objectives:
 what you want to achieve
 intended outcomes
purpose and need

Stakeholders:
Who will be affected:
the public, partners, staff,
service users, local Member
etc

Hertfordshire County Council must determine the admission
arrangements for 2020/21 for all community and voluntary
controlled schools in Hertfordshire by 28 February 2019.
It is proposed to :
 amend the definition of Rule 2 “exceptional social
and medical need” to include prioritisation of children
previously looked after from abroad nearest school”
in the arrangements for community and voluntary
controlled schools to ensure equity for these
children following the enactment of the Children and
Social Care Act 2017
 increase clarity in Hertfordshire County Council’s
schemes of coordination to ensure all late
applications are treated fairly and equitably in line
with the requirements of the School Admissions
Code
Schools within Hertfordshire
Schools outside Hertfordshire and neighbouring LAs
Diocese and faith representatives
Parents/carers
Children.

STEP 3: Available data and monitoring information
Relevant equality information

What the data tell us about equalities

For example: Community profiles / service
user demographics, data and monitoring
information (local and national), similar or
previous EqIAs, complaints, audits or
inspections, local knowledge and
consultations.
Template updated February 2014
Please email completed EqIAs to equalities@hertfordshire.gov.uk
Page 1 of 7

Agenda Pack Page 109

Appendix F

Application and allocation
information available in the
admissions databases and existing
HCC wide and school based
equality profiles. Information from
complaints & appeals, LGO/OSA
decisions and the annual report to
the OSA.
Equalities information cannot be
collected as part of the admissions
application process

Independent scrutiny of the County Council’s
admission arrangements by the LGO/OSA &
IAPs have not indicated a breach of Equalities
legislation.

STEP 4: Impact Assessment – Service Users, communities and partners (where
relevant)
Admission Arrangements
Protected
Potential for differential
characteristic
impact (positive or negative)
Age
It is not anticipated that the
proposals will affect people
because of the issue of age.
The child’s DOB is requested to
ascertain the correct year group
of admission. Parents can make
an application for their child to
be educated out of year group if
they believe this is appropriate
and each case is considered on
its own merit in line with DfE
guidance which has recently
been updated.
Disability
Including
Learning
Disability

Hertfordshire County Council’s
admission arrangements
include a rule 2 process
whereby any relevant
social/medical needs can be
raised and considered
Although the proposals will
amend the definition of Rule 2 to
specifically include children
previously looked after from
abroad, it is not anticipated that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of
their disability

What reasonable mitigations
can you propose?
The County Council previously
amended its policy regarding the
entry of summer born children to
Reception following guidance from
the DfE.
Full information on applications for
children out of year groups and
summer born children is available
on the website at
www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/admissio
ns

The Rule 2 process will continue to
be implemented
(Information on Rule 2 can be
accessed at
www.hertfordshire.gov.uk
A working group of school and
officers proposed good practice
guidance for schools when setting
their own nursery admission
arrangements which includes
guidance on equalities, including
for those with disabilities, to ensure
compliance with the Equality Act
2010.

Template updated February 2014
Please email completed EqIAs to equalities@hertfordshire.gov.uk
Page 2 of 7

Agenda Pack Page 110

Appendix F

Protected
characteristic

Potential for differential
impact (positive or negative)
Parents/carers can continue to
make a rule 2 application (social
or medical need) to attend a
specific community or voluntary
controlled school.
The specialist advisory services
working with children with
disabilities are advised of the
Rule 2 process to help families
make appropriate and timely
applications and help ensure
they can access an appropriate
school place.

Race

Gender
reassignment

There is a need to ensure that
that admission arrangements
can be accessed and
understood by those whose first
language is not English.

Applications made for children
to attend a specific school
because of gender
reassignment (pupil or family
member) can be considered
through the existing and Rule 2
(social/medical) process

What reasonable mitigations
can you propose?
Guidance will make clear that a
child’s disability cannot be taken
into account in the nursery
admission arrangements for any
community or voluntary controlled
school and that ”reasonable
adjustments” must be made.

Parents are able to access
admissions advice through
language line.
A translation service is offered to
parent whose first language is not
English who appeal for a school
place.
The Rule 2 process will continue to
be implemented

Although the proposals will
amend the definition of Rule 2 to
specifically include children
previously looked after from
abroad, it is not anticipated that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of
their gender.
Pregnancy and
maternity

Applications made for children
to attend a specific school
because of matters relating to
pregnancy or maternity matters
gender reassignment (pupil or
family member) can be

The Rule 2 process will continue to
be implemented.

Template updated February 2014
Please email completed EqIAs to equalities@hertfordshire.gov.uk
Page 3 of 7

Agenda Pack Page 111

Appendix F

Protected
characteristic

Potential for differential
impact (positive or negative)
considered through the existing
and Rule 2 (social/medical)
Process.

What reasonable mitigations
can you propose?

Although the proposals will
amend the definition of Rule 2 to
specifically include children
previously looked after from
abroad, it is not anticipated that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of
pregnancy or maternity issues.
Religion or
belief

Hertfordshire County Council is
not the admitting authority for
any schools that admit pupils on
the basis of religion or belief.
It would be against legislation to
take religion or belief into
account in the admission of a
non-faith school.
It is not anticipated at this stage
that the proposals will affect
people disproportionately
because of the issue of religion
or belief

Sex

Hertfordshire county council is
not the admitting authority for
any schools that admit pupils on
the basis of sex. The County
Council is no longer the
admission authority for any
singe sex schools
It is not anticipated at this stage
that the proposals will affect
people disproportionately
because of the issues relating to
sex.

Hertfordshire County Council’s
admission arrangements have
been designed to be legally
compliant with Equality Act 2010
The change to the definition will
encompass two C of E VA schools
in the definition of “nearest”.
Neither school prioritises
applications on the basis of
membership/practice of the
Christian faith rand therefore other
faith groups will not be
disadvantaged in the application
process
Hertfordshire County Council’s
existing admission arrangements
have been designed to be legally
compliant with Equality Act 2010
A working group of schools and
officers has issued good practice
guidance for schools when setting
their own nursery admission
arrangements which includes
guidance on equalities, including
sex, to ensure compliance with the
Equality Act 2010.
Guidance will make clear that a
child’s sex cannot be taken into
account in the nursery admission
arrangements for any community

Template updated February 2014
Please email completed EqIAs to equalities@hertfordshire.gov.uk
Page 4 of 7

Agenda Pack Page 112

Appendix F

Protected
characteristic

Potential for differential
impact (positive or negative)

Sexual
orientation

Applications made for children
to attend a specific school
because of sexual orientation
(pupil or family member) can be
considered through the existing
Rule 2 (social/medical) process

Marriage &
civil
partnership

Carers (by
association
with any of the
above)

What reasonable mitigations
can you propose?
or voluntary controlled school.
The Rule 2 process will continue to
be implemented.

Although the proposals will
amend the definition of Rule 2 to
specifically include children
previously looked after from
abroad, it is not anticipated that
that the proposals will affect
people disproportionately
because of sexual orientation.
Applications made for children
The Rule 2 process will continue to
to attend a specific school
be implemented.
because of sexual orientation
(pupil or family member) can be
considered through the existing
Rule 2 (social/medical) process
Although the proposals will
amend the definition of Rule 2 to
specifically include children
previously looked after from
abroad, it is not anticipated that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of
issues relating to marriage or
civil partnership.
Children looked after or
The Rule 2 process will continue to
previously looked after are given be implemented.
the highest priority for admission
to all schools in Hertfordshire
Carers of Children Looked After
(CLA) and previously CLA are
asked to make this clear on their
application form to ensure their
child can be prioritised for
admission.
It is not anticipated that the
proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of
issues relating to carers.
Template updated February 2014
Please email completed EqIAs to equalities@hertfordshire.gov.uk
Page 5 of 7

Agenda Pack Page 113

Appendix F

Protected
characteristic

Potential for differential
impact (positive or negative)

What reasonable mitigations
can you propose?

Opportunity to advance equality of opportunity and/or foster good relations
(Please refer to the guidance for more information on the public sector duties)
The School Admissions Code is Statutory Guidance issued by the Department for
Education and which the County Council is obliged to follow in setting its Admission
Arrangements.
The purpose of the School Admissions Code is to ensure that all school places for
maintained schools (excluding maintained special schools) and Academies are allocated
and offered in an open and fair way.
In drawing up their admission arrangements, admission authorities must ensure that the
practices and the criteria used to decide the allocation of school places are fair, clear
and objective. Parents should be able to look at a set of arrangements and understand
easily how places for that school will be allocated.

STEP 5: Gaps identified
Gaps identified
Do you need to collect
more data/information or
carry out consultation? (A
‘How to engage’
consultation guide is on
Compass). How will you
make sure your
consultation is accessible
to those affected?

Consultation is only required every 7 years if no changes to
admission arrangements have been made. The County Council
last consulted on its admission arrangements for 2018/19

STEP 6: Other impacts
Consider if your proposal has the potential (positive and negative) to impact on areas
such as health and wellbeing, crime and disorder and community relations. There is
more information in the guidance.
STEP 7: Conclusion of your analysis
Select one conclusion of your analysis
No equality impacts identified
 No change required to proposal.
X

Give details
No adverse impacts have been identified
in the proposals or the retention of the
County Council’s existing admission
arrangements.

Minimal equality impacts identified


Adverse impacts have been identified, but
have been objectively justified (provided
you do not unlawfully discriminate).
Template updated February 2014
Please email completed EqIAs to equalities@hertfordshire.gov.uk
Page 6 of 7

Agenda Pack Page 114

Appendix F

Select one conclusion of your analysis


Give details

Ensure decision makers consider the
cumulative effect of how a number of
decisions impact on equality.

Potential equality impacts identified




Take ‘mitigating action’ to remove barriers
or better advance equality.
Complete the action plan in the next
section.

Major equality impacts identified





Stop and remove the policy
The adverse effects are not justified,
cannot be mitigated or show unlawful
discrimination.
Ensure decision makers understand the
equality impact.

STEP 8: Action plan
Issue or opportunity
identified relating to:




Mitigation measures
Further research
Consultation proposal
Monitor and review

Officer
Responsible
and target
date

Action proposed


2020/21 admission
arrangements

The 2020/21consultation will include
an Equalities response form to feed
into proposals for 2021/22.

Jayne Abery
Autumn 2019

This EqIA has been reviewed and signed off by:
Head of Service or Business Manager:

Date:

Equality Action Group Chair:

Date:

HCC’s Diversity Board requires the Equality team to compile a central list of EqIAs so a
random sample can be quality assured. Each Equality Action Group is encouraged to
keep a forward plan of key service decisions that may require an EqIA, but please can
you ensure the Equality team is made aware of any EqIAs completed so we can add
them to our list. (email: equalities@hertfordshire.gov.uk).
Thank you.

Template updated February 2014
Please email completed EqIAs to equalities@hertfordshire.gov.uk
Page 7 of 7

Agenda Pack Page 115

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX G

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)
Proposal to reduce the Published Admission Number (PAN)
of Holywell Primary School by 30 places from
90 to 60 Reception places from September 2020
1.

Who is completing the EqIA and why is it being done?

Title of service / proposal / project / strategy /
procurement you are assessing

Proposal to reduce the Published Admission Number (PAN) of Holywell
Primary School (a community school), Tolpits Lane, Watford, WD18 6LL by 30
places from 90 to 60 Reception places from September 2020.

Names of those involved in completing the EqIA

Adrian Bentley, Phil Brunt

Head of Service or Business Manager

Pauline Davis

Agenda Pack Page 117

Team/Department
Lead officer contact details
Focus of EqIA – what are you assessing?

School Planning Team
Phil Brunt
Tel: 01992 588437 (Comnet/Internal 28437)
To identify the impact of the proposed reduction in PAN by 30 places from 90 to
60 Reception places of Holywell Primary School.
Holywell Primary School, currently a 3 f.e. school, has requested that its PAN
be reduced by 1 f.e. (30 places) from September 2020 to give greater certainty
over staffing and organisation. Although nominally having a 3 f.e. intake, it has
not been necessary for the school to run three classes in recent intakes. It is
anticipated that all families who apply for places will still be able to be
accommodated following the proposed reduction. Capacity across the south of
Watford is now more than adequate to meet demand, with 2-3 f.e. surplus
across the forecast period. The school is aware that should demand rise in the
future, it will be met by an increase in its PAN on a temporary or permanent
basis.

Page 1 of 34

Hertfordshire County Council intends to consult the following
groups/organisations/individuals in Hertfordshire:


Agenda Pack Page 118










Stakeholders

parents of children between the ages of two and eighteen (advert placed
in free papers; bulletins sent to schools to include in letters/e-mails home
to parents; posters provided for schools/nurseries/Citizens Advice
Bureaus/doctor & dentist surgeries/nurseries & day nurseries)
all maintained schools, academies and free schools
faith bodies (Roman Catholic diocese and Anglican diocese)
children’s centres
private, voluntary and independent childcare establishments (PVIs)
dental surgeries
doctors surgeries/medical centres
town, parish, borough & district councils
county councillors

Also:


admissions team at all surrounding local authorities

The consultation materials will also be available on the Hertfordshire County
Council website, www.hertfordshire.gov.uk

2.
List of data sources used for this EqIA (include relevant national/local data, research, monitoring information,
service user feedback, complaints, audits, consultations, EqIAs from other projects or other local authorities, etc.)
A range of useful local data on our communities can be found on Herts Insight and on the Equalities Hub
Title and brief description
Hertfordshire County Council intends to
carry out a 7-week public consultation from
19 November 2018 to 6 January 2019 on

Date

Gaps in data

19/11/2018 No gaps have been identified at this stage. Assess again at the end of the
to 6/01/2019 consultation.
Page 2 of 34

the above mentioned proposal as part of the
Admissions consultation for 2020/21.
At the conclusion of the consultation all
responses will be carefully considered and if
issues are raised regarding groups or
individuals with Protected Characteristics,
they will be considered as part of an
ongoing EqIA.

Agenda Pack Page 119

Spring 2018 school census data on gender
split, English as an additional language
(EAL), ethnicity, free school meal (FSM)
eligibility, number of children with SEN
Statements (S), Education and Health Care
Plans (E) or SEN Support (K).
Countywide data includes pupils at special
schools.

Spring 2018 School Census data
Students (Years R to 6)
Number Minority Ethnic Students (not
White British and excluding Refused
and Not Obtained)
% Minority Ethnic Students (not White
British and excluding Refused and Not
Obtained)
Number EAL (English as an alternative
Language) (First language Not English
or believed not to be English excluding
Refused and Not Obtained)
% EAL (English as an alternative
Language) (First language Not English
or believed not to be English)
Number with Statement (or EHCP (S
or E))
% with Statement (or EHCP (S or E))
Number SEN Provision (K)
% SEN Provision (K)
Number Eligible for FSM (at date of
Census)
% FSM (Free School Meals) (at date
of Census)
Number of Male Students
% of Male Students
Number of Female Students
% of Female Students

Page 3 of 34

Holywell Primary
School
474

Primary
Countywide
101019

384

31683

81.01%

31.36%

275

17053

58.02%

16.88%

4

2050

0.84%
58
12.24%

2.03%
12147
12.02%

55

8761

11.60%

8.67%

218
45.99%
256
54.01%

51668
51.15%
49351
48.85%

Summary of data in the table above:

Agenda Pack Page 120

3.

The percentage of Minority Ethnic Students at the school is considerably
greater than the countywide average for primary schools. The percentage
of students with EAL is also considerably more than the countywide
average. The percentage of students with a Statement or EHCP (S or E) is
less than half of the countywide average. The percentage of students with
SEN Provision (K) is slightly more than the countywide average. The
percentage of students eligible for FSM is greater than the countywide
average. The percentage of male students is less than the countywide
average and the percentage of female students is correspondingly more
than the countywide average.

Analysis and assessment: review of information, impact analysis and mitigating actions

Protected
characteristic
group

Age

Disability

Gender
reassignment

What do you know?
What do people tell you?

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

It is not currently anticipated that the
proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
age.
It is not currently anticipated that the
proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
disability.
It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
gender reassignment.
Page 4 of 34

What can you do?

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action

Protected
characteristic
group

What do you know?
What do people tell you?

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

What can you do?

Plan below will be amended accordingly.

Pregnancy and
maternity

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
pregnancy or maternity.

Religion or
belief

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
religion or belief.

Sex/Gender

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
sex/gender.

Sexual
orientation

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
sexual orientation.

Agenda Pack Page 121

Race

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
race.

Page 5 of 34

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.

Protected
characteristic
group

What do you know?
What do people tell you?

Marriage and
civil partnership

Agenda Pack Page 122

Carers

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
marriage or civil partnership.
It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
caring responsibilities.

What can you do?

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.

Other relevant
groups

Consider if there is
a potential impact
(positive or
negative) on areas
such as health and
wellbeing, crime
and disorder,
Armed Forces
community.

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people in other
relevant groups disproportionately.

Opportunity to advance equality of opportunity and/or foster good relations

Conclusion of your analysis and assessment Page 6 of 34

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of people in other
relevant groups are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.

SUMMARY

OUTCOME AND NEXT STEPS
i.
-

No equality impacts identified
No major change required to proposal

ii.
Minimal equality impacts identified
- Adverse impacts have been identified, but have been objectively
justified (provided you do not unlawfully discriminate)
- Ensure decision makers consider the cumulative effect of how a
number of decisions impact on equality
- No major change required to proposal

Agenda Pack Page 123

iii.
Potential equality impacts identified
- Take ‘mitigating action’ to change the original policy/proposal,
remove barriers or better advance equality
- Set out clear actions in the action plan in section 4.

YES

iv.
Major equality impacts identified
- The adverse effects are not justified, cannot be mitigated or show
unlawful discrimination
- You must stop and remove the policy
[you should consult with Legal Services]
- Ensure decision makers understand the equality impact

Page 7 of 34

4.

Prioritised Action Plan

Impact identified and group(s) affected Action planned

Agenda Pack Page 124

Stakeholders

Expected Measure
outcome
of
success

Lead
officer
and
timeframe

Explore ways of supporting parents, carers, governors and
staff through the change process.
Ensure the communication strategy recognises that some
groups may require information in a different format for
example if they have a disability or do not speak English as
a first language.
We are aware that the school may have its own
communication strategy.

This EqIA has been signed off by:
Lead Equality Impact Assessment officer:
Head of Service or Business Manager:
Review date:
11/01/2019

Pauline Davis

Page 8 of 34

Date:
Date: 23/08/2018

Phil Brunt
11/01/2019

APPENDIX H

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)
Proposal to reduce the Published Admission Number (PAN)
of Jenyns First School and Nursery by 6 places from
21 to 15 Reception places from September 2020
1.

Who is completing the EqIA and why is it being done?

Title of service / proposal / project / strategy /
procurement you are assessing

Proposal to reduce the Published Admission Number (PAN) of Jenyns First
School and Nursery (a community school), Uplands, Braughing, SG11 2QJ by
6 places from 21 to 15 Reception places from September 2020.

Agenda Pack Page 125

Names of those involved in completing the EqIA

Adrian Bentley, Christopher Martin

Head of Service or Business Manager

Pauline Davis

Team/Department

School Planning Team

Lead officer contact details
Focus of EqIA – what are you assessing?

Christopher Martin
Tel: 01992 556308 (Comnet/Internal 26308)
To identify the impact of the proposed reduction in PAN by 6 places from 21 to
15 Reception places of Jenyns First School.
Jenyns First School is a small village school, and the only school in its planning
area. The School currently has a PAN of 21 which is not compatible with infant
class-size legislation. The School has requested a PAN reduction in order to
reorganise classes and teachers to ensure financial stability. It is proposed to
reduce the school’s PAN from 21 to 15; pupil forecast data and GP birth
registration data suggest this would be sufficient to meet local need.

Page 9 of 34

Hertfordshire County Council intends to consult the following
groups/organisations/individuals in Hertfordshire:


Agenda Pack Page 126

Stakeholders

parents of children between the ages of two and eighteen (advert placed
in free papers; bulletins sent to schools to include in letters/e-mails home
to parents; posters provided for schools/nurseries/Citizens Advice
Bureaus/doctor & dentist surgeries/nurseries & day nurseries)
all maintained schools, academies and free schools
faith bodies (Roman Catholic diocese and Anglican diocese)
children’s centres
private, voluntary and independent childcare establishments (PVIs)
dental surgeries
doctors surgeries/medical centres
town, parish, borough & district councils
county councillors









Also:


admissions team at all surrounding local authorities

The consultation materials will also be available on the Hertfordshire County
Council website, www.hertfordshire.gov.uk

Page 10 of 34

2.
List of data sources used for this EqIA (include relevant national/local data, research, monitoring information,
service user feedback, complaints, audits, consultations, EqIAs from other projects or other local authorities, etc.)
A range of useful local data on our communities can be found on Herts Insight and on the Equalities Hub
Title and brief description

Gaps in data

19/11/2018 No gaps have been identified at this stage. Assess again at the end of the
to 6/01/2019 consultation.

Agenda Pack Page 127

Hertfordshire County Council intends to
carry out a 7-week public consultation from
19 November 2018 to 6 January 2019 on
the above mentioned proposal as part of the
Admissions consultation for 2020/21.

Date

At the conclusion of the consultation all
responses will be carefully considered and if
issues are raised regarding groups or
individuals with Protected Characteristics,
they will be considered as part of an
ongoing EqIA.

Page 11 of 34

Spring 2018 school census data on gender
split, English as an additional language
(EAL), ethnicity, free school meal (FSM)
eligibility, number of children with SEN
Statements (S), Education and Health Care
Plans (E) or SEN Support (K).
Countywide data includes pupils at special
schools.

Spring 2018 School Census data
Students (Years R to 4)
Number Minority Ethnic Students (not
White British and excluding Refused
and Not Obtained)
% Minority Ethnic Students (not White
British and excluding Refused and Not
Obtained)

Agenda Pack Page 128

Number EAL (English as an alternative
Language) (First language Not English
or believed not to be English excluding
Refused and Not Obtained)
% EAL (English as an alternative
Language) (First language Not English
or believed not to be English)
Number with Statement (or EHCP (S
or E))
% with Statement (or EHCP (S or E))
Number SEN Provision (K)
% SEN Provision (K)
Number Eligible for FSM (at date of
Census)
% FSM (Free School Meals) (at date
of Census)
Number of Male Students
% of Male Students
Number of Female Students
% of Female Students

Jenyns First
School
80

Primary
Countywide
101019

5

31683

6.25%

31.36%

2

17053

2.50%

16.88%

0

2050

0.00%
11
13.75%

2.03%
12147
12.02%

1

8761

1.25%

8.67%

50
62.50%
30
37.50%

51668
51.15%
49351
48.85%

Summary of data in the table above:
The percentage of Minority Ethnic Students and the percentage of students
with EAL at the school are both considerably less than the countywide
average for primary schools. There are no students at the school with a
Statement or EHCP (S or E). The percentage of students with SEN
Page 12 of 34

Provision (K) is greater than the countywide average. The percentage of
students eligible for FSM is significantly less than the countywide average.
The percentage of male students is greater than the countywide average
and the percentage of female students is correspondingly less than the
countywide average.

3.

Analysis and assessment: review of information, impact analysis and mitigating actions

Protected
characteristic
group

Agenda Pack Page 129

Age

Disability

Gender
reassignment

What do you know?
What do people tell you?

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

It is not currently anticipated that the
proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
age.
It is not currently anticipated that the
proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
disability.
It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
gender reassignment.

Page 13 of 34

What can you do?

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.

Protected
characteristic
group

What do you know?
What do people tell you?

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

Race

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
race.

Religion or
belief

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
religion or belief.

Sex/Gender

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
sex/gender.

Sexual
orientation

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
sexual orientation.

Agenda Pack Page 130

Pregnancy and
maternity

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
pregnancy or maternity.

Page 14 of 34

What can you do?

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.

Protected
characteristic
group

What do you know?
What do people tell you?

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

Carers

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
caring responsibilities.

Agenda Pack Page 131

Marriage and
civil partnership

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
marriage or civil partnership.

What can you do?

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.

Other relevant
groups

Consider if there is
a potential impact
(positive or
negative) on areas
such as health and
wellbeing, crime
and disorder,
Armed Forces
community.

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people in other
relevant groups disproportionately.

Opportunity to advance equality of opportunity and/or foster good relations

Page 15 of 34

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of people in other
relevant groups are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.

Conclusion of your analysis and assessment SUMMARY

OUTCOME AND NEXT STEPS
v.
No equality impacts identified
- No major change required to proposal

Agenda Pack Page 132

vi.
Minimal equality impacts identified
- Adverse impacts have been identified, but have been objectively
justified (provided you do not unlawfully discriminate)
- Ensure decision makers consider the cumulative effect of how a
number of decisions impact on equality
- No major change required to proposal
vii.
Potential equality impacts identified
- Take ‘mitigating action’ to change the original policy/proposal,
remove barriers or better advance equality
- Set out clear actions in the action plan in section 4.

YES

viii.
Major equality impacts identified
- The adverse effects are not justified, cannot be mitigated or show
unlawful discrimination
- You must stop and remove the policy
[you should consult with Legal Services]
- Ensure decision makers understand the equality impact

Page 16 of 34

4.

Prioritised Action Plan

Impact identified and group(s) affected Action planned

Expected Measure
Lead
outcome
of
officer and
success timeframe

Explore ways of supporting parents, carers, governors and
staff through the change process.

Stakeholders

Ensure the communication strategy recognises that some
groups may require information in a different format for
example if they have a disability or do not speak English as
a first language.

Agenda Pack Page 133

We are aware that the school may have its own
communication strategy.

This EqIA has been signed off by:
Lead Equality Impact Assessment officer:
Head of Service or Business Manager:
Review date:
11/01/2019

Pauline Davis

Page 17 of 34

Date:
Date: 23/08/2018

Christopher
Martin
11/01/2019

APPENDIX I

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)
Proposal to reduce the Published Admission Number (PAN)
of Margaret Wix Primary School by 30 places from
60 to 30 Reception places from September 2020

Agenda Pack Page 134

1.

Who is completing the EqIA and why is it being done?

Title of service / proposal / project / strategy /
procurement you are assessing

Proposal to reduce the Published Admission Number (PAN) of Margaret Wix
Primary School (a community school), High Oaks, St Albans, AL3 6EL by 30
places from 60 to 30 Reception places from September 2020.

Names of those involved in completing the EqIA

Adrian Bentley, Michael Dunnage

Head of Service or Business Manager

Pauline Davis

Team/Department

School Planning Team

Lead officer contact details
Focus of EqIA – what are you assessing?

Michael Dunnage
Tel: 01992 555621 (Comnet/Internal 25621)
To identify the impact of the proposed reduction in PAN by 30 places from 60 to
30 Reception places of Margaret Wix Primary School.
There is a particular concentration of surplus capacity in the north-west of St
Albans, where it is forecast there will be more than 1.6 f.e. of spare places each
year. It is therefore proposed that the PAN at Margaret Wix Primary School be
reduced by 1 f.e. (30 places) to manage the amount of surplus in the area and
give the school better certainty around staffing and organisation.
In recent years all families who have applied for places at Margaret Wix Primary
School have been able to obtain places, and it is anticipated that this will
remain the case after the proposed PAN reduction. Reducing the PAN at
Margaret Wix Primary School would still leave sufficient places available in the
locality, and the same number of places available across the city following the
enlargement of St Peters School. However, places would be better located to
meet demand within St Albans.
Page 18 of 34

Hertfordshire County Council intends to consult the following
groups/organisations/individuals in Hertfordshire:


Stakeholders

Agenda Pack Page 135

parents of children between the ages of two and eighteen (advert placed
in free papers; bulletins sent to schools to include in letters/e-mails home
to parents; posters provided for schools/nurseries/Citizens Advice
Bureaus/doctor & dentist surgeries/nurseries & day nurseries)
all maintained schools, academies and free schools
faith bodies (Roman Catholic diocese and Anglican diocese)
children’s centres
private, voluntary and independent childcare establishments (PVIs)
dental surgeries
doctors surgeries/medical centres
town, parish, borough & district councils
county councillors









Also:


admissions team at all surrounding local authorities

The consultation materials will also be available on the Hertfordshire County
Council website, www.hertfordshire.gov.uk

Page 19 of 34

2.
List of data sources used for this EqIA (include relevant national/local data, research, monitoring information,
service user feedback, complaints, audits, consultations, EqIAs from other projects or other local authorities, etc.)
A range of useful local data on our communities can be found on Herts Insight and on the Equalities Hub
Title and brief description

Agenda Pack Page 136

Hertfordshire County Council intends to
carry out a 7-week public consultation from
19 November 2018 to 6 January 2019 on
the above mentioned proposal as part of the
Admissions consultation for 2020/21.

Date

Gaps in data

19/11/2018 No gaps have been identified at this stage. Assess again at the end of the
to 6/01/2019 consultation.

At the conclusion of the consultation all
responses will be carefully considered and if
issues are raised regarding groups or
individuals with Protected Characteristics,
they will be considered as part of an
ongoing EqIA.

Page 20 of 34

Spring 2018 school census data on gender
split, English as an additional language
(EAL), ethnicity, free school meal (FSM)
eligibility, number of children with SEN
Statements (S), Education and Health Care
Plans (E) or SEN Support (K).
Countywide data includes pupils at special
schools.

Spring 2018 School Census data
Students (Years R to 6)
Number Minority Ethnic Students (not
White British and excluding Refused
and Not Obtained)
% Minority Ethnic Students (not White
British and excluding Refused and Not
Obtained)

Margaret Wix
Primary School
203

Primary
Countywide
101019

102

31683

50.25%

31.36%

46

17053

22.66%

16.88%

5

2050

2.46%
29
14.29%

2.03%
12147
12.02%

36

8761

17.73%

8.67%

85
41.87%
118
58.13%

51668
51.15%
49351
48.85%

Number EAL (English as an alternative
Language) (First language Not English
or believed not to be English excluding
Refused and Not Obtained)

Agenda Pack Page 137

% EAL (English as an alternative
Language) (First language Not English
or believed not to be English)
Number with Statement (or EHCP (S
or E))
% with Statement (or EHCP (S or E))
Number SEN Provision (K)
% SEN Provision (K)
Number Eligible for FSM (at date of
Census)
% FSM (Free School Meals) (at date
of Census)
Number of Male Students
% of Male Students
Number of Female Students
% of Female Students

Summary of data in the table above:
The percentage of Minority Ethnic Students at the school is significantly
higher than the countywide average for primary schools. The percentage of
students with EAL is also greater than the countywide average. The
percentage of students with a Statement or EHCP (S or E) is slightly higher
Page 21 of 34

than the countywide average. The percentage of students with SEN
Provision (K) is also higher than the countywide average. The percentage
of students eligible for FSM is significantly higher than the countywide
average. The percentage of male students is significantly lower than the
countywide average and the percentage of female students is
correspondingly higher than the countywide average.

Agenda Pack Page 138

3.

Analysis and assessment: review of information, impact analysis and mitigating actions

Protected
characteristic
group

Age

Disability

Gender
reassignment

What do you know?
What do people tell you?

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

It is not currently anticipated that the
proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
age.
It is not currently anticipated that the
proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
disability.
It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
gender reassignment.

Page 22 of 34

What can you do?

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.

Protected
characteristic
group

What do you know?
What do people tell you?

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

Race

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
race.

Religion or
belief

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
religion or belief.

Sex/Gender

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
sex/gender.

Sexual
orientation

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
sexual orientation.

Agenda Pack Page 139

Pregnancy and
maternity

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
pregnancy or maternity.

Page 23 of 34

What can you do?

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.

Protected
characteristic
group

What do you know?
What do people tell you?

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

Carers

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
caring responsibilities.

Agenda Pack Page 140

Marriage and
civil partnership

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
marriage or civil partnership.

What can you do?

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.

Other relevant
groups

Consider if there is
a potential impact
(positive or
negative) on areas
such as health and
wellbeing, crime
and disorder,
Armed Forces
community.

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people in other
relevant groups disproportionately.

Opportunity to advance equality of opportunity and/or foster good relations

Page 24 of 34

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of people in other
relevant groups are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.

Conclusion of your analysis and assessment SUMMARY

OUTCOME AND NEXT STEPS
ix.
No equality impacts identified
- No major change required to proposal

Agenda Pack Page 141

x.
Minimal equality impacts identified
- Adverse impacts have been identified, but have been objectively
justified (provided you do not unlawfully discriminate)
- Ensure decision makers consider the cumulative effect of how a
number of decisions impact on equality
- No major change required to proposal
xi.
Potential equality impacts identified
- Take ‘mitigating action’ to change the original policy/proposal,
remove barriers or better advance equality
- Set out clear actions in the action plan in section 4.

YES

xii.
Major equality impacts identified
- The adverse effects are not justified, cannot be mitigated or show
unlawful discrimination
- You must stop and remove the policy
[you should consult with Legal Services]
- Ensure decision makers understand the equality impact

Page 25 of 34

4.

Prioritised Action Plan

Impact identified and group(s) affected Action planned

Expected Measure
outcome
of
success

Lead
officer
and
timeframe

Explore ways of supporting parents, carers, governors and
staff through the change process.

Agenda Pack Page 142

Stakeholders

Ensure the communication strategy recognises that some
groups may require information in a different format for
example if they have a disability or do not speak English as
a first language.
We are aware that the school may have its own
communication strategy.

This EqIA has been signed off by:
Lead Equality Impact Assessment officer:
Head of Service or Business Manager:
Review date:
11/01/2019

Pauline Davis

26

Date:
Date: 23/08/2018

Michael
Dunnage
11/01/2019

APPENDIX J

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)
Proposal to reduce the Published Admission Number (PAN)
of Shepherd Primary School by 30 places from
60 to 30 Reception places from September 2020
1.

Who is completing the EqIA and why is it being done?

Agenda Pack Page 143

Title of service / proposal / project / strategy /
procurement you are assessing

Proposal to reduce the Published Admission Number (PAN) of Shepherd
Primary School (a community school), Shepherds Lane, Mill End, WD3 8JJ by
30 places from 60 to 30 Reception places from September 2020.

Names of those involved in completing the EqIA

Adrian Bentley, Phil Brunt

Head of Service or Business Manager

Pauline Davis

Team/Department

School Planning Team

Lead officer contact details
Focus of EqIA – what are you assessing?

Phil Brunt
Tel: 01992 588437 (Comnet/Internal 28437)
To identify the impact of the proposed reduction in PAN by 30 places from 60 to
30 Reception places of Shepherd Primary School.
The Rickmansworth area currently has surplus places in the majority of year
groups, with smaller cohorts expected in future years. There is also forecast
surplus capacity in neighbouring primary planning areas Croxley Green and
Chorleywood. Shepherd Primary School is requesting that its PAN be reduced
by 1 f.e. (30 places) from September 2020 to support efficient organisation and
use of resource.

27

Hertfordshire County Council intends to consult the following
groups/organisations/individuals in Hertfordshire:


Agenda Pack Page 144

Stakeholders










parents of children between the ages of two and eighteen (advert placed
in free papers; bulletins sent to schools to include in letters/e-mails home
to parents; posters provided for schools/nurseries/Citizens Advice
Bureaus/doctor & dentist surgeries/nurseries & day nurseries)
all maintained schools, academies and free schools
faith bodies (Roman Catholic diocese and Anglican diocese)
children’s centres
private, voluntary and independent childcare establishments (PVIs)
dental surgeries
doctors surgeries/medical centres
town, parish, borough & district councils
county councillors

Also:


admissions team at all surrounding local authorities

The consultation materials will also be available on the Hertfordshire County
Council website, www.hertfordshire.gov.uk

28

2.
List of data sources used for this EqIA (include relevant national/local data, research, monitoring information,
service user feedback, complaints, audits, consultations, EqIAs from other projects or other local authorities, etc.)
A range of useful local data on our communities can be found on Herts Insight and on the Equalities Hub
Title and brief description
Hertfordshire County Council intends to
carry out a 7-week public consultation from
19 November 2018 to 6 January 2019 on
the above mentioned proposal as part of the
Admissions consultation for 2020/21.

Date

Gaps in data

19/11/2018 No gaps have been identified at this stage. Assess again at the end of the
to 6/01/2019 consultation.

Agenda Pack Page 145

At the conclusion of the consultation all
responses will be carefully considered and if
issues are raised regarding groups or
individuals with Protected Characteristics,
they will be considered as part of an
ongoing EqIA.

29

Spring 2018 school census data on gender
split, English as an additional language
(EAL), ethnicity, free school meal (FSM)
eligibility, number of children with SEN
Statements (S), Education and Health Care
Plans (E) or SEN Support (K).
Countywide data includes pupils at special
schools.

Spring 2018 School Census data

Agenda Pack Page 146

Shepherd
Primary School

Primary
Countywide

271

101019

75

31683

27.68%

31.36%

46

17053

16.97%

16.88%

2

2050

0.74%
35
12.92%

2.03%
12147
12.02%

36

8761

13.28%

8.67%

154
56.83%
117
43.17%

51668
51.15%
49351
48.85%

Students (Years R to 6)
Number Minority Ethnic Students (not
White British and excluding Refused
and Not Obtained)
% Minority Ethnic Students (not White
British and excluding Refused and Not
Obtained)
Number EAL (English as an alternative
Language) (First language Not English
or believed not to be English excluding
Refused and Not Obtained)
% EAL (English as an alternative
Language) (First language Not English
or believed not to be English)
Number with Statement (or EHCP (S
or E))
% with Statement (or EHCP (S or E))
Number SEN Provision (K)
% SEN Provision (K)
Number Eligible for FSM (at date of
Census)
% FSM (Free School Meals) (at date
of Census)
Number of Male Students
% of Male Students
Number of Female Students
% of Female Students

Summary of data in the table above:
The percentage of Minority Ethnic Students at the school is less than the
countywide average for primary schools. The percentage of students with
EAL is very slightly more than the countywide average. The percentage of
students with a Statement or EHCP (S or E) is less than half of the
countywide average. The percentage of students with SEN Provision (K) is
30

slightly more than the countywide average. The percentage of students
eligible for FSM is significantly more than the countywide average. The
percentage of male students is significantly greater than the countywide
average and the percentage of female students is correspondingly less than
the countywide average.

3.

Analysis and assessment: review of information, impact analysis and mitigating actions

Protected
characteristic
group

Agenda Pack Page 147

Age

Disability

What do you know?
What do people tell you?

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

It is not currently anticipated that the
proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
age.
It is not currently anticipated that the
proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
disability.

Gender
reassignment

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
gender reassignment.

Pregnancy and
maternity

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
pregnancy or maternity.
31

What can you do?

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.

Protected
characteristic
group

Race

What do you know?
What do people tell you?

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

Agenda Pack Page 148

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
race.

Religion or
belief

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
religion or belief.

Sex/Gender

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
sex/gender.

Sexual
orientation

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
sexual orientation.

Marriage and
civil partnership

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
marriage or civil partnership.

Carers

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people
disproportionately because of their
caring responsibilities.
32

What can you do?

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.
No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of the protected
characteristic are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.

Protected
characteristic
group

What do you know?
What do people tell you?

What does this mean – what are the
potential impacts of the
proposal(s)?

What can you do?

Other relevant
groups

Agenda Pack Page 149

Consider if there is
a potential impact
(positive or
negative) on areas
such as health and
wellbeing, crime
and disorder,
Armed Forces
community.

It is not anticipated at this stage that
the proposals will affect people in other
relevant groups disproportionately.

No mitigation is currently required but the
position will continue to be monitored and if
any issues in respect of people in other
relevant groups are identified then the Action
Plan below will be amended accordingly.

Opportunity to advance equality of opportunity and/or foster good relations

Conclusion of your analysis and assessment SUMMARY

OUTCOME AND NEXT STEPS
xiii.
No equality impacts identified
- No major change required to proposal
xiv.
Minimal equality impacts identified
- Adverse impacts have been identified, but have been objectively
justified (provided you do not unlawfully discriminate)
- Ensure decision makers consider the cumulative effect of how a
number of decisions impact on equality
- No major change required to proposal

33

xv.
Potential equality impacts identified
- Take ‘mitigating action’ to change the original policy/proposal,
remove barriers or better advance equality
- Set out clear actions in the action plan in section 4.

YES

Agenda Pack Page 150

xvi.
Major equality impacts identified
- The adverse effects are not justified, cannot be mitigated or show
unlawful discrimination
- You must stop and remove the policy
[you should consult with Legal Services]
- Ensure decision makers understand the equality impact

4.

Prioritised Action Plan

Impact identified and group(s) affected Action planned

Expected Measure
outcome
of
success

Lead
officer
and
timeframe

Explore ways of supporting parents, carers, governors and
staff through the change process.

Stakeholders

Ensure the communication strategy recognises that some
groups may require information in a different format for
example if they have a disability or do not speak English as
a first language.
We are aware that the school may have its own
communication strategy.

This EqIA has been signed off by:
Lead Equality Impact Assessment officer:
Head of Service or Business Manager:
Review date:
11/01/2019

Pauline Davis
34

Date:
Date: 23/08/2018

Phil Brunt
11/01/2019

Agenda Item No.

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

7

EDUCATION, LIBRARIES AND LOCALISM CABINET PANEL
THURSDAY, 18 OCTOBER 2018 AT 10:00AM
HERTFORDSHIRE SKILLS STRATEGY TO 2020
Report of the Director of Resources
Author:

Kate Brierley, Senior Policy Officer, Corporate Policy (Tel:
01992 588321)

Executive Member: Terry Douris, Education, Libraries and Localism
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

To provide a short information report about the Hertfordshire Skills
Strategy.

2.

Summary

2.1

The current version of the Hertfordshire Skills Strategy was
endorsed by Resources, Property and the Economy Cabinet Panel in
December 2017.

2.2

The original Skills Strategy was published in 2015 and progress has
been reported biannually to Resources, Property and the Economy
Cabinet Panel.

2.3

Implementation of the strategy is driven and monitored by a
partnership group including: Hertfordshire County Council (HCC),
Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and Department of
Work and Pensions (DWP).

2.4

From September 2018 oversight of the Skills Strategy is with the
Education, Libraries and Localism Cabinet Panel. The first monitoring
report of the refreshed strategy will be presented to this Cabinet Panel
in December 2018.

2.5

Significant progress has been made implementing the Skills Strategy
and the Skills and Labour Market review of 2016 reported favourably
on a number of areas that the Skills Strategy had strived to address. A
2018 review is now underway with results due in the autumn.

3.

Recommendation/s

3.1

For Cabinet Panel to note this information report.

Agenda Pack Page 151

1

4.

Background

4.1

The aim of the strategy is to increase and develop Hertfordshire’s
workforce to ensure the county can continue to support a strong
economy within which businesses can thrive, whilst enabling all
residents to maximise their own individual potential and share in
Hertfordshire’s prosperity.

4.2

The Hertfordshire Skills Strategy is available on Hertfordshire.gov.uk
and the LEP website: https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/medialibrary/documents/about-the-council/partnerships/hertfordshireskills-strategy-to-2020.pdf

4.3

The concept of a Hertfordshire Skills Strategy was first proposed at the
Hertfordshire Forward Conference in February 2014. A Skills and
Labour Market review in 2014 of Hertfordshire businesses showed that
nearly half of employers identified skills gaps in their existing workforce
and many considered that skills gaps are an important factor affecting
their competitiveness and business performance.

4.4

The first Hertfordshire Skills Summit ‘Releasing our potential’ co-hosted
by the Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and
Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) was held in September 2014.
Individuals attending the summit were invited to discuss the findings of
the Hertfordshire businesses’ skills gap survey and pledge an action
they could implement.

4.5

From the Skills Summit the appetite for a county wide, partnership
approach to address the skills challenges for Hertfordshire was
identified and supported. Hertfordshire County Council, Hertfordshire
LEP and Department of Work and Pensions worked together to
develop and publish the first Hertfordshire Skills Strategy launched in
March 2015.

4.6

The round table discussions from the Skills Summit provided the five
themes for the strategy:
 Developing our future workforce - supporting young people aged
16 -24 years in the transition from education to employment
 Towards fuller employment - supporting vulnerable adults into
employment, increasing the available workforce and enabling
priority groups to fulfil their potential
 Enhancing opportunities through lifelong learning, adopting a
culture of lifelong learning to benefit individuals as well as local
businesses
 A leading economy – skills to drive growth. Working with
businesses and training providers to improve the skills of both
the existing workforce and the future labour market in order to
sustain economic growth.

Agenda Pack Page 152

2



Skills to grow small and medium size businesses (SMEs),
providing targeted support to SMEs and their workforce in order
to facilitate growth.

4.7

Each theme has been explored, analysed and documented in the
strategy including the current situation, our goals and twenty actions to
be completed over a two year period. The action plan details the
organisation that will lead on the implementation together with the
funding source.

4.8

The Skills Strategy was refreshed in 2017 and a second Hertfordshire
Skills Summit was held to ensure all stakeholders in the skills agenda
were involved in the development of the strategy. Incorporating the
influences, views and needs of employers, training providers, schools
and colleges and public sector organisations remains vital.

4.9

Partner organisations across Hertfordshire have been, and continue to
be, encouraged to refer to this strategy and reflect it in their individual
planning, knowing that they will be working towards the same strategic
outcomes.

4.10

Monitoring the progress of the strategy is carried out by the working
group that developed the document and have reported to the County
Council’s former Resources, Property and the Economy Cabinet Panel
and the LEP Skills and Employment Programme Board twice a year.

4.11

From September 2018, oversight of the Skills Strategy is with the
Education, Libraries and Localism Cabinet Panel. The first monitoring
report of the refreshed strategy will be presented to this Panel in
December 2018. Monitoring reports will continue to be reported to
Hertfordshire LEP Skills and Employment Programme Board
biannually.

5.

Equality Implications

5.1

When considering proposals placed before Members it is important
that they are fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously considered
the equalities implications of the decision that they are taking.

5.2

Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any
potential impact of that decision on the County Council’s statutory
obligations under the Public Sector Equality Duty. As a minimum this
requires decision makers to read and carefully consider the content of
any Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by officers.

5.3

The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council when exercising its
functions to have due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination
harassment, victimisation and other conduct prohibited under the Act;
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it and

Agenda Pack Page 153

3

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. The
protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age;
disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership;
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion and belief, sex and sexual
orientation.
5.4

An Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) has been carried out and
updated where necessary on the proposal contained within this report.
The EqIA is attached as Appendix A, to ensure that members are fully
aware of any equality issues arising from the proposals. The EqIA will
be reviewed and updated as part of any future public consultation.
Consideration has been given to the likely impact of the proposal, and
current assessments conclude that it is not anticipated that people with
protected characteristics will be affected disproportionately.

6.

Financial implications

6.1

The strategy includes twenty actions to be progressed over a two year
period together with details of the funding sources for each action.
Implementing the actions should be feasible within our existing
budgets, but is dependent on Government maintaining the current
levels of funding for adult education; we continue to source additional
funding.

6.2

The delivery of actions supporting young people aged 16 to 24 years is
within existing budgets or within externally funded or traded services
e.g. the Careers & Enterprise programme.

Background Information
None

Agenda Pack Page 154

4

APPENDIX A

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)
Guidance is available on the Intranet. Completion of an EqIA should be proportional and
relevant to the anticipated impact of the project on equalities. The form can be tailored
to your project and should be completed before decisions are made. Key EqIAs should
be reviewed by the Business Manager or Head of Service and sent to the Equality and
Diversity team to publish. For support and advice please contact
equalities@hertfordshire.gov.uk.
STEP 1: Responsibility and involvement
Title of proposal/
project/strategy/
procurement/policy
Names of those
involved in
completing the EqIA:

Hertfordshire
Skills Strategy
to 2020
Katherine
Brierley
Comnet 28321

Head of Service or
Business Manager

Alex James

Lead officer
contact details:

Date completed:

September
2018

Review date:

Lindsay Edwards
Lindsay.Edwards@
hertfordshire.gov.uk
Comnet 25734
December 2018

STEP 2: Objectives of proposal and scope of assessment – what do you want to
achieve?
Proposal objectives:
 what you want to achieve
 intended outcomes
purpose and need

The aim of the strategy is to increase and develop
Hertfordshire’s workforce to ensure we can support a strong
economy within which businesses can thrive, whilst
enabling all residents of Hertfordshire to fulfil their own
individual potential and share in Hertfordshire’s prosperity.
This assessment will ensure the strategy does not
discriminate against protected groups.

Stakeholders:
Who will be affected:
the public, partners, staff,
service users, local Member
etc













The public
Businesses/employers
Hertfordshire County Council
Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership
Education & Skills Funding Agency (ESFA)
DWP Jobcentre Plus
Voluntary and Community sector
University of Hertfordshire
Further Education
Training Providers
Schools

STEP 3: Available data and monitoring information
Relevant equality information

What the data tell us about equalities

For example: Community profiles / service user
demographics, data and monitoring information
(local and national), similar or previous EqIAs,
complaints, audits or inspections, local
knowledge and consultations.
Template updated February 2014
Please email completed EqIAs to equalities@hertfordshire.gov.uk
Page 1 of 6

Agenda Pack Page 155

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)
At mid-2017 the Office for National
Statistics estimated the working age
population (males and females aged 1664) of Hertfordshire as 740,300, this
represented 62.7% of the total
population; 365,600 males and 374,800
females, representing 63.2% of males
and 62.2% of females.
81.5% of Hertfordshire’s working age
population is economically active of
which 3% are unemployed. 18.5% of
working age population is economically
inactive.
Employment rate gap for some
protected characteristics from July
2016 to June 2017
Reduction
Female
4.8%
from 6.4%
Disabled
Reduction
20.6%
People
from 21.7%
Ethnic
Reduction
2.8%
Minorities
from 7.1%
Young People
Reduction
18.1%
(16 to 24yrs.)
from 21.8%
Older
Increase
Workers
3.4%
from 2.6%
(50 to 64yrs.)
In 2011, the proportion of the total
population that were in a minority ethnic
group (i.e. not White-British) was
19.18%.
Hertfordshire is largely affluent;
however, the Index of Multiple
Deprivation 2015 showed that 169 of
690 (24.5%) of Lower Layer Super
Output Areas are more deprived that the
England average.

There are more females than males in the
working age population.
Over 80%of the working age population are
economically active.
18.5% of working age population is
economically inactive, including those with:
poor health, a disability, ex- offenders,
caring responsibilities, families with multiple
problems, care leavers and being homeless.
Whilst it is difficult to categorise a whole
group as being vulnerable, as individual
circumstances will vary, it is acknowledged
that the barriers to employment for certain
groups tend to be more complex.
Department of Work and Pensions is a key
stakeholder in the development and
implementation of the Skills Strategy. The
organisation is committed to ensuring equality
of access to its services for all its customers.
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisation
s/department-for-workpensions/about/equality-and-diversity

Employment rate gap is the difference
between the employment rate for the whole
population and that for those with protected
characteristics. Job seekers in the 50+ age
category are continuing to find it more
difficult to find employment than those in the
younger age groups.

Of the 30 Middle Layer Super Output
Areas in Hertfordshire that have a
minority ethnic population of 20% or
more, 18 are found in or close to
Watford. Minority ethnic group in this
case refers to those other that White
British.
In 2017/18 3.08% of young people aged
16-18 were not in education,
Template updated February 2014
Please email completed EqIAs to equalities@hertfordshire.gov.uk
Page 2 of 6

Agenda Pack Page 156

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)
employment or training (NEET).
The number of carers comes from the
2011 Census. There were 108,615
people providing unpaid care, this was
9.7% of the resident population.
There are 40,800 working age residents
with no qualifications. In one of our
districts, over 9% of the working age
population has no formal qualifications,
a figure which is above the average for
England.
STEP 4: Impact Assessment – Service Users, communities and partners (where
relevant)
Protected
characteristic
Age

Disability
Including Learning
Disability

Potential for differential
impact (positive or negative)
Positive for the 50+ age
category, as a percentage of
the total unemployed
Jobseekers register, is
increasing.
Positive as there is a 20.6%
employment rate gap those
with a disability.

Race

Positive as the strategy aims
to support all those seeking to
move into the labour market.

Gender
reassignment

Positive as the strategy aims
to support all those seeking to
move into the labour market.

Pregnancy and
maternity

Positive as the strategy aims
to support all those seeking to
move into the labour market.

What reasonable mitigations
can you propose?
Implementation of the strategy
will support 50+ Jobseekers as a
priority to compete in the
modern labour market.
It is acknowledged that the
barriers to employment for
certain groups tend to be more
complex and the implementation
of this strategy seeks to address
this.
DWP Jobcentre plus is a key
stakeholder in the
implementation of the strategy.
The organisation is committed to
ensuring equality of access to its
services for all its customers.
DWP Jobcentre plus is a key
stakeholder in the implementation
of the strategy. The organisation
is committed to ensuring equality
of access to its services for all its
customers.
DWP Jobcentre plus and HCC are
key stakeholders in the
implementation of the strategy.
DWP is committed to ensuring
equality of access to its services
for all its customers.
HCC is committed to achieving

Template updated February 2014
Please email completed EqIAs to equalities@hertfordshire.gov.uk
Page 3 of 6

Agenda Pack Page 157

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)
Protected
characteristic

Potential for differential
What reasonable mitigations
impact (positive or negative) can you propose?
diversity and equality of
opportunity both as a large
employer of people and as a
provider of services. In practice
this means both working to
ensure that Hertfordshire is free
from discrimination, but also
doing what we can to positively
promote equality and diversity
across the delivery of services
and within our workforce.
Religion or belief
Positive as the strategy aims
to support all those seeking to
move into the labour market.
Sex
Positive there is a 4.8%
The strategy aims to encourage
employment rate gap for
greater participation of
females. The strategy aims to economically inactive individuals
support all those seeking to
into the labour market.
move into the labour market.
Sexual orientation Neutral. The strategy aims to
support all those seeking to
move into the labour market.
Marriage & civil
Neutral. The strategy aims to
partnership
support all those seeking to
move into the labour market.
Carers (by
Positive. Carers have been
The strategy aims to encourage
association with
identified as a group that may greater participation of
any of the above)
want to move into the labour
economically inactive individuals
market but need support to do into the labour market including
so.
those with caring
responsibilities.
Opportunity to advance equality of opportunity and/or foster good relations
The implementation of this strategy will aid those looking to join the labour market
however complex the barriers, both perceived or not, into employment.
STEP 4a: Impact Assessment – Staff (where relevant) N/A
Protected
characteristic
Age
Disability
Including
Learning
Disability
Race

Potential for differential impact
(positive or negative)

What reasonable mitigation
can you propose?

Template updated February 2014
Please email completed EqIAs to equalities@hertfordshire.gov.uk
Page 4 of 6

Agenda Pack Page 158

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)
Protected
Potential for differential impact
characteristic (positive or negative)
Gender
reassignment
Pregnancy
and maternity

What reasonable mitigation
can you propose?

Religion or
belief
Sex
Sexual
orientation
Marriage &
civil
partnership
Carers (by
association
with any of
the above)
Opportunity to advance equality of opportunity and/or foster good relations

STEP 5: Gaps identified
Gaps identified

Information for the development of the original (first) strategy
came from the Hertfordshire Businesses’ Skills Gap Survey
(HBSGS) 2014 by the University of Hertfordshire also from the
2014 Skills Summit, an event organised and hosted by the
Local Enterprise Partnership and HCC. A second Skills Summit
was held in October 2017 attended by over 80 people
representing Hertfordshire employers and key stakeholders.
Individuals attending the summit were invited to offer their
views. Incorporating the influences, views and needs of
employers, training providers, schools, colleges and public
sector organisations remains vital and this was an opportunity
to be involved in the development of the refreshed strategy.

Do you need to collect
more data/information or
carry out consultation? (A
‘How to engage’
consultation guide is on
Compass). How will you
make sure your
consultation is accessible
to those affected?

STEP 6: Other impacts
Consider if your proposal has the potential (positive and negative) to impact on areas
such as health and wellbeing, crime and disorder and community relations. There is
more information in the guidance.
STEP 7: Conclusion of your analysis
Select one conclusion of your analysis
No equality impacts identified


Give details

No change required to proposal.
Template updated February 2014
Please email completed EqIAs to equalities@hertfordshire.gov.uk
Page 5 of 6

Agenda Pack Page 159

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)
Select one conclusion of your analysis
Minimal equality impacts identified



Adverse impacts have been identified, but
have been objectively justified (provided
you do not unlawfully discriminate).
Ensure decision makers consider the
cumulative effect of how a number of
decisions impact on equality.

Give details
The strategy aims to encourage greater
participation of economically inactive
individuals into the labour market who
feel they need support. This strategy aims
to address the inequalities associated
with worklessness.

Potential equality impacts identified




Take ‘mitigating action’ to remove barriers
or better advance equality.
Complete the action plan in the next
section.

Major equality impacts identified





Stop and remove the policy
The adverse effects are not justified,
cannot be mitigated or show unlawful
discrimination.
Ensure decision makers understand the
equality impact.

STEP 8: Action plan
Issue or opportunity
identified relating to:




Mitigation measures
Further research
Consultation proposal
Monitor and review

Officer
Responsible
and target
date

Action proposed


Monitor the strategy regularly
during its life.
Review and refresh the
strategy.

Ensure the strategy does not
discriminate against the protected
groups.
Ensure the strategy does not
discriminate against the protected
groups.

Katherine
Brierley.
Every six
months.
Katherine
Brierley.
2020

This EqIA has been reviewed and signed off by:
Head of Service or Business Manager:

Date:

HCC’s Diversity Board has asked the Equality team to compile a central list of EqIAs so
a random sample can be quality assured. Please email a copy of this EqIA to the
Equality team at equalities@hertfordshire.gov.uk
Thank you.
Template updated February 2014
Please email completed EqIAs to equalities@hertfordshire.gov.uk
Page 6 of 6

Agenda Pack Page 160

Agenda Item
No.

HERTFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
EDUCATION, LIBRARIES AND LOCALISM CABINET PANEL
THURSDAY, 18 OCTOBER 2018 AT 10:00AM

8

HERTFORDSHIRE ARMED FORCES COVENANT – UPDATE REPORT
Report of the Director of Resources
Author:

Sukhvinder Rai, Policy Officer, Corporate Policy Team
01992 588479

Lead Officer:

Alex James, Head of Corporate Policy
01992 558259

Executive Member: Terry Douris, Education, Libraries and Localism
1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

To provide the Education, Libraries and Localism Cabinet Panel with an
update on the progress with the Hertfordshire’s Armed Forces Covenant
since the last report to Panel in September 2017.

2.

Summary

2.1

The Armed Forces Covenant is a promise by the nation ensuring that
those who serve or who have served in the armed forces, and their
families, are treated fairly. Hertfordshire launched one of the first
covenants in the Country in July 2012.

2.2

The aims of the Covenant are:
 to ensure that veterans and those in the Armed Forces are not
disadvantaged in accessing services;
 that the sacrifices made by members of the Armed Forces
Community are recognised and remembered; and
 to encourage the integration of service life into civilian life.

2.3

The Armed Forces Covenant (AFC) Board is responsible for delivering
the aims of the Covenant and meets bi-annually. Membership of the
AFC Board comprises of representatives from the:
 Armed Forces Tri-Services;
 the Commanding Officer of the Northwood Headquarters;
 representatives of 254 Medical Regiment;
 Families Federations of the Army, Navy and Air Force;
 Soldiers, Sailors, Airmen and Families Association (SSAFA);
 Royal British Legion (RBL);
 Veterans Advisory Pensions Committee (VAPC);

Agenda Pack Page 161

1




Hertfordshire County Council and all of the County’s District and
Borough councils; and
Third sector bodies.

3.

Recommendation

3.1

The Panel is invited to note the contents of this update report.

4.

Background

4.1

Hertfordshire is not a garrisoned county but is home to the UK’s
Permanent Joint Headquarters (HQ) in Northwood, the 254 Medical
Regiment at the Reserves Base in Hitchin and a sub-division of the
Royal Anglian Regiment at the Hertford Reserves Unit. The
Commanding Officers of the Hitchin Reserve Base and the Northwood
Joint HQ both sit on the Covenant Board.

4.2

Northwood has some 2,000 active personnel often on 2-3 year postings
from the UK and overseas with approximately 500 civil servants working
there too. Other regular forces may be resident in the county but
currently posted elsewhere.

4.3

Estimated number of veterans living in Hertfordshire is approximately
39,000 based on the 2015 Defence Statistics Annual Survey. There are
currently 226 children of military families attending Hertfordshire schools.

5.

Progress Update

5.1

The Covenant Board’s work is structured under three themes:




Fair Access to Services
Community Engagement
Celebrating and Honouring

5.2

This report outlines key progress made on each of these thematic
headings since September 2017.

6.

Fair Access to services

6.1

The AFC Board has been looking into the difficulties that some former
Armed Forces personnel have been experiencing when seeking access
to information and advice. Following on from last year’s face to face
training to housing and customer service advisors of county and district/
borough councils, an Armed Forces Covenant E-module learning tool
has been devised. The module is designed to heighten awareness of the
Covenant principles and the type of support available to veterans, armed
forces personnel and their families when settling into civilian life. It is
available on the Hertfordshire Heroes website and accessible to any
organisation.

Agenda Pack Page 162

2

6.2

In partnership with the Royal British Legion (RBL), the AFC Board
completed an engagement exercise with schools, inviting them to share
examples of good practice in relation to the use of the Service Pupil
Premium (SPP). The following are some examples of how the SPP is
utilised:
6.2.1 A Forces Club, providing a positive impact on the transition experience,
ensuring service children are happy in school and ready to learn,
6.2.2 An effective Transition Policy outlining how the school can support
military families and their children. A designated space allocated for
specialist intervention groups,
6.2.3 Positive relationships with the Northwood Joint Headquarters and
parents to ensure that school initiatives are current and effective.
6.4

The work has been commended by the RBL and subsequently a
recommendation has been made to cite some of the examples in future
RBL guidance for schools publications.

6.5

Officers are carrying out a review of initiatives that were developed to
specifically target GPs and medical professionals to raise awareness of
the needs of veterans. In the past, with Public Health and NHS Trust
colleagues, we have produced and distributed resources such as
mousemats and leaflets which set out advice for GPs as well as veterans
themselves on how to get the medical support they may require. The aim
of the review is to determine if the measures have been effective and to
identify any gaps.

6.6

In partnership with Carers in Herts a new web page has been created on
the Hertfordshire Heroes website. The page provides specialist
information about support services available to service families providing
a caring role; recognising the unique aspects of service life.

7.

Community Engagement

7.1

The Covenant Board has been honouring and supporting troops serving
abroad, by running an annual Schools Christmas Competition. This was
run for the fifth year in 2017. The competition allows pupils from
Hertfordshire primary schools to produce pictures on a certain theme.
The best of which, last year were sent to aircrew in the Middle East. The
theme was the RAF centenary and the 2017 competition was sponsored
by RAF Henlow. The winning school, Wheatcroft Primary hosted a
special assembly where RAF Henlow representatives presented prizes
in the form of a school trip to the Base and STEM workshops. 2016
entries were judged by officers on board HMS St. Albans. Previously,
pictures were sent to troops in Sierra Leone (2015) and Afghanistan
(2014). The winning picture is attached to Appendix A to this report.

7.2

For the fourth year running, the Covenant Board exhibited the
achievements of the Armed Forces Covenant partnership at the
Hertfordshire County Show. The show welcomed over 33,000 visitors
proving an ideal platform to raise awareness of the partnership’s

Agenda Pack Page 163

3

commitment to the armed forces. The exhibition was hosted at a stand
within the Military Tent.
7.3

The Ministry of Defence (MOD) as part of their Employer Recognition
Scheme held an Engagement Breakfast event at Knebworth House. The
County Council provided support to the event organisers and introduced
the Hertfordshire LEP. This is the second of such events to take place in
Hertfordshire. Hertfordshire based businesses were briefed on how to
recognise transferrable skills of former service personnel and also the
benefits of employing reservists. Hertfordshire LEP was recognised for
its support to the armed forces community and was presented with the
Bronze award. The County Council currently holds a silver award; Gold
is the highest recognition in the scheme.

8.

Celebrating and Honouring

8.1

The Covenant Board has a role to play in overseeing the laying of
commemorative paving stones marking the centenary of World War One.
Information relating to this has been shared across the county
coordinating the relevant partners. The paving stone for Victoria Cross
(VC) recipient Major George Pearkes was unveiled in Watford High
Street on 30 October 2017. Plans are underway to commemorate
Second Lieutenant Frank Edward Young in Hitchin. This will be the
seventh and final VC stone unveiling event for Hertfordshire.

8.2

The Chairman of Hertfordshire County Council raised the Armed Forces
Flag over County Hall on Monday 2 July 2018 to mark national Armed
Forces Day. District and Borough councils held similar events across the
county. An Armed Forces Covenant communications toolkit was
distributed to all partners, helping to keep the message about our joint
commitment to the Covenant consistent and to maximise exposure by
using relevant social media tags.

8.3

The County Council proactively demonstrated its support to Reserves
Day in June by posting a case study of a reservist employee through
internal communications and also tweeted messages externally about
the County Council’s commitment to the armed forces.

8.4

Hertfordshire County Council is participating in the national Battle’s Over
– A Nation’s Tribute beacon lighting event on 11 November 2018,
marking the end of the First World War. This will be a community event
organised jointly with East Herts Council and Hertford Town Council. The
Beacon will be lit at Hertford Castle, this being the most accessible
location for the local community.

9.

Next steps

9.1

To continue to meet the aims of the Armed Forces Covenant, the
following projects are in progress.

Agenda Pack Page 164

4

9.2

The Covenant Board continues to apply the core infrastructure toolkit
recommended in the LGA’s report: Our Community, Our Covenant. The
toolkit enables a self-assessment to measure the AFC Board’s
effectiveness and to determine continuing priorities. The County Council
is a member of the LGA focus group helping to develop a new national
online Covenant toolkit. The toolkit will assist local authorities to deliver
the Covenant principles.

9.3

The Board will focus on communicating the Covenant as part of its work
under the community engagement and celebrating and honouring
themes. The organisations that form the Covenant partnership will
continue to celebrate and honour our Armed Forces individually and
collectively through commemorative and annual events such as: Armed
Forces Day in June 2018, Reserves Day, Remembrance Day and World
War One and Two commemorations.

9.4

The Schools Christmas competition for 2018 has been launched. The
theme this year is the commemoration of the centenary of the end of the
First World War. The competition entries will be judged by the Joint
Strategic Military Headquarters at Northwood.

9.5

The County Council has scoped a possible application for a Gold award
to the Defence Employer Recognition Scheme. In order to meet the Gold
standard, the council will be required to review some of its HR Leave
policies; a submission is therefore planned for 2019 to allow necessary
time to consult with trade unions on any joint agreements.

9.6

The Hertfordshire Heroes website acts as a dedicated central resource
for partners and service users and will continue to be updated with key
information.

9.7

The Covenant Board will continue to support future bids to the Covenant
Fund.

10.

Equalities

10.1

When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that
they are fully aware of, and have themselves rigorously considered the
equalities implications of the decision that they are taking.

10.2

Rigorous consideration will ensure proper appreciation of any potential
impact of that decision on the County Council's statutory obligations
under the Public Sector Equality Duty. As a minimum this requires
decision makers to read and carefully consider the content of any
Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by officers.

10.3

The Equality Act 2010 requires the County Council, when exercising its
functions, to have due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination,
harassment, victimisation and other conduct prohibited under the Act; (b)
advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant

Agenda Pack Page 165

5

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it and (c) foster
good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it. The protected
characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age; disability; gender
reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity;
race; religion and belief; sex and sexual orientation.
10.4

An EqIA has not been completed in relation to this report. The principles
of the Armed Forces Covenant are fundamentally based on equality. Fair
access to services and promoting integration is key to meeting the
objectives of the Covenant, seeking always to ensure that members of
the Armed Forces, past and present, are not disadvantaged in accessing
services.

10.5

Officers are undertaking local research to establish the geographic
distribution of veterans in Hertfordshire. This work is part of a review of
the Equalities and Diversity impact assessment on this group; seeking to
ensure former serving forces personnel and their families are not
disadvantaged. There is currently difficulty in identifying the location of
ex-service personnel in Hertfordshire as there is no single place to find
out about veterans. Officers expect the results from the research will
enable a more targeted approach to recognising any barriers facing this
group and help inform future equalities related action plans.
Background Information
None

Agenda Pack Page 166

6

APPENDIX A
2017 CHRISTMAS ART COMPETITION - WINNING ENTRY

Agenda Pack Page 167

7

This page is intentionally left blank

